SALES TRADED GOODS IN-HOUSE PRODUCTION 2017

520,344
In-house production
34.7%

Traded goods
65.3%

IN TONNES

Pulp
39.7%

1,310,909

487,025

Publication papers
37.1%

2,468,306

303,541

Packaging & board
23.2%

2017

2016

2015

2014

2013

PRODUCTION AND SALES VOLUME
Total production

Tonnes

1,313,009

1,370,213

921,271

1,010,356

965,759

Tonnes

519,986

527,886

353,440

399,348

533,123

Tonnes
Tonnes
Tonnes

793,023
3,779,215
1,310,909

842,327
4,085,827
1,357,474

567,830
3,324,768
924,071

611,009
3,247,039
997,269

432,637
2,813,314
963,250

Tonnes

2,468,306

2,728,353

2,400,697

2,249,770

1,850,064

Sales revenues

EUR m

1,816.5

1,763.3

1,480.4

1,406.5

1,329.1

EBITDA

EUR m

126.0

134.1

144.3

117.9

108.3

%

6.9

7.6

9.7

8.4

8.1

%

2.7

2.5

2.9

2.4

2.0

thereof pulp
thereof paper
Total sales volume
thereof in-house production
thereof traded goods

IFRS

INCOME STATEMENT

EBITDA margin
thereof trading
thereof industry
EBIT
EBIT margin
thereof trading
thereof industry

%

14.4

16.1

24.7

16.3

11.3

EUR m

73.6

78.6

94.2

67.4

69.2

%

4.1

4.5

6.4

4.8

5.2

%

2.1

2.0

2.3

2.1

1.7

%

7.3

8.5

15.7

7.3

3.8

Financial result

EUR m

–4.0

–5.0

–12.8

–5.0

–8.0

Earnings before tax (EBT)

EUR m

69.6

73.6

81.4

62.0

61.2

Net income

EUR m

55.0

57.6

61.6

52.5

57.0

Balance sheet total

EUR m

1,208.5

1,134.5

1,084.8

1,063.3

1,060.0

Equity

EUR m

588.1

553.1

518.4

472.4

440.8

%

48.7

48.7

47.8

44.4

41.6

BALANCE SHEET

Equity ratio
Net debt

EUR m

82.4

59.0

83.7

100.6

149.3

Gearing ratio

%

14.0

10.7

16.1

21.3

33.9

ROACE

%

9.1

10.1

11.4

10.1

12.0

Cash flow from operating activities

EUR m

108.4

95.3

130.2

98.0

75.4

Cash flow from investments

EUR m

–120.0

–23.6

–91.4

–48.3

–101.2

Free cash flow

EUR m

–11.6

71.3

38.4

49.7

–25.8

Employees (year-end)

Number

2,373

2,441

2,194

2,102

2,079

Employees (average)

Number

2,409

2,406

2,135

2,105

1,904

CASH FLOW AND INVESTMENTS

SALES REVENUES

IN EUR M

1,816.5

HEINZEL GROUP’S SUCCESSFUL GROWTH
IS BASED ON MEETING THE HIGHEST
CUSTOMER DEMANDS WITH REGARD
TO QUALITY AND EFFICIENCY.

1,763.3

1,480.4
1,406.5
1,329.1

1,093.1
1,016.2

649.1
534.9

2009

2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

REVENUES 2017

EBITDA 2017

3.8M

TONNES

Sales volume

2,409
Employees

3 trading units

Pulp, paper, board and recovered paper trading

4 industrial sites
Pulp and paper production

107 M

EUR

Investments 2017

111

Markets

1.3M

TONNES

Heinzel Group, which is united under the Heinzel
Holding umbrella, is one of the biggest producers of
market pulp and packaging papers in Central and
Eastern Europe with its industrial locations Zellstoff
Pöls, Laakirchen Papier (both Austria), Raubling
Papier (Germany) and Estonian Cell (Estonia). Magazine paper rounds off the group’s range.

Its trade area includes Wilfried Heinzel AG, a globally
active pulp, paper and board trading company,
and Europapier International AG, the leading paper
wholesale company in Central and Eastern Europe.
In addition, Bunzl & Biach GmbH is the largest and
most important recycled paper company in Austria
and a top wholesaler in Central and Eastern Europe.

2

HEINZEL GROUP

CONTENTS

04
10
12
14
20

News 2017
The latest from
the subsidiaries

Our cover photo shows
the PM10 in Laakirchen,
converted in 2017.

20

On the spot worldwide
The locations at a glance

An overview of the Heinzel
Group
Facts and figures

Trade business sector

26

“We are investing and have
clear growth targets.”
Interview with the board
members
A year of surprises on the
markets
Trade business sector

Industry business sector

26
30
65
72
142

Strong investments for
strong growth
Industry business sector

Group Management Report

Consolidated Financial
Statements

Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Auditor‘s Report

145
146
148
150

Supervisory Board Report

Board members

Group structure

Company history

3

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 · EDITORIAL

DEAR READERS,
While I am writing my introductory note for the
2017 Annual Report in December, the converted PM10 in Laakirchen has just produced the
volumes of prime-quality testliner and fluting
that we had lost due to a late start of a couple
of days in October. This is a great pleasure for
our management, the PM10 team and all of
our suppliers, especially the Andritz AG. The
simultaneous expansion of the PM11 for additional calender capacity will gradually raise the
two-machine location in Laakirchen to 800,000
tonnes per year, as soon as the environmental
permits have been received.
As a result, we have set the course for a successful future in Laakirchen. By reaching this mile
stone at the end of 2017 we were also able to give
the final go-ahead for the PM3 in Pöls, where the
construction site setup has already begun.
Both new facilities, the PM10 in Laakirchen and
the PM3 in Pöls, are designed to produce lightweight packaging paper, specifically MG paper
and containerboard, in order to meet the future
market demands.
We are also investing in other Heinzel Group
locations: Efficiency investments have been

made in Estonian Cell and in Raubling. Both
companies developed positively in 2017 and
have made a significant profit contribution to the
group.
Trade continues to be one of the pillars of our
strategic focus. We have developed new prod
ucts and opened new markets and continue to
do so. Visual communication, away-from-home hygiene and packaging solutions are new
additions to the Europapier program. In 2017
heinzelsales and Europapier were refined according to the market demands. The change of
generation was a success, all signs are pointing
to growth. In terms of paper recycling Bunzl &
Biach is concentrating on collecting, sorting and
trading more than one million tonnes of recycled
paper in the future, not least due to an increas
ing in-house demand.
I congratulate all our employees and want to
thank them for making possible the announced transformations towards more packaging
papers without
any losses to
our traditional
graphic paper
business.

I wish you, our partners and our employees,
success and fun with our further development
in 2018.

Alfred Heinzel
Chairman of the Supervisory Board
Heinzel Holding GmbH
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2017
heinzelsales reaches new records in EBITDA and
gains in 2017.
In Laakirchen the PM10 is converted to produce
containerboard in only three months’ time.
Estonian Cell produces its one millionth bale of pulp
in early September since the start of production and
reaches a new record in sales revenues in 2017.
The plant in Raubling sets a new record amount
with a production volume of 217,500 tonnes of
containerboard in 2017.
For Zellstoff Pöls the decision is made in December 2017 to build a new paper machine, the PM3.
Europapier manages to take an important step
towards the packaging solutions sector with an
acquisition in February 2018.

WEALTH OF EXPERIENCE
New CFO for Heinzel Holding
Barbara Potisk-Eibensteiner succeeded Riia Sillave
as CFO of Heinzel Holding on 1 September 2017.
Born in Styria, the academically trained business
administrator had previously been part of the
management board of the Austrian stock market
listed company RHI and thus brings a large wealth
of experience to Heinzel Group, which
purposefully filled this key
position externally due to
its increase in size.
At the beginning of her
career path PotiskEibensteiner worked as
an investment banker at
the Creditanstalt before
moving on to work
as group treasurer at BöhlerUddeholm for
twelve years
and finally
switching
to RHI in
2007.

WELL-EQUIPPED
Bunzl & Biach modernizes sorting plant

From 2018 on the paper mill in Laakirchen will be
needing almost twice as much recycled paper since
launching its production of packaging paper. Bunzl
& Biach used this opportunity in 2017 to upgrade its
existing sorting plant on site in Linz with the latest
technology. The main step was the installation
of an additional sorting plant with near-infrared
spectroscopy and color detection. This led to
an increase in sorting capacity on site of up
to more than 30,000 annual tonnes – double
the previous amount.
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NEWLY ROOFED
Renovation of hall roof in Raubling

LAAKIRCHEN’S WELT

Since the end of 2017 a completely new hall
roof is protecting the PM5 in Raubling from
the elements. This has not only secured future
production, but also greatly improved the working
conditions for the employees. Apart from adding
a number of light domes, which fill the hall with
daylight, the whole supply and exhaust ventilation
was renewed.

Thomas Welt is the new CEO

The successful roof renovation was particularly
challenging because the old structure had to be
dismantled and the new roof erected during active
operation.

After more than one and a half years of being
in charge of production of the PM10 and PM11,
Thomas Welt succeeds Mark Lunabba as CEO of
Laakirchen Papier on 1 January 2018. Thomas
Welt previously demonstrated his managerial
abilities as project manager of the conversion of the PM10.

EXEMPLARY
CSR award for Estonian Cell
In 2017 Estonian Cell made the headlines again
with another award: The company received the Silver Level Certificate from the CSR Forum Estonia
in the frame of the Responsible Business Index for
its CSR measures. The jury especially pointed out
that Estonian Cell was an important role model for
other companies because it permanently embedded its CSR activities in the core business.

His broad expertise is not only based
on his specialist training at the Munich
University of Applied Sciences, the
Institute of Paper Science and Technology in Atlanta as well as at the St. Galler
Business School, but also on his
many career phases in the
paper industry. For example, he
worked in positions of responsibility at Procter & Gamble, at
the paper producer Palm and
at Voith Paper.
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LIVIL

Resistant street art

VISION & VIDEO
Motivation day at Estonian Cell
In November 2017 the team of Estonian Cell gathered together to discuss and internalize the company values and embed them into everyday working
life in the course of a so-called “vision day”. The
event served as an essential foundation for the
scheduled investment projects of 2018 and 2019
and for the further development of the company.
The day ended on an entertaining note with an
internal video award competition. Eight videos were
up for nomination which had been made by staff
teams since August 2017, in which they visualized
their most important business values of choice.

In contrast to digital media, paper has the bonus
of offering various haptic qualities and features.
When the famous street artist Olivier Hölzl, alias
LIVIL, was invited to participate in the renowned
street art festival in Mumbai, India, in November
2017, he began looking for a paper that could not
only withstand the high humidity of the area, but
also meet his high standards as an artist. In the
end, LIVIL chose pretex®, the waterproof special
paper distributed by Europapier, which he painted
black and backlit for his paper installation.

EDUCATIONAL JUSTICE
Sebastian Heinzel as “Teacher for Austria”
Heinzel Group has supported the
education initiative Teach for Austria as
a founding and gold partner not only in
financial terms, but also through personal
commitment. In that function, advisory
board member Sebastian Heinzel paid
a visit to two classes of the secondary school Adolf-Loos-Gasse in
Vienna’s Floridsdorf district
in February 2017. With
examples from his everyday
working life at heinzelsales
he was able to teach the
children new vocabulary and
share with them the major
importance of English skills
for their lives.
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FUTURE

Go-ahead for young talents in Pöls
With a new trainee initiative, Zellstoff Pöls is now
offering young people even more incentives to join
the team. In 2017 a number of attractive benefits
were added to the vocational training in the company, which has also been externally awarded several

times: Apart from a specially installed shuttle
service for the young people, who tend to not
have their driver’s license yet, numerous activity
days, active knowledge exchange with Laakirchen
Papier and one free lunch per week, there are also
rewards for outstanding performance.

HOLIDAY FUN

Record attendance at Laakirchen children’s
camp
In August 2017 the popular summer campaign
“holiday at work” took place for the 16th time for
the children of Laakirchen Papier’s employees.
This year marked a new record in attendance with
a total of 27 girls and boys of primary school age.
Even though it was not possible to tour the
premises due to the large size of the construction
site, the traditional highlight of the varied weekly
program did take place once again: the fishing trip
to the lake in Anzental, from which each child was
allowed to take one fish back home.
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AWARDS OF
EXCELLENCE

The elaborate cocoon awarded
to all of the winners symbolizes
development.

In early April 2018 management and a large number of Heinzel Group employees gathered
again at the Albertina in Vienna to take part in the Award of Excellence ceremony. As always,
the selection of award winners of the nominees was kept top secret until the ceremony.

WE CONGR AT UL AT E T HIS Y E A R’S WINNERS!
COMPANY

NOMINEE

PROJECT

Zellstoff Pöls

Christian Schnedl

Avoiding blockage of the lime kiln cooler

Zellstoff Pöls

Gerhard Gruber

Reducing shutdown time for scheduled boiler stoppages

Raubling Papier

Oliver Csirits

Transfer of expertise for containerboard production across
locations

Laakirchen Papier

Stefan Winkelbauer

Increasing production of the PM11 with continued use of
the PM10 calender

Estonian Cell

Artur Lootsmann

Increase of plant availability

Estonian Cell

Ilgar Kadõmov

Leadership of the project “Operational Excellence”

heinzelsales

Peter Nassey

Exemplary coaching and mentoring, record result of 2017

Europapier

Adrian Ungureanu

Cultural change and turnaround in Europapier Romania

Europapier

Václav Votruba

Integration and development of the hygiene business sector
Winners
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TRANSFER ACHIEVEMENT

SECOND-HAND-EXPERTS

MENTOR

Oliver Csirits, quality & technology manager at Raubling
Papier, received one of the 2017 Awards of Excellence
for his exemplary transfer of expertise across locations.
Already during the preparation phase for the conversion
of the PM10 in Laakirchen he had substantially contrib
uted to the success of this large project with his extensive
know-how. Oliver Csirits was a particularly cooperative
contact person for his team in Laakirchen not only during
the preparation and training, but also regarding technical issues, and he trained the new technical customer
service in all practical matters. Additionally, he helped
his colleagues
in Laakirchen on site during the
activation of
the PM10.

One of the three Awards of Excellence of 2017 went to
Stefan Winkelbauer, production manager, from Laakirchen
Papier and his team. They were awarded for their
project to increase production of the PM11 by 33,000
annual tonnes through continued use of the 25-year-old
calender of the PM10. While this measure required an investment of five million euros, a new calender would have
cost more than ten times as much. One of the biggest
challenges of the project, apart from the activation of the
twelve-roller supercalender, was the increase of operating speed from 1,360 to 1,600 meters per minute. The
calender has been
in service since August 2017
and has been
supplying the desired
capacity.

Peter Nassey, area sales manager for the Middle East
at heinzelsales, received an Award of Excellence for his
exemplary coaching and mentoring of young colleagues
and for his department achieving a record result in 2017.
He has regularly acted as a mentor for new employees
and willingly shared his well-founded market expertise
from 27 years of working at heinzelsales. His extraordinary commitment, collegiality and loyalty have left a
significant mark on the successes of the company. In this
way he also greatly contributed to the excellent result for
his department in 2017, one year before his retirement.

Winner Oliver Csirits

Winner Stefan Winkelbauer

Winner Peter Nassey
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WILFRIED HEINZEL AG

EUROPAPIER INTERNATIONAL AG

BUNZL&BIACH GMBH

Vienna/AT, 25 branches worldwide

Vienna/AT, subsidiaries in 13 countries

Vienna/AT, Linz/AT, subsidiaries in the CZ,
SK and DE

ACTIVITIES

Global pulp and paper trading

Paper wholesaling

Waste paper and packaging collection
and trading

PRODUCTS

Pulp, paper, board

Office paper, printing paper, packaging paper, board
and advertising technology, hygiene product

Waste paper logistics, document shredding,
waste disposal

Paper producers, processors, printers, publishers, wholesalers, packaging companies

Printers, packaging merchants, office paper retailers,
business and industry

Business and industry

MAIN MARKETS

Global – 103 countries worldwide

Russia, Poland, Austria, Hungary,
Czech Republic, Slovenia

Austria, Eastern Europe

SALES REVENUES
2017

EUR 667.0 million

EUR 541.6 million

EUR 145.8 million

EMPLOYEES 2017
(AVERAGE)

114

1,014

176

LOCATION

CUSTOMERS

SALES VOLUMES /
PRODUCTION VOLUME 2017

2,362,778 t

Sales volumes

587,756 t

Sales volumes

The Heinzel Group companies possess
all the standard environmental and
production certificates.

940,437 t

Sales volumes
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ZELLSTOFF PÖLS AG

LAAKIRCHEN PAPIER AG

AS ESTONIAN CELL

RAUBLING PAPIER GMBH

Pöls/AT

Laakirchen/AT

Kunda/EE

Raubling/DE

Pulp and paper production

Paper production

Pulp production

Paper production

Bleached kraft pulp, bleached kraft
paper

Super calendered gravure and offset
uncoated paper, containerboard

Bleached aspen BCTMP pulp

Kraft top liner, test liner, fluting

Paper producers, bag and packaging
industry

Publishers, printers, retail chains,
packaging industry

Paper industry

Corrugated containerboard producers

Italy, Austria, Slovenia, Germany,
France, Mediterranean region

Germany, Italy, Austria, Central and
Eastern Europe

Asia, Germany, France, Italy

Germany, Italy, Austria

EUR 260.8 million

EUR 211.7 million

EUR 71.1 million

EUR 96.5 million

409

461

86

143

434,562 t

Production volume

489,194 t

Production volume

171,708 t

Production volume

217,545 t

Production volume
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“WE ARE INVESTING AND HAVE
CLEAR GROWTH TARGETS.”
All signs are pointing to growth at
Heinzel Group. In 2017, the group
was well on track – both in terms
of its ongoing business and its
investment projects. The
favorable conditions
played a part in
this situation
but the most
important stimulus came from
making the
right strategic
decisions.

MR. MAIER, WHAT IS YOUR GENERAL VIEW OF THE
FISCAL YEAR 2017? DID EVERYTHING GO ACCORDING TO PLAN?
Kurt Maier: It went even better than we had
imagined because the market development was surprisingly good. We
had calculated with considerably lower prices for pulp and
containerboard but the prices
for wastepaper rose higher
than we had anticipated.
Our investment projects
for the two machines
in Laakirchen – the
conversion of
the PM10 for
containerboard
production

and the capacity expansion of the PM11, which
produces SC paper – caused a significant production decrease at this location in 2017.
In Pöls, we also were not able to meet the
amount of pulp that we had produced in 2016
because of a prolonged standstill in connection with the capacity expansion. However, the
positive market price situation, together with the
favorable development of the prices for wood
and energy, led to a very satisfying result.
In any case, this is what the past year showed very
clearly: The decision to make the conversion of the
PM10 in Laakirchen to produce containerboard
was the right one and was made at the right time.
Now we have emerged into a market phase that
could hardly have been any better. But a year ago
the circumstances had looked completely different. This shows once again that success cannot

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 · INTERVIEW WITH THE BOARD MEMBERS

always be planned. Though to stay on one’s toes
and have the heart to make the right strategic
decisions is definitely an essential prerequisite.
WHAT WERE THE MOST IMPORTANT FACTORS THAT YOU
WERE FACED WITH IN 2017?
Kurt Maier: Aside from the general economic
growth it was the surprising development in China,
which particularly influenced the wastepaper and
pulp sectors. We had originally worried that China
would be flooding us with products. Now, we do
not have to worry about this anymore – at least not
in the medium term. On the contrary, due to the
sudden emphasis on pollution control and restrictive import of wastepaper China is now experiencing a high demand for pulp. At the same time, we
of course also profit from the fact that plastic as a
packaging material is falling more and more into

disrepute worldwide. In return, with Starkraft
we have a paper solution that can withstand
even the greatest challenges and is in high
demand.
THE BEGINNING OF SEPTEMBER SAW A
SWITCH IN CFOS AT HEINZEL HOLDING,
BARBARA POTISK-EIBENSTEINER SUCCEEDED
RIIA SILLAVE, WHO HAD TRANSFERRED FROM
ESTONIAN CELL TO THE HOLDING COMPANY
IN 2012. WAS IT INTENTIONAL TO FILL THIS
IMPORTANT POSITION EXTERNALLY?
Kurt Maier: Yes, this was an entirely
conscious decision, and in this
sense it also marks a trend reversal. The outside view is becoming more and more important
to us the more we grow.
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As the former CFO at the listed RHI, Barbara
Potisk-Eibensteiner has experience in working in an international setting, and we really
value her highly professional approach.
However, the appointment of Mrs.
Potisk-Eibensteiner does not imply
that we will be filling leadership
positions solely externally
from now on. For example,
Thomas Welt, who was the
project manager of the
large – and very successful – machine conversion
in Laakirchen, succeeded
Mark Lunabba as chairman in early January
2018.

16

MRS. POTISK-EIBENSTEINER, HOW LONG DID IT TAKE
YOU TO SETTLE INTO YOUR NEW WORK ENVIRONMENT,
AND WHAT ARE PERHAPS EVEN THE ADVANTAGES OF A
FAMILY BUSINESS COMPARED TO A LISTED BUSINESS?
Barbara Potisk-Eibensteiner: Listed companies
are very much influenced by the quarter-driven
thinking of many investors in terms of revenue numbers. This is very different in a family
business, where a short-term return is set aside
in favor of a long-term orientation, and where
you tend to economize more sustainably. At the
same time, decisiveness and courage dominate
Heinzel Group. The alignment between the
owners and the management is very strong, our
interests follow the same course, as the strategy
process carried out last year confirms. And this
of course introduces very different possibilities
to the group. In any case, I have settled in very
well and am looking forward to significantly
helping in carrying and advancing the scheduled growth path of the group.
SPEAKING OF THE STRATEGY PROCESS: WHAT WAS IT
ABOUT?
Kurt Maier: Aside from long-term global changes such as limited growth in the developed

HEINZEL GROUP

world and strong growth in the developing
world, our industry is facing several challenges
that can be traced back to the change in lifestyle:
shrinking numbers in the SC paper sector, which
we continue to count on with PM11, very high
demand in packaging, new challenges for paper
in the food industry, etc. At the same time, we
need to ensure the sustainable supply of our mills
with wood and wastepaper. Also, energy, and the
various political approaches to it within Europe,
continues to be an important parameter.
In our strategy, we had to stake out how and
where we want to grow in the future – investing
in our existing mills as well as growing through
acquisitions. We believe in packaging and in
the upstream links in the value-added chain.
That means that our strategic focus ranges from
wastepaper and wood to pulp and packaging
paper – while using our own supply of raw materials and energy in the best way possible, which
of course plays an important part. Consequently,
our recycled paper dealer Bunzl & Biach has
become even more significant through the expansion in Laakirchen. We also want to generate
additional surplus value by using our waste
material even better in the future and continuing
to focus on side products (Biorefinery).

“THE ALIGNMENT BETWEEN
THE OWNERS AND THE MANAGEMENT IS VERY STRONG,
OUR INTERESTS FOLLOW THE
SAME COURSE”
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Barbara Potisk-Eibensteiner: Our plan is to
expand our product range and add to it across
the whole group. The further regional expansion
especially in Asia is on the agenda in the trading
sector at heinzelsales. Also, it is our clear objective to establish Starkraft as well as containerboard more firmly in the Americas in order to
support our production sites, especially during
product launches.
Of course, we continue to focus on the
fast-growing markets in Asia and Africa, where
heinzelsales can display its full expertise.
Europapier continues to concentrate heavily on
product diversification and has taken an important step in the direction of industry packaging
solutions through the majority acquisition of
“Moderne Verpackung Hoffmann”.
ON THE TOPIC OF INVESTMENTS AND GROWTH: WHICH
INITIATIVES WERE PUT IN PLACE FOR 2018?
Kurt Maier: We continue to work full-scale
on optimizing and expanding our production
capacity and are widening our operating range
in the trade sector at the same time. In December 2017, a new paper machine, the PM3, was
approved for the mill in Pöls. Under the product

name “Starkraft Next Dimension” it will produce
even lower grammages than the PM2. Through
this investment of roughly EUR 130 million,
the capacity of both paper machines will be
expanded to a total of roughly 200,000 annual
tonnes. The machine should be activated in the
middle of 2019.
Seeing as Estonian Cell is currently yielding very
good results, we are very willing to further invest
in this mill. Thus, in 2018 we are making the
first step in a three-step capacity expansion with
the goal of increasing the output from currently
about 170,000 annual tonnes to 215,000 annual tonnes in the final expansion.
Barbara Potisk-Eibensteiner: In addition,
we will be investing roughly EUR 8 million in
measures for increasing capacity and efficiency in Estonia in 2018. This particularly applies
to the energy sector and to reducing the use
of chemicals. Of course, we try to use fewer
resources in all of our mills, which in part can
be seen in the improved performance of the
mill in Raubling.

“WE CONTINUE TO WORK
FULL-SCALE ON OPTIMIZING
AND EXPANDING OUR PRODUCTION CAPACITY”
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YOU HAVE MENTIONED YOUR GROWTH STRATEGY
SEVERAL TIMES. WHICH CONCRETE GOAL DO YOU HAVE
IN MIND?
Kurt Maier: At our evening at the Albertina in
March 2017, I mentioned the sales revenues
target of EUR 3 billion, which is now confirmed
with concrete projects that were developed
in our companies together with the persons
responsible. Needless to say, the scheduled
growth also includes acquisitions. But aside
from the growth target we are also focusing on
further improving our profitability.
Barbara Potisk-Eibensteiner: From where we
stand this growth should be very much feasible
also in financial terms. The group’s solid balance
sheet is still our top priority.
WHAT ARE THE MOST IMPORTANT FACTORS FOR A SUCCESSFUL IMPLEMENTATION OF YOUR STRATEGY?
Kurt Maier: Human Resources is an important
success factor. Since several key persons from
the founding generation will be retiring soon,
especially in Pöls and Laakirchen, the transfer of
expertise is obviously an important topic to us.
At the same time, we see that the new genera-

HEINZEL GROUP

tion is bringing new ideas to the table and that
we need to reposition ourselves as an attractive
employer. There are several location-based initiatives running at the moment concerned with
this issue. An issue we will need to concentrate
on more also as a holding company. We need
highly qualified and motivated employees, who
are also willing to take the necessary responsibility in acquisition and especially in integration
projects.
Barbara Potisk-Eibensteiner: Needless to say,
as a cyclical company we are also very much
dependent on economic trends and market
price fluctuations. The strategy aims at a better
diversification of the value-added chain and thus
also at a higher risk distribution.
Kurt Maier: One topic that we are thinking
about concomitantly to the implementation
are new technologies and approaches that will
make us more attractive to our customers, new
services, IT connections and further increases
in efficiency in our productions, which we are
able to achieve due to the improved analysis of
our data.

3

SALES REVENUES
TARGET

26

OUTPUT OF
ESTONIAN CELL DUE TO
CAPACITY EXPANSION

130

INVESTMENT
FOR STARKRAFT
NEXT DIMENSION

GIVEN THE CURRENT DEVELOPMENTS OF HEINZEL
GROUP AND ITS ENVIRONMENT, IS YOUR OUTLOOK
EQUALLY POSITIVE?
Barbara Potisk-Eibensteiner: The first quarter
of 2018 has definitely started out very well. Even
though China is always a risk factor for global
pulp and paper markets, we are at least carefully optimistic that we will be able to maintain
the quality of results. In terms of quantity we will
be making significant increases compared to
the previous year simply due to the investments
made in Laakirchen and Pöls.
Kurt Maier: We will keep moving and making
large investments in order to meet our growth
target - that is for sure. The fact that our strategy has always proved to be right makes us
optimistic.
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This illustrates the commodity flows
over 8,500 tonnes of heinzelsales.
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A YEAR OF SURPRISES ON THE
MARKETS
Sometimes things turn out differently
... than even the most experienced insiders expect them to. While they had
agreed in late 2016 that the markets
for pulp and paper would perform
poorly in 2017, they instead witnessed
a year of big surprises.
Even people with decades worth of experience
in the pulp and paper sector were surprised by
the market developments in 2017. The majority
of the announced new capacities hit the market
as scheduled – in Indonesia and Brazil, for
example, gigantic new pulp mills were activated,
and Laakirchen started producing packaging
paper.
Yet, the price drop that was predicted by all of
the industry observers in light of this surge in
supply never happened. On the contrary, the
prices for pulp and packaging papers only had

one direction since early 2017: all the way up.
High market demand surprised everyone, availability of products was running short. And in all
sectors at that.
While containerboard was a particularly popular
packaging paper, pulp markets profited especially from high demand in the hygiene sector.
And since mid-2017 the prices even surged in
the shrinking market for printing papers across
the whole product range.
The reason for the latter is easy to find: The
capacity cutoffs of the past years created an
equilibrium for printing papers between supply
and demand for the first time in a long while. In
contrast, the explanations are more nuanced for
the pulp and packaging papers sectors.

REASONS FOR
GROWTH IN 2017

A BOOMING
WORLD ECONOMY

CHINA IS GETTING SERIOUS
ABOUT POLLUTION CONTROL

PACKAGING PAPER AND PULP SUDDENLY RAN SHORT
One reason for the surprising supply shortage
of packaging paper in Europe had to do with

E-COMMERCE BOOSTS
PACKAGING SECTOR

the fact that the new capacities started up
slower than scheduled. A total of four new
machines for containerboard were supposed
to hit the market in 2017. In fact, the PM10 in
Laakirchen ended up being the only one that
started up on time. But needless to say, that is
not the only thing that turned the signs of the
global market.
One main driving force behind the market trend
in 2017 was China, for at least three reasons:
First, the Chinese economy surged and created
an accordingly high demand for the whole range
of paper and pulp products. This is especially
the case for packaging because by now China
has even eclipsed the USA when it comes to
e-commerce – and the use of packaging papers
rises with every online order. At the same time,
the rise in living standards of the Chinese
population creates a rise in demand for hygiene
paper, from higher-quality toilet paper to paper
towels.

22

HEINZEL GROUP

A second fundamental driving force is pollution control,
which the Chinese government has now started to take
very seriously. As it systematically shut down old and polluting factories, the local supply decreased and imports
from the rest of the world increased.

packaging paper that the PM10 will make, now there is
demand for almost twice that amount. The strong market
also entails marked improvements in terms of risk and
working capital, since customers who desperately need
paper will pay for it sooner and more reliably.

And the third factor: China has been cracking down on
certain wastepaper imports since mid-2017, because
unclean sorting was bringing too much refuse and
residual waste into the country. The Chinese prices for
wastepaper skyrocketed, as did the prices for recycled
board. Consequently, customers switched to fresh fiber
board – and so the prices for fresh fiber pulp also went
up considerably.

However, there is no light without darkness: What is
good for the suppliers in the European home markets is
problematic for customers overseas. In some cases they
cannot be supplied at all, and in other cases only at very
high prices. Recently there have been significant waiting
periods: Whereas in 2016 products were often available
immediately, heinzelsales has currently been battling
month-long lead times for certain types of paper.

CONSEQUENCES FOR HEINZEL GROUP

In the second half of 2017, paper and pulp manufac
turers were very tempted to focus on the customers in
their own booming home markets and neglect their positions in the emerging markets around the world that they
had painstakingly built. However, heinzelsales advises
its suppliers to not give up their markets in Africa, the
Middle East, Asia or Latin America lightly. After all, the
next market downturn will come at some point, and then
customers overseas will be valuable partners.

What does this surprising product shortage mean for a
trading company like heinzelsales that operates worldwide? On the one hand, it makes for a positive atmosphere among the manufacturers, not least in the group
itself. Whereas it was uncertain during the conversion
decision for Laakirchen in 2016 that there would be
enough buyers for the up to 450,000 annual tonnes of

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 · TRADE BUSINESS SECTOR

2017 also saw several price hikes in paper wholesaling.
Whereas sufficient quantities of coated papers were
available, there was a shortage of uncoated papers, especially of copy paper, a trend that did affect the market
but not Europapier, the Heinzel Group subsidiary active
in this sector. Due to the close and partner-like collaboration with its suppliers, Europapier International was
able to deliver the desired quantities to its customers
despite the shortages on the market. The longstanding
commitment to the suppliers paid off.
STRATEGIC FORESIGHT
This long-term perspective is also one of the reasons
why the trade companies of Heinzel Group stick to their
fundamental strategies instead of changing them at
short notice because of temporary trends and effects.
Foresight is the name of the game here as well. In practice, this means for Europapier that it will continue its
course of diversification and further expand its business
in the sectors of visual communication, away-from-home
hygiene and packaging solutions. This will be done
through deliberate organic growth as well as through
acquisitions, such as the recent majority acquisition of
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“Moderne Verpackung Hoffmann“ in the packaging sector. On top of all of that the clear focus on the established
core business remains unchanged: The market leadership in paper wholesales in Central and Eastern Europe
will continue to be upheld, and it will be expanded
wherever it is not yet number one. It is still Europapier’s
goal to be an attractive partner for its customers, to make
better use of its logistics network and to keep growing.
Currently, heinzelsales continues to work on fully globalizing its business. Five to ten years ago, the trading company was focusing mostly on Europe and the Mediterranean region, but today it is supplying customers in 103
countries, in 2017 for the first time also in New Zealand
and Armenia. In order to paint the last white spaces on
the globe a heinzelsales shade of blue and to push the
global growth more than just organically, the company is
not ruling out small acquisitions.
Bunzl & Biach, the recycled paper dealer of Heinzel
Group, also remains true to its business strategy in the
current situation. After all, the temporary absence of wastepaper exports to China mostly concerns regions close to
European harbors but not Central Europe directly.

HEINZEL GROUP

Nevertheless, the high increase in demand for raw materials for the mill in Laakirchen confirms the long-term
plan to constantly look into regional expansion possibilities as well. Since Bunzl & Biach already has a considerable market share in Austria, South Germany and the
neighboring CEE countries, now it is also focusing on
Northern Italy and the Southeast European countries,
which will offer increasing potential for wastepaper
collection in the future.

A TIME TO MAKE FRIENDS
IN VIENNA
heinzelsales:convention
The successful course of globalization of
heinzelsales could be seen and felt at the
first heinzelsales:convention in May 2017.
Pulp and paper salespeople from about
60 nations – such as Brazil, Guatemala, Sri
Lanka, Pakistan, China, South Africa, Kenya
and Ukraine – gathered for three days in
Vienna.
The goal of this meeting was to make new
trade connections within the heinzelsales
network. All of the product specialists and
heads of sales from the manufacturing mills
of Heinzel Group also took part in the
convention.

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 · TRADE BUSINESS SECTOR
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STRONG INVESTMENTS FOR
STRONG GROWTH
A company that invests roughly EUR
300 million in the expansion of its
mills within just a few years not
only shows entrepreneurial courage,
but also great confidence in its own
strategy. In 2017, Heinzel Group successfully implemented two large-scale
projects: the PM10 in Laakirchen and
the expansion of pulp capacity in Pöls.
And there are more investments to
come.
It was a historical moment when the first roll of
containerboard was produced in Laakirchen in
October 2017: The activation of the PM10 – one
of the most modern containerboard machines in
Europe – ushered in a new era for the 150-yearold history of Laakirchen, as well as for Heinzel
Group as a whole. After all, the switch from white
SC paper to brown packaging paper not only led
to a completely new product and – consequently

NEW PRODUCT, NEW ERA

– a cultural change. This EUR 110 million project
was also the biggest investment decision of
Heinzel Group in the last few years and marked a
decided step towards the medium-term sales revenues target of EUR 3 billion. It was also spot-on
in terms of timing. Even the first test roles could
have been sold, that is how high the current
demand is for containerboard.
It is easy to explain why Heinzel Group is banking
so firmly on the packaging segment: The group
simply adjusts the expansion of its product
range according to the demand. It builds on its
strengths and incorporates specific market trends
in order to participate in them or profit from
them. And while newspapers and magazines, for
which Laakirchen had previously been producing
the paper, continue to fall victim to the triumph of
digitalization, at the same time the boom in online
sales is increasing the demand for packaging.
It is creating a distinct future market within the
paper industry – and Heinzel Group managed to
access it at just the right moment by deciding to
invest in the PM10.

With this investment, Laakirchen plans to
establish itself as a top player on the European
market. Looking at the trend of demand of the
past few months, this strategy has proved to be
successful. The new products “starboard Liner”
and “starboard Wave” produced by the PM10
are particularly suited for shipping packaging
due to their low grammage. The paper made of
100% recycled fibers is very strong and stable,
which is why it is also used in the industry
packaging sector, e.g. in the automotive, furniture or consumer goods industries as well as in
packaging for agricultural goods or electronic
devices. Next to Austria and Germany, Central
and Eastern Europe as well as Italy are the target
markets for the new products.

PACKAGING IS AN
EMERGING MARKET FOR
THE PAPER INDUSTRY

The conversion of the paper machine was
accompanied by a number of other investment
measures on site in Laakirchen. For example, a
new facility for processing fiber from wastepaper
as well as large storage facilities for recycled pa-
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per were erected, and the company invested in
a new anaerobic sewage treatment and in a new
automatic crane warehouse for the new products.
Since the seamless activation of the converted
paper machine, Laakirchen has been steadily
producing the highest quality. The tentative
annual output target lies at 420,000 tonnes
of light-weight containerboard and should be
expanded to roughly 450,000 tonnes over the
next few years. An additional 220,000 tonnes
is being produced in the mill in Raubling, which
will be concentrating even more on higher
grammages and special papers in the future.
Together, the two mills complement each other
perfectly and provide an attractive product
range in the packaging sector, and in the
medium term they will be producing roughly
700,000 tonnes.
MORE PULP IN PÖLS
In 2017, Heinzel Group once again invested in
growth also in Pöls, Styria. Whereas the last large
investment in the mill was made for the reconstruction of the PM2 – specializing on packaging
paper – and for repairing the exploded liquor
recovery boiler, 2017 saw the further expansion of
the pulp sector: Almost EUR 18 million was spent
on boosting the production capacity from roughly
30,000 tonnes to 455,000 tonnes of pulp per year.

HEINZEL GROUP

The expansion project was made up of three
sub-projects: First, the sieve surface of the
pressure diffuser was considerably enlarged
in order to improve the flow rate and washing.
Second, the installation of a new washing press
caused massive logistical challenges because
several pipelines had to be mounted during
active operation and were later connected to
existing pumps. The third measure was building
an additional concentrator level with a larger
evaporation surface, which led to the expected
increase in capacity of the evaporation facility.
The reconstructions took place during the regular annual inspection shutdown in October 2017,
which had to be extended by only four days
despite the complexity of the operations. In addition to the targeted increase of capacity it was
also possible to get rid of several bottlenecks in
other operation sectors.
Since all of the new facility parts work perfectly,
it was possible to boost the boiler up to 1,400
tonnes per day only a few weeks after the reconstruction, and since then it has been reliably
delivering the accustomed top quality of ORION
pulp.

300

FOR MILL EXPANSIONS

PM10

CONVERSION IN LAAKIRCHEN

100

RECYCLED FIBERS
IN LAAKIRCHEN

18

FOR INCREASE IN
CAPACITY IN PÖLS

FURTHER PLANS: A SECOND PAPER MACHINE FOR PÖLS
And that is not all. The next expansion in Pöls
was already decided on in December 2017 and
this time it concerns the kraft paper production:
A second paper machine in Pöls is set to lend
even more momentum to the course for growth
of Heinzel Group’s packaging papers. The additional capacity will not only improve supplying
the European customers with the white kraft
paper “Starkraft” from Pöls, but the group will
also be all geared up for the global market.
With “Starkraft Next Dimension” the PM3 will
deliver the accustomed Starkraft quality but
with even lower grammages. In sum, the site in
Pöls will be producing 200,000 tonnes of MG
papers per year. The additional gain in pulp
production in 2017 will not compromise the
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Only four years after beginning to produce Starkraft kraft paper on the PM2,
the decision was made to build a second machine for this successful product.

capacity for market pulp. With this investment
of more than EUR 130 million, Pöls is continuing its success story, which had started with the
construction of the PM2, the most modern kraft
paper machine in Europe, in the year 2013.
With the help of the new machine, the site now
wants to emerge as the biggest European producer in this segment. The construction preparations in Pöls will begin as early as summer 2018
so that the new machine can begin operations in
the middle of 2019.
INCREASE IN CAPACITY IN ESTONIA
The Estonian pulp mill of Heinzel Group, which
delivered terrific results in 2017 due to the

positive market price situation, will also be
expanded further. Aside from an additional
increase in capacity of up to 185,000 annual
tonnes, the scheduled measures should further
increase the efficiency of the mill as well as
improve its environmental performance even
more, especially through reducing the use of
chemicals and energy consumption.
In order to do so, the group will invest roughly
EUR 17 million in Estonian Cell in the next two
years – and consequently take another important
step in realizing their ambitious growth strategy,
which not only requires a healthy and balanced
range of products in order to succeed, but also
several sturdy pillars in the field of production.

GROUP
MANAGEMENT
REPORT

32

HEINZEL GROUP

GENERAL ECONOMIC SITUATION
Following the oil price slump, from the second
half of 2016 onwards the global economy again
gathered pace. A brief phase of uncertainty at
the beginning of 2017 was quickly overcome
and beginning in the summer, economic activity
hit the ground running. The stagnation scenarios debated since the financial crisis, especially
in the major industrial nations, were pushed
aside by virtually unfettered optimism. Accordingly, private consumers continued to be a
growth driver in 2017 with robust labor markets, relatively moderate inflation and favorable
financing conditions culminating in another
marked increase in consumer spending.
Furthermore, in view of higher producer prices,
improved use of capacity and higher company
profits, investment levels also rose.
Owing to the stabilization of key raw material
prices, international trade was remarkably lively
and had a steadying effect that extended to the
threshold countries. Overall, in 2017 the global
economy demonstrated GDP growth of 3.7%
and hence a surprisingly positive picture.

Once, in view of the slow-down in US inflation,
the expectation of further interest rate increases
on the part of the FED had subsided, the US
dollar eased against all major currencies. The
decrease against the euro was particularly
pronounced and this led to a recovery in US
exports.
China also profited from the increasing tailwind
in the world economy, as after three slack years
its exporters benefited from the significant
increase in global trading volume. In addition,
the services sector showed disproportionately
large expansion with the result that the official,
governmental GDP growth target of 6.5% should
be attained.

3.7

GDP GROWTH 2017
WORLDWIDE

6.5

GDP GROWTH GOAL
2017 IN CHINA

14.0

DEVALUATION OF THE
DOLLAR COMPARED TO
THE EURO IN 2017
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SECTOR DEVELOPMENT
The product portfolio of Heinzel Group’s
trading and production companies ranges
from pulp and a diversity of paper types to
packaging. These products are subject to
differing influential factors, which in the past
year developed as follows:

2017 was characterized by an extremely strong pulp
market with continually rising prices. This was due to
three important factors, the first of which was exceptionally good paper business in China with existing and new
plants working at full capacity. Secondly, various production losses (totally approximately 1.4 million tonnes)
owing to technical problems led to supply shortages and
thirdly, new planned capacity was delayed, or failed to
enter the market.

PULP
In 2017, the worldwide demand for pulp rose by 3.7% to a
total of 61.7 million tonnes and therefore clearly exceeded
the long-term, average growth rate (+2.2%). The strongest
increase in demand took place in China with 7.6%, followed
by Japan with 5.4% and the remainder of Asia plus Africa
with 4.3%. North America (2.7%) and Eastern Europe
(2.5%) also demonstrated growth, but by contrast volumes
were slightly lower in Latin America and Western Europe.

In Europe the price for lead quality long-fiber pulp
(NBSK) rose by around USD 200 per tonne, while that
for short-fiber pulp (BEKP) increased by as much as
USD 330. Owing to the shift in the USD/EUR exchange
rate from 1.06 at the beginning of the year to over 1.18
at year-end, the euro price curve was far flatter with
NBSK up by EUR 70 and BEKP by EUR 200.
Particularly in Europe and North America, this positive market development continued into the first quarter of 2018,
while prices in China are currently stagnant at a high level.

QUARTERLY PULP PRICE TREND

QUARTERLY PULP PRICE TREND
CIF-PRICE BEKP (USD/T)

CIF-PRICE NBSK (USD/T)

X-RATE (EUR/USD)
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Owing to lower use of capacity in China and
the availability of additional quantities of market
pulp from Finland (NBSK), Brazil and Chile
(BEKP), as well as Indonesia (BHKP), a price
decrease is anticipated in the course of the second and third quarters of 2018. However, the
fourth quarter should see a positive stabilization.
PAPER
As far as paper market development is concerned, the review below is limited to the graphic and packaging paper segments, which are of
relevance to Heinzel Group.
2017 was once again characterized by a
decrease in demand for printing papers. This
decline was more pronounced in the case of
newsprint, with minus 7%, and lightweight
coated (LWC) papers, with minus 2%, rather
than with regard to SC paper (minus 1%).
At the end of 2016, a series of permanent capacity shutdowns commenced in the SC paper
area, which continued in the first and second
quarters of 2017. If the conversion of the PM10
in Laakirchen during August is included, a total

HEINZEL GROUP

of 650,000 tonnes were removed from the market, which corresponded with a roughly 15%
reduction in production capacity.

3.7

As a consequence, the use of capacity levels in
the SC paper segment, which during the first
half-year were partially as low as 85%, climbed
back to 98% in the fourth quarter. Moreover,
the resultant excellent booking situation with
respect to SC paper in the second half of 2017
not only led to the first price increase for quite
some time, but also a second one at the beginning of 2018.

WORLDWIDE DEMAND
FOR PULP IN 2017

Owing to the cutback in SC paper production
capacity from 4.4 million to 3.75 million tonnes,
use of capacity should remain high in the first
half of 2018. However, this presupposes that
customers, especially those in the retail sector,
do not implement measures in order to compensate for the higher paper prices.

PRODUCTION CAPACITY
FOR SC PAPER IN 2017

PACKAGING
The general trend away from plastic to paper
packaging was maintained in 2017. In the containerboard segment, any fears regarding fresh

15
5

DEMAND FOR
CONTAINERBOARD IN 2017

capacity in the European market and an associated decrease in prices were quickly allayed, as
the year began with very low stocks and in addition, the positive economic situation triggered an
increase in demand of around 5%. The volumes
manufactured on the converted paper machines
in the Netherlands and Germany were quickly
absorbed by strong demand and therefore the
market was at no point tangibly affected. This
also had a favorable impact on containerboard
prices with an initial increase in February 2017
and two subsequent further rises.
The market for bleached kraft paper also developed in an exceptionally positive manner. This
was due to the fact that apart from the clement
economic climate, above all impetus emanated
from the intensive plastics/paper debate, the penalization and banning of plastic packaging, and
the shift in consumer behavior outside Europe
with regard to foods and hygiene articles. These
influences provided the basis for the price rises
as of the second quarter.
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2017 GROUP DEVELOPMENT
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The 2017 operating result (EBIT) amounted
to EUR 73.6 million and was therefore lower
than the EUR 78.6 million of the preceding
year. However, it should be added that the latter
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During the financial year, the group working
capital ratio was cut from 13.3% to 12.4%. With
the exception of Bunzl & Biach, which since
the conversion of the PM10 in Laakirchen has
had to amass larger quantities of waste paper,
all Heinzel companies were able to hold working
capital at the level of the preceding year, or lower
it. However, the temporary reduction in working
capital at Laakirchen Papier will again be neutralized during the 2018 financial year due to the
full operation of both paper machines. Last, but

Both the group’s investment volume of around
EUR 107 million (2016: EUR 52.7 million) and
dividends were financed from cash flow and new
loans. On the balance sheet date, the net debt
of Heinzel Group amounted to EUR 82.4 million
and the ratio of net debt to EBITDA stood at 0.7
(2016: 0.4). The group’s equity ratio remained
unchanged over the previous year at 48.7%.
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The continuation of low interest rates allowed
a further improvement in the financial result
for 2017 as compared to that of the previous
year. The group’s tax ratio in 2017 amounted to
21.0% (2016: 21.7%) and on balance the net
income for the year under report totaled EUR
55.0 million.

not least, operative cash flow in 2017 improved
from EUR 95.3 million to EUR 108.4 million.
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CAPEX SPLIT

contained operative one-off effects of EUR 4.3
million, composed largely of insurance proceeds
and the initial consolidation of Raubling Papier
GmbH. In addition, the standstill relating to the
conversion adaptation at Laakirchen Papier AG
caused a negative result, which placed a burden
of EUR 8.0 million on group EBIT.
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As a result of the generally satisfactory economic situation and the positive market price situation, Heinzel Group can look back on a successful business year in 2017 during which it
was able to raise its net revenues by 3% to EUR
1.82 billion. In spite of the scheduled shutdown
of the PM10 in Laakirchen for the conversion
lasting several months and a machine outage
at the Pöls mill in the first quarter, a production
volume of 1.31 million tonnes was achieved
(2016: 1.37 million tonnes). For these reasons
and also due to the lower availability of trading
volumes, the quantities sold fell from 4.1 million
tonnes to 3.8 million tonnes.

1,339
SEGMENT SALES
IN M EUR

35.5
SEGMENT EBITDA
IN M EUR
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The activities of the companies in the Trading
Business Area consist of paper wholesaling
(Europapier), agency and trading transactions
with pulp and paper (heinzelsales), and recycled
paper trading (Bunzl & Biach). On the one hand,
Heinzel Group markets products from its own
pulp and paper mills and on the other, supports
third suppliers as an important partner with a
comprehensive knowledge of the market. Recycled paper trading primarily serves the supply of
raw materials to the group’s own paper mills.

Trading Business Area sales revenues in
2017 rose to EUR 1,338.6 million (2016:
EUR 1,284.3 million). Apart from the positive
market price trend, this improvement was due
to the increase in volume of Bunzl & Biach’s
internal and external sales of recycled paper.
Segment EBITDA was raised from EUR 32.5
million in 2016 to EUR 35.5 million in the 2017
financial year.
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WILFRIED HEINZEL AG
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EBIT

Solid global demand for paper and pulp
resulted in a reduction in the quantities
traded by Wilfried Heinzel AG (heinzelsales).
Accordingly, as opposed to the preceding
year, the sales volume fell by around 6%
to 2,362,778 tonnes, whereby the pulp
and fiber segments were particularly hard
hit. Conversely, there was growth in the
number of national markets served world-

wide by heinzelsales, which increased
from 99 in 2016 to 103 in 2017.
Owing to the good market prices, heinzelsales sales revenues in 2017 were up by
EUR 23.0 million at EUR 667.0 million.
On this basis EBITDA was raised from
EUR 16.0 million to EUR 18.6 million.
Operative cash flow demonstrated an especially positive trend with a near sevenfold increase over the preceding year.

WILFRIED HEINZEL AG
Sales revenues1

EUR m

2017
667.0

2016
644.0

CHANGE
+23.0

EBIT

EUR m

16.0

13.1

+2.9

EBITDA

EUR m

18.6

16.0

+2.6

Operative cash flow

EUR m

18.4

2.7

+15.7

CAPEX

EUR m

0.2

1.0

–0.8

%

26.2

21.5

+4.7 PP

Number

114

111

+3

ROACE
Employees (average)
1

Including intercompany sales revenues
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EUROPAPIER INTERNATIONAL AG

3

SALES
REVENUES

During the past financial year, Europapier
Group maintained its diversification
strategy by further supplementing its
core paper wholesaling business with an
intensification of its activities in the visual
communication technology and hygiene
areas. However, with a less than 5%
share of sales revenues, these new segments were not a major factor in the end

result for 2017, which for the sub-group
amounted to EUR 541.6 million (2016:
EUR 528.3 million).
The increase in sales revenues derived
primarily from business in Austria, Serbia,
Russia and Ukraine. At EUR 11.7 million,
EBITDA remained at the level of 2016.

EUROPAPIER
Sales revenues1

EUR m

2017
541.6

2016
528.3

CHANGE
+13.3

EBIT

EUR m

9.1

9.6

–0.5

EBITDA

EUR m

11.7

11.9

–0.2

Operative cash flow

EUR m

7.1

11.6

–4.5

CAPEX

EUR m

2.6

3.9

–1.3

ROACE
Employees (average)
1

Including intercompany sales revenues

%

5.8

6.8

–1.0 PP

Number

1.014

998

+16
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BUNZL&BIACH GMBH

13

EBITDA

In 2017, Bunzl & Biach and its subsidiaries were able to raise sales volumes from
896,413 tonnes to 940,437 tonnes. This
increase was due first and foremost to the
additional waste paper requirements of
the Laakirchen Papier AG mill. Companies
sales revenues rose to EUR 145.8 million
(2016: EUR 127.4 million) and EBITDA
climbed from EUR 4.6 million to EUR 5.2
million.

Among the main investments in 2017
were the automation of the sorting system,
a new waste paper baling press and
additions to the vehicle fleet. Furthermore,
during the year Bunzl & Biach purchased
Green Recycling s.r.o. in Slovakia and
thus strengthened its market presence in
Eastern Europe.

BUNZL & BIACH GMBH
Sales revenues1

EUR m

2017
145.8

2016
127.4

CHANGE
+18.4

EBIT

EUR m

3.6

3.0

+0.6

EBITDA

EUR m

5.2

4.6

+0.6

Operative cash flow

EUR m

0.3

4.2

–3.9

CAPEX

EUR m

1.0

2.6

–1.6

%

17.0

16.9

+0.1 PP

Number

176

163

+13

ROACE
Employees (average)
1

Including intercompany sales revenues

635
SEGMENT SALES
IN M EUR

91.5
SEGMENT EBITDA
IN M EUR
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INDUSTRIAL
BUSINESS
AREA
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Heinzel Group’s Industrial Business Area
incorporates the four subsidiaries Zellstoff Pöls
AG, AS Estonian Cell, Laakirchen Papier AG and
Raubling Papier GmbH and persues a strategy
of product diversification. Therefore the Heinzel
Group mills produce both short- and long-fiber
pulp, while apart from graphic papers, its paper
machines now largely manufacture white and
brown packaging papers.
The increase in the segment’s sales revenues
from EUR 633.9 million in 2016 to EUR 634.7
million in 2017 was driven by the positive market
price situation with respect to pulp and packaging papers. However, owing to the conversion

and shutdowns, production in 2017 totaled
1,313,009 tonnes, which was less than the
1,370,214 tonnes of the preceding year. In spite
of the satisfactory result pattern at the Pöls, Estonian Cell and Raubling mills, the segment result
before depreciation and amortization amounted
to EUR 91.5 million and was well below the
figure for 2016. By and large, this decrease can
be traced to the uncovered fixed costs incurred
during the conversion of the PM10 in Laakirchen
and the short-term start-up losses of the new
paper machine. The operating result (EBIT)
for 2017 amounted to EUR 46,0 million (2016:
EUR 53.7 million).

46

HEINZEL GROUP
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ZELLSTOFF PÖLS AG

4

EBIT

In 2017, the output of the pulp
production line at the Pöls
location amounted to 348,278
tonnes, which was slightly lower
than the 354,788 tonnes of the
previous year. Apart from a machine outage in the first quarter of
2017, this decrease was caused
by an extended maintenance
shutdown in autumn, which
resulted from the inclusion of an
enlargement investment aimed
at an increase in production
capacity. The PM2 made highly
satisfactory progress during the
past financial year and was able
to raise its output of Starkraft
brand kraft paper to 86,284
tonnes (2016: 84,528 tonnes).
Fortunately, the positive price
trend for pulp and packaging

papers meant that the missing volumes
could be more than offset and therefore
sales revenues rose from EUR 251.8
million to EUR 260.8 million. As a consequence of stable wood and chemicals
prices, EBITDA amounted to EUR 56.7
million. This was lower than the comparative figure from 2016 (EUR 57.3
million), but this contained one-off effects
from an insurance claim totaling EUR
3.5 million. EBIT in 2017 stood at EUR
36.9 million (2016: EUR 35.5 million)

and strong operative cash flow of EUR
43.0 million resulted from good operating
performance and a further reduction in
the working capital ratio.
In December 2017, the decision was
taken to further expand mill capacity with
the construction of PM3. This project will
involve an investment volume in excess
of EUR 130 million and is due for completion in the middle of 2019.

ZELLSTOFF PÖLS AG
Sales revenues1

EUR m

2017
260.8

2016
251.8

CHANGE
+9.0

EBIT

EUR m

36.9

35.5

+1.4

EBITDA

EUR m

56.7

57.3

–0.6

Operative cash flow

EUR m

43.0

41.3

+1.7

CAPEX

EUR m

27.1

24.6

+2.5

%

11.3

11.2

+0.1 PP

Number

409

399

+10

ROACE
Employees (average)
1

Including intercompany sales revenues
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LAAKIRCHEN PAPIER AG

300

CAPEX

For the Laakirchen paper mill the 2017
financial year was characterized by major
changes. Apart from the increase in the
capacity of the PM11, which manufactures SC papers, in August the PM10
was taken out of service. The machine
was then converted to containerboard
production and during the fourth quarter
was already successfully returned to operation. These measures are the reason
for the roughly 10% decrease in output
during the year under report to 489,194
tonnes, which resulted in a corresponding decrease in sales revenues from EUR
243.6 million to EUR 211.7 million.

Company EBITDA totaled EUR 7.3 million, but EBIT suffered from the uncovered fixed costs during the conversion
process and therefore was negative at
EUR 8.0 million. Above all, the operative
cash flow of EUR 15.2 million emanated from the short-term reduction in
working capital, which related to the
PM10 conversion. The return to normal
operations is expected to cause a rise in
this connection.

LAAKIRCHEN PAPIER AG
Sales revenues1

EUR m

2017
211.7

EBIT

EUR m

EBITDA

EUR m

Operative cash flow
CAPEX
ROACE
Employees (average)
1

Including intercompany sales revenues

2016
243.6

CHANGE
–31.9

–8.0

12.9

–20.9

7.3

29.4

–22.1

EUR m

15.2

26.9

–11.7

EUR m

64.4

16.1

+48.3

%

–5.6

27.3

–32.9 PP

Number

461

506

–45
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AS ESTONIAN CELL

53

EBITDA

With 171,708 tonnes of BCTMP, the
production volume at the Estonian pulp
mill was only slightly below the 173,099
tonnes of the previous year. Moreover,
the positive price trend, which was driven
by strong demand and reached its high
point in the fourth quarter, resulted in an
increase in sales revenues of more than
10% to EUR 71.1 million.

biogas and rigorous cost management
led to an increase in EBITDA from EUR
12.9 million in 2016 to EUR 19.8 million
in 2017. In line with good profitability,
the improvement in working capital due
to lower stocks also resulted in markedly
higher operative cash flow for the past
year of EUR 20.2 million.
The investments of EUR 1.6 million at
the Kunda location during 2017 related
mainly to replacements.

Stable wood prices in Estonia, the
continued substitution of natural gas by
AS ESTONIAN CELL
Sales revenues1

EUR m

2017
71.1

2016
64.5

CHANGE
+6.6

EBIT

EUR m

11.1

4.0

+7.1

EBITDA

EUR m

19.8

12.9

+6.9

Operative cash flow

EUR m

20.2

11.4

+8.8

CAPEX

EUR m

1.6

1.6

0.0

%

19.7

5.5

+14.2 PP

Number

86

86

0

ROACE
Employees (average)
1

Including intercompany sales revenues
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RAUBLING PAPIER GMBH

175

EBITDA

With production for the year of around
217,500 tonnes of containerboard, in
2017 the Raubling mill surpassed its output record of 216,000 tonnes set in the
previous year. In addition, the orientation
of the product portfolio towards specialities
and hence the targeted supplementation of the range from Laakirchen was
successfully stepped up. It was therefore
possible to sell around 110,000 tonnes of
Kraft Top Liner for the first time. Both the
favorable product mix and the positive
market price trend led to an increase in
sales revenues of around 18% to EUR
96.5 million. Moreover, the sizeable
increase in pulp and waste paper prices

were offset by means of consumption
optimization measures contained in a
systematic efficiency program. Consequently, EBITDA was raised from EUR
2.8 million in 2016 to EUR 7.7 million in
the year under report.
Raubling Papier GmbH also includes the
subsidiary, Heizkraftwerk Bauernfeind
Betreibergesellschaft mbH.
The bulk of investments of EUR 2.2 million flowed into the renovation of the PM5
hall roof, as well as the upgrading of the
PM7 quality management system.

RAUBLING PAPIER GMBH
Sales revenues1

EUR m

2017
96.5

2016
81.6

CHANGE
+14.9

EBIT

EUR m

6.0

1.3

+4.7

EBITDA

EUR m

7.7

2.8

+4.9

Operative cash flow

EUR m

1.3

0.1

+1.2

CAPEX

EUR m

2.2

3.6

–1.4

%

26.0

8.4

+17.6 PP

Number

143

138

+5

ROACE
Employees (average)
1

Including intercompany sales revenues

Conversion of the former grinding shop
for the new RCF facility

Foundation for the
new pulper for dissolving materials

Construction of a 2,000 m2 high fully automatic
crane warehouse for containerboard

Relocating
calender 1 to
the PM11

New wastepaper storage spaces
for the storage of recycling paper

Saying a solemn farewell to
the last tambour of SC paper
at the PM10.

AUGUST 2017
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WHEN WHITE
BECOMES BROWN

OCTOBER 2017

View of the fully automatic
crane warehouse

The first tambour of containerboard
at the converted PM10

Relocated reel
and new postdryer section

Replacing the sieve part
of the PM10

Installation of the first
dryer group
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CONVERTING THE PM10
IN LAAKIRCHEN
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HEINZEL GROUP

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT
Heinzel Group’s research and development activities can be divided into
three main categories consisting of
resource optimization, customized
solutions and production process
improvement.
RESOURCE EFFICIENCY
Among the most important objectives of
development work in this field is the sustained
consolidation of pulp and paper production
competitiveness. Therefore, a major focus of
the group’s future-oriented research currently
centers on a bio-refining project at the Pöls location. In concrete terms, this involves the material
use of the black liquor derived from the cooking
process for purposes such as the substitution
of oil-based, phenol resin binders. However,
the most important project during 2017 was the
further development of the precipitation system
installed in previous years for the extraction
of lignin from the black liquor. The system is
now capable of preparing extremely pure lignin

qualities for application testing on a pilot scale.
It should also be added that during this type of
project, the group cooperates with both national
and international research bodies.
On the basis of the results from development
activities, in 2017 Zellstoff Pöls also invested in
several washing units as a supplement to the
fiber line. This measure has contributed to a
further optimization of resource use, especially
with regard to wood, chemicals and energy.
CUSTOMER FOCUS
Customers form the focal point of the second
large research and development area in which
the primary objective is to offer tailor-made,
customized and innovative solutions for even
complex tasks. To this end, above all Heinzel
Group relies upon close, partnership-based
teamwork with its customers. One successful
example of this approach is a pulp product,
which was newly developed by Zellstoff Pöls
during 2017 in accordance with the special
demands of a key customer.

In 2017, specific customer requests also
prompted Laakirchen Papier to work intensively
on an improvement in the printability of its
GraphoVerde gravure printing paper. This was
subsequently achieved through the optimization
of calendering conditions, an increase in filler
content and the modification of fiber milling to
provide enhanced formation.
At the same time, the production performance
of the PM10 with respect to the new and commercially attractive GraphoMotion and GraphoLibre PR volume papers was raised further. Moreover, owing to a newly developed calendering
concept for the Janus calender, GraphoMotion
was manufactured on the PM11 to the complete
satisfaction of the customers.
Here, too, DIP bleaching and the chemical and
filler recipes were upgraded in order to facilitate
the routine production of GraphoLogIQ BE on
the PM11 in an extended grammage range.
During the preparations for the conversion
of the PM10 to the production of packaging

papers, Laakirchen Papier also cooperated
closely with its customers on the definition
of the quality parameters and specifications
for the new containerboard. Furthermore, the
company launched the “Barriers” development
project with the aim of being equipped for future
customer demands in the foods packaging
segment.
PRODUCTION OPTIMIZATION
The primary focus of basic research within the
Heinzel Group, which is centered primarily at
Zellstoff Pöls, is on increased value added from
by-products. At present, work is continuing on
the separation and concentration of fines, as
well as the development of their use in areas far
removed from standard paper applications. Examples include modern materials such as highly
compacted mold materials for the automotive
industry and furniture construction.
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HEINZEL GROUP

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

An active environmental, quality and
safety policy is an integrated element
in the Heinzel Group strategy. A key
factor in all group initiatives in this
field is a responsible approach to
the environment and a clear commitment to minimize the environmental
impact emanating from its business
activities.
PRODUCTION
All of the Heinzel Group’s production locations
are involved in constant efforts aimed at a maximum reduction in influences upon the environment. Among the most important priorities are
strict adherence to all the statutory regulations

relating to air and water protection, investments
in innovative technologies for a reduction in
emissions of atmospheric and water pollutants,
as well as the ongoing depletion of residues that
cannot be further processed.
RAW MATERIALS AND ENERGY
Raw material, water, chemicals and energy
consumption is continually reduced by means
of production process optimization. The aim is
to achieve the greatest possible value added
through the sustainable use of all resources.
In addition, steam and electricity are produced
in combined heat and power plants within the
mills. Group plants can thus not only obtain
their entire energy requirements from in-house
production, but also feed surplus electricity and
heat into public networks. They thereby make

a considerable contribution to a cut in CO2
emissions.
ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT
The quality control system employed in the
Heinzel Group plants possesses ISO 9001
certification and the environmental management system corresponds with the ISO 14001
standard. In addition, all the production plants
and the trading houses have been endorsed by
the FSC® (Forest Stewardship Council) and certified in line with the PEFC® (Programme for the
Endorsement of Forest Certification Schemes).
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EMPLOYEE-BASED SUCCESS
Even with artificial intelligence and
Industry 4.0, business success still
depends on people. Therefore, the
foundations of the Heinzel Group’s
corporate culture are formed by the
values of respect, responsibility and
excellence. Our employees’ motivation
and willingness to learn are strongly
pronounced at all of our locations and
are continually encouraged by means
of strategic projects. Our group is
characterized by the length of service
and loyalty of its workforce.
A CLEAR COMMITMENT TO BASIC AND FURTHER TRAINING
The competition for qualified personnel represents
a human resources management challenge that
faces all of the Heinzel Group’s locations. This is
because of the increasing difficulty in finding and
subsequently retaining specialists and young talent.
Consequently, basic and further training are steadily gaining in importance within our organization.

60 APPRENTICES WITH EXCITING FUTURE PROSPECTS

managerial employees. The program is targeted
on the development of personality, leadership
skills and know-how, and has met with a highly
positive response throughout the entire group. To
date, a total of 49 trainees from 16 countries have
completed this two-year course.

Heinzel Group is currently training a total of
sixty apprentices in 14 career fields consisting
of paper technology, mechanical engineering, industrial administration, metallurgical
technology, process control technology, office
administration, electrical engineering, wastewater technology, engineering drawing, industrial
management assistance, industrial mechanics,
chemical laboratory technology and IT. Apprenticeships with A-Level qualifications are also
offered in the commercial disciplines.
Depending upon the possibilities available at the
various locations and taking into account the
statutory job profiles, the apprentices complete
their detailed educational curricula in various
modules or specialist departments.
A POPULAR AND COMPREHENSIVE TRAINEE PROGRAM
In order to cover the increasing, expansion-related demand for qualified employees, in 2004
Heinzel Group launched a trainee program for
the identification and advancement of potential

FOCUSED MANAGERIAL TRAINING

CHRISTIAN SCHNEDL, A
TRAINEE IN PÖLS, WAS
AMONG THIS YEAR’S NOMINEES FOR THE AWARD OF
EXCELLENCE.

Up to now, a total of 93 managers have participated in the Leadership Development Program,
which was started in 2012. In particular, this
in-group training focuses on emotional intelligence and the strengthening of team building and
leadership skills. The various training modules are
accompanied by fireside chats with international
guests from the worlds of business and industry.
INTERNATIONALITY
The internationality of Heinzel Group is also
mirrored by the diversity of its employees, who
come from 37 different countries and speak 33
languages.
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HEALTH MANAGEMENT AND WORK SAFETY
Apart from the mandatory, regular support provided by occupational medicine and work safety,
every location provides differing services for the
enhancement of the physical and mental health
and fitness of our employees. These measures
include addiction prevention, presentations
regarding healthy nutrition and joint sporting
activities such as beach volleyball and business
runs, etc.

Employees

Ergonomic computer workstations are a standard feature of the equipment in our offices and
we also attach major importance to regular work
safety training. For example, at the Pöls location
a training offensive is in progress, which offers
all employees a two-day course in safe working
conduct with the aim of establishing a zero
accident culture.

Total

2,409

2,406

thereof women

Total

657

654

Total

69

56

Apprentices

Total

60

66

Average period of service
Fluctuation (leavers)

Total

11

10

Years

12.4

12.3

%

10.4

7,8

Sales revenues per employee

EUR k

754

733

EBIT per employee

EUR k

30.7

32.7

Value added per employee

EUR k

151

155

Personnel costs per employee

EUR k

55.4

56.2

Work accidents

Total

40

38

Days lost

Total

341

776

Accident frequency (LTIF)

Total of accidents per
1 million working hours

137.8

97.1

Total training expenditure

EUR k

792

905

EUR

328

376

Training expenditure per employee
1

16% < 30 YEARS
56% 30–50 YEARS
28% > 50 YEARS

20161

Part-time employees
thereof women
73% MEN
27% WOMEN

20171

Overall employee statistics based on annual averages.
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RISK MANAGEMENT
As a global player with production locations
in Europe, during its business activities
Heinzel Group is subject to a diverse set of
general and specific, industry-related risks.
Accordingly, all Heinzel Group companies possess a matrix
for risk compilation and evaluation, which is updated
annually and presented to the audit committee. The various
areas of company activity and the related disparity between
the risk focal points already result in risk distribution at group
level. In addition, increased vertical integration reduces
vulnerability to external influences. The group’s risk policy is
denoted by a conservative approach. Risk avoidance and
reduction constitute a major priority and as far as is economically acceptable, are achieved by suitable control measures and supplemented by the group’s hedging program.
One long-term risk that applies to the entire group
is a decline in the demand for graphical papers. In
this connection, the operative units work together with
Heinzel Holding on the fine-tuning of strategic policy,
in order to ensure the prolongation of sustained success. In particular, market risks emanate from general
economic developments and the political and economic
frameworks within respective national markets. In view of

the prevailing overcapacity, the pulp and paper markets
are characterized by intensive competition. Therefore, a
major uncontrollable risk is posed by price fluctuations
for the products sold, which are also subject to exchange
rate volatility. However, solid liquidity offers an adequate
buffer against such risks.
As far as sourcing is concerned, Heinzel Group’s production units are dependent upon supplies of raw materials,
which by and large consist of wood, fibers comprised
mainly of waste paper and groundwood, energy and
chemicals. The group counteracts the availability risk
by means of a professional purchasing organization that
continuously monitors the markets and is constantly
on the lookout for new and possible suppliers. In order
to attain cost optimization, during certain purchasing
procedures Heinzel Group operates in the market as a
single entity. In the trading segment, the potential loss of
a main supplier constitutes a major risk. Therefore, risk
minimization efforts in this area are focused constantly
on supplier spread.
At Heinzel Group’s industrial locations there is a risk
of production plant failure. This is accounted for by a
multifaceted insurance program, which covers the entire
group. Furthermore, plant and processes correspond

with the technological state-of-the-art and are subject to
systematic further development.
Some years ago, IT security was included in the risk
matrix as an additional operative risk. Heinzel Group
subsequently carried out thorough internal and external
system audits, and then extrapolated and implemented
improvement measures. In addition, ongoing in-house
coaching is used to raise awareness levels regarding this
type of risk.
Financial risks incorporate currency and liquidity risks.
Therefore, in order to reduce the latter to a minimum,
Heinzel Group cooperates with banks possessing good
credit ratings in both the investment and loan areas, and
ensures the sufficient availability of credit lines. Currency
and interest risks are continually monitored and either
limited or reduced by means of appropriate hedging. In
this regard the group focuses primarily on natural risk
compensation through the creation of a balance between
receivables and payables on the level of the individual subsidiaries, and the use of currency forwards and
exchange rate swap transactions. Derivative financial
instruments are neither employed for trading, nor for
speculative purposes. More detailed information on these
matters is to be found in the Notes.
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The default risk with respect to trade receivables from customers is restricted by means
of ongoing creditworthiness checks and credit
hedging for the group’s entire clientele.
At present, no immediate risks are recognizable
that could threaten the continued existence of
Heinzel Group.

RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS

Bottom-up identification of the
risks in the specialist departments at all companies

Discussion, evaluation and
definition of countermeasures
by the management of each
company

Consolidation at
group level

Definition of additional joint
safeguards at holding level

Annual discussions in
the audit committee/
supervisory board

64

HEINZEL GROUP

OUTLOOK
From a current perspective, the positive development
of the global economy should extend into 2018. All the
countries in the euro zone continue to demonstrate
economic expansion, which in some cases is quite
considerable. However, if the euro were to continue
to strengthen, this could somewhat slow the pace of
growth. Stronger growth than in 2017 is also anticipated
for the US economy, in particular due to an increase
in consumer spending triggered by sizable wage and
salary rises and company tax reform. Although China is
faced by structural problems such as high, nationalized
industry debt and overheating in the real estate sector,
the growth forecasts for 2018 remain at the optimistic
level of 2017.
Heinzel Group expects the pulp and paper markets to
remain solid with a continuation of strong demand for
packaging paper and, owing to capacity withdrawals,
good demand for graphic papers. Above all, the trend
in the pulp market will be influenced by a Chinese
government decision regarding the maintenance of its
restrictive waste paper import policy. Apart from robust
pulp demand, first and foremost this situation could
result in waste paper prices remaining at a stable level.
Price rises are expected primarily for wood, as supplies

of domestic timber are insufficient and therefore imports
are increasingly required.
The planned objectives of the individual Heinzel Group
subsidiaries in 2018 vary greatly. Following the successful restart of the converted PM10 in Laakirchen at the
end of 2017, the company’s task now is to further stabilize and optimize the process and build on the positive
containerboard market launch. In Pöls, with the building
of the PM3 another major project is on the agenda, for
which heinzelsales is to prepare the overseas market.
The pulp production capacity of our Estonian mill is to
be increased further through investments in efficiency
and an initial expansion phase, while at our mill in Raubling, 2018 will see a prolongation of the drive towards
the manufacture of special products. Europapier will
continue to implement its diversification strategy, which
may include the acquisition of additional, smaller niche
players.
Vorchdorf, 27 February 2018
The Executive Management
Kurt Maier m.p.

Barbara Potisk-Eibensteiner m.p.

CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2017
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2017
IFRS

IN EUR K
ASSETS

NOTE

2017

2016

Intangible assets

1

30,281

22,937

Tangible assets

2

518,664

447,040

Shares in associated companies

3

2,671

1,271

Shares in other companies

3

1,105

711

Other financial assets

4

17,637

14,635

Deferred tax assets

24

Non-current assets

4,183

5,403

574,541

491,997

Inventories

5

148,803

158,681

Trade and other receivables

6

340,716

349,093

Other financial assets

7

43,020

32,891

Cash and cash equivalents

8

101,374

101,842

Current assets

633,913

642,507

TOTAL ASSETS

1,208,454

1,134,504
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IN EUR K

NOTE

2017

2016

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS‘ EQUITY
Equity attributable to parent company shareholders
Share capital

3,635

3,635

Capital reserves

8,600

8,600

Other reserves

38,492

41,587

515,404

474,384

566,131

528,205

21,980

24,847

9

588,111

553,051

10

77,832

81,131

Pensions and other employee benefits

11

57,077

63,598

Deferred tax liabilities

24

4,813

4,541

Other liabilities

12

Retained earnings
Equity of non-controlling interests
Equity
Financial liabilities

9,966

11,342

149,688

160,611

14

148,978

112,567

1,293

1,913

Trade accounts payable

15

240,093

228,033

Other provisions and liabilities

16

80,291

78,329

Non-current provisions and liabilities
Financial liabilities
Tax liabilities

Current provisions and liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

470,655

420,841

1,208,454

1,134,504
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
FOR THE 2017 FINANCIAL YEAR
IFRS

IN EUR K
Sales revenues
Changes in inventories

NOTE
17
18

2017
1,816,484

2016
1,763,330

–1,594

4,724

Own work capitalized

18

2,934

1,432

Other operating income

19

12,775

28,090

Cost of materials and services

20

–1,506,394

–1,461,863

Personnel expenses

21

–133,524

–135,134

Other operating expenses

22

–64,665

–66,493

1, 2

–52,387

–55,449

73,629

78,638

Amortization of intangible and depreciation of fixed assets
Operating result (EBIT)
Interest income
Interest expenses
Dividend income
Income/expenses from the fair value recognition of derivatives
Other financial income/expenses

1,256

2,430

–5,549

–7,167

1

424

568

–972

–273

294

–3,997

–4,991

69,632

73,647

–14,648

–16,015

54,984

57,631

Parent company shareholders

51,021

53,794

Non-controlling shareholders

3,963

3,837

Financial result

23

Earnings before taxes (EBT)
Taxes on income
Earnings after taxes (net income)

24

Attributable to:
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 2017

IN EUR K
Income after taxes (net income)

IFRS

2017
54,984

2016
57,631

Items of other comprehensive income, which if necessary may
be subsequently recycled to profit and loss
Cash-flow hedge accounting

362

616

Deferred taxes on cash-flow hedges

–90

–154

–1,194

2,485

–922

2,947

AFS securities

1,785

0

Revaluation of employee benefit obligations

3,390

–4,670

Deferred taxes on liabilities from employee benefits

–806

989

Currency translation
Items of other comprehensive income, which will not
be subsequently recycled to profit and loss

4,369

–3,681

3,447

–734

58,431

56,897

Parent company shareholders

54,443

53,129

Non-controlling shareholders

3,989

3,768

Other income for the period, net
Total income for the period
Attributable to:
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT 2017
IN EUR K

NOTE

IFRS

2017

2016

69,633

73,647

–11,966

–22,047

3,996

4,991

1

424

Operating activities
Earnings before taxes
Income tax paid
Financial result, net
Dividends received
Interest received
Interest paid

1,140

2,381

–5,185

–1,481

Cash neutral income and expenses

25

47,976

50,947

Changes in working capital

25

2,834

–13,536

108,429

95,326

–259

7,424

Income from/investments in other financial assets

–13,131

17,595

Investments in intangible assets

–8,584

–1,774

Cash flow from operating activities
Investment activities
Payments for company purchases, less acquired cash
and cash equivalents

Investments in tangible assets
Cash flow from investments

–98,040

–46,839

–120,014

–23,594

–12,881

–21,686

Financing activities
Dividends
Payment for the purchase of minority interests

–8,456

0

Borrowing/repayment of current financial liabilities

35,339

–14,364

Borrowing/repayment of non-current financial liabilities
Cash flow from financing activities
Decrease/increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the year
Currency gains/losses from cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, end of the year

–3,299

–15,958

10,703

–52,009

–882

19,724

101,842

82,677

414

–559

101,374

101,842
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Equity
of noncontrolling
interests

Total
equity

Share
capital

Capital
reserves

3,635

8,600

–12,703

–1,347

–4,700

61,091

440,589

495,165

23,217

518,382

0
0

0
0

0
2,486

0
0

0
0

0
0

53,794
0

53,794
2,486

3,837
0

57,631
2,485

Hedge accounting

0

0

0

462

0

0

0

462

0

462

Actuarial gains/losses

0

0

0

0

–3,612

0

0

–3,612

–69

–3,681

Other comprehensive income
in the period, net

0

0

2,486

462

–3,612

0

0

–665

–69

–734

0

0

2,486

462

–3,612

0

53,794

53,129

3,768

56,897

Balance as at 1 January 2016
Result after taxes
(profit for the year)
Currency translation

Net result for the period

Other
reserves

Equity
attributable to
Retained parent company
earnings
shareholders

Foreign
currency
translation

IN EUR K

Revaluation of
Hedging employee benereserves
fit obligations

IFRS

Dividend payments

0

0

0

0

0

0

–20,000

–20,000

–1,686

–21,686

Other changes

0

0

0

0

10

–99

0

–90

–453

–542

3,635

8,600

–10,217

–885

–8,303

60,992

474,384

528,205

24,847

553,051

Currency translation

0
0

0
0

0
–1,194

0
0

0
0

0
0

51,021
0

51,021
–1,194

3,964
0

54,984
–1,194

Hedge accounting

0

0

0

272

0

0

0

272

0

272

AFS securities

0

0

0

0

0

1,785

0

1,785

0

1,785

Actuarial gains/losses

0

0

0

0

2,559

0

0

2,559

25

2,584

0
0

0
0

–1,194
–1,194

272
272

2,559
2,559

1,785
1,785

0
51,021

3,422
54,443

25
3,989

3,447
58,431

Dividend payments

0

0

0

0

0

0

–10,000

–10,000

–2,881

–12,881

Transactions with noncontrolling shareholders

0

0

0

0

0

–4,777

0

–4,777

–3,679

–8,456

Other changes

0

0

0

0

0

–1,739

0

–1,739

–296

–2,035

3,635

8,600

–11,411

–613

–5,744

56,261

515,404

566,131

21,980

588,111

Balance as at 31 December 2016
Result after taxes
(profit for the year)

Other comprehensive income
in the period, net
Net result for the period

Balance as at 31 December 2017

HEINZEL GROUP

72

NOTES

TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2017

A. GENERAL INFORMATION
For the 2017 financial year, Heinzel Holding GmbH has prepared consolidated financial statements in accordance
with the current International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted in the EU, and the interpretations of
the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC, formerly Standing Interpretations Committee/
SIC). These consolidated financial statements meet the requirements for a consolidated financial statement with discharging effect pursuant to §245a of the Austrian Commercial Code (UGB). Heinzel Holding GmbH is headquartered
in Austria at Einsiedlinger Strasse 47, 4655 Vorchdorf. The main shareholder of Heinzel Holding GmbH is Heinzel
EMACS Beteiligungs AG. Heinzel Holding GmbH and its subsidiaries are engaged in the manufacture and trading
of pulp and paper products and board worldwide. The preparation of the consolidated financial statements was
completed subject to the premise of the continued operation of the enterprise. The principle of materiality was applied
to reporting and the summary of individual items in the balance sheet, comprehensive income statement, cash flow
statement, and the statement of changes in equity.
The consolidated financial statements of Heinzel Holding GmbH, Vorchdorf, (Heinzel Group) are prepared in euros
(= the functional currency of the parent company) and unless otherwise stated, all the figures reported are in thousands of euros.
As in the previous reporting period of 2016, the reporting period for 2017 comprises a full financial year of twelve months.
The individual financial statements for 2017 are published in accordance with the applicable legal requirements.
CHANGES TO ACCOUNTING AND VALUATION METHODS AND REPORTING
The following amendments or new versions of standards were employed for the first time in the 2017 financial year
During the preparation of the consolidated financial statements, the following amendments to existing IAS, IFRS and
interpretations, as well as newly issued standards and interpretations were observed, where these were published in
the Official Gazette of the European Union by 8 February 2018 and came into force prior to this date:

Standard

Content

IAS 12

Amendments to IAS 12 “Income Taxes”: Clarification of the question
regarding recognition of deferred tax assets on temporary differences
for unrealized losses

Effective as from
January 2017

IAS 7

Amendments to IAS 7 “Statement of Cash Flows” Disclosure Initiative

January 2017

AIP 2014–2016

Amendments to IFRS 12 “Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities”

January 2017

Where individually applicable, the listed standards have been employed in these financial statements. The amendments to IAS 7 lead to additional disclosures for the group. The amendments to IAS 12 and changes to IFRS 12 did
not give rise to any material changes in the presentation of the asset, financial and earnings positions.
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STANDARDS, INTERPRETATIONS AND AMENDMENTS TO PUBLISHED STANDARDS, WHICH WERE NOT YET BINDING IN 2017 AND WERE
NOT EMPLOYED PREMATURELY
The following standards and interpretations were introduced or amended by 8 February 2018, but were not yet
binding for the 2017 financial year. Early application is not foreseen.
Standard

Content

Effective as from

IFRS 9

Financial Instruments

January 2018

IFRS 15

Revenue from Contracts with Customers

January 2018

IFRS 15

Clarification of “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”

January 2018

IFRS 16

Leases

January 2019

IFRS 4

Application of IFRS 9 together with IFRS 4

January 2018

AIP 2014–2016
(IFRS 1, IAS 28)

Amendments to IFRS 1 “First-time Adoption of International Financial
Reporting Standards” and IAS 28 “Investments in Associates and Joint
Ventures”

January 2018

Not adopted and
applicable from

Standard

Content

IFRS 2

Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions

January 2018

IAS 40

Transfers of Investment Property

January 2018

IFRIC 22

Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration

January 2018

IFRS 9

Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation

January 2019

IAS 28

Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures

January 2019

AIP 2015–2017

Amendments to and Clarification of various IFRS

January 2019

IFRIC 23

Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

January 2019

IFRS 17

Insurance Contracts

IFRS 14

Regulatory Deferral Accounts

IAS 28
IFRS 10

Investments in Associates/Consolidated Financial Statements: sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and an associate or joint
venture

Postponed
indefinitely

IAS 19

Amendments to IAS 19: Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement

January 2019

January 2021
Awaiting the final
IFRS standard
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STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ALREADY ADOPTED BY THE EU, BUT NOT APPLIED EARLY
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
In July 2014, the International Accounting Standards Board issued the final version of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments.
This standard replaces the sections of IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”, dealing with
the classification and measurement of financial instruments.
IFRS 9 will initially become mandatory for the reporting of financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2018,
whereby early adoption is permitted. The group will first use IFRS 9 on 1 January 2018.
As yet, Heinzel Group has not concluded a detailed analysis of IFRS 9 and is therefore unable to give a reliable estimate of the effects of the application of the standard on the consolidated financial statements for 2018. Nonetheless,
the group has completed a provisional assessment of the possible impact of the application of IFRS 9 on the basis of
its items as at 31 December 2017.
A) CLASSIFICATION – FINANCIAL ASSETS
IFRS 9 contains a new approach to the classification and measurement of financial assets, which mirrors both the
business model within which financial assets are retained and the characteristics of their cash flows.
IFRS 9 incorporates three important classification categories for financial assets:
»» Measured at amortized cost
»» Measured at fair value with gains and losses recognized through profit and loss (FVTPL)
»» Measured at fair value with gains and losses recognized in other comprehensive income (FVOCI)
Pursuant to IFRS 9, derivatives embedded in contracts that are based on a financial asset that falls within the scope
of application of the standard may never be recognized separately. Instead, the hybrid financial instrument will be
assessed overall in line with its classification.
On the basis of its preliminary assessment, the group is of the opinion that if applied on 31 December 2017, the new
classification requirements would not have a material impact upon the reporting of its trade receivables, loans, or the
bond and equity securities that are controlled at fair value.
B) IMPAIRMENT – FINANCIAL ASSETS
IFRS 9 replaces the incurred losses impairment model contained in IAS 39 with a forward-looking, expected losses
model. This will require considerable discretionary decisions with regard to the question as to the extent to which
the anticipated loan losses will be influenced by shifts in economic factors. This estimation will be determined on the
basis of weighted probabilities.
The new impairment model will be applied to bonds measured at amortized cost, or at fair value with no effect upon
the income statement, leasing receivables, trade receivables, contractual assets (as defined by IFRS 15) and loan
commitments and financial guarantees not measured at fair value through profit and loss, with the exception of equity
securities held as financial assets.
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Pursuant to IFRS 9, impairments will be measured on the basis of one of the following principles:
»» 12-month expected loss: for financial instruments that have not been subject to a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, a company must make a provision to the amount of the loan defaults that are anticipated
within the next twelve months.
»» Lifetime expected loss: for financial instruments that have been subject to a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a company must make a provision to the amount of the loan defaults that are anticipated during
the expected life of the financial instrument.
A company can determine that the credit risk of a financial instrument has not risen significantly when the asset
demonstrates a low credit risk on the balance sheet date. However, measurement according to the concept of lifetime
expected loss is always to be applied to trade receivables and contractual assets without a material financing component. A company may also apply this method to trade receivables and contractual assets with a material financing
component.
The group is currently assessing the measurement effects. A significant part of the group’s receivables (66%) is covered by credit insurance pursuant to internal regulations. Therefore, the group’s receivable defaults and impairments
have historically been very low. The same is also to be expected for existing receivables in the future. The group
currently holds no receivables with financing components and leasing receivables. Hence, it may be assumed that no
material effects will result from accounting pursuant to IFRS 9. The assessment and documentation of an expected
credit loss has not been completed yet. However, the amount will not be material.
C) CLASSIFICATION – FINANCIAL DEBTS
IFRS 9 largely retains the existing IAS 39 stipulations for the classification of financial debts.
However, pursuant to IAS 39 all changes to the fair value of debts determined for measurement at fair value with value
changes recognized in profit and loss, are recognized in profit and loss, whereas pursuant to IFRS 9, these changes in
fair value are basically reported as follows:
»» The change in fair value that can be traced to shifts in the credit risk of the debt are recognized in other
comprehensive income.
»» The remaining change in fair value is recognized in profit or loss.
The group has no financial debts that are measured at fair value and recognized in profit or loss and therefore does
not intend to adopt this method at present. The sub-group’s preliminary assessment does not point to any material
effects resulting from the application of the requirements of IFRS 9 regarding the classification of financial debts as at
31 December 2017.
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D) HEDGE ACCOUNTING
During the initial application of IFRS 9, the group has the right to choose to continue to apply the accounting regulations contained in IAS 39 for hedging transactions instead of the requirements of IFRS 9. At present, the group
intends to apply the new hedge requirements introduced by IFRS 9.
IFRS 9 is intended to provide useful information regarding the effects of company risk management activities. In
future, a risk management strategy will represent a prerequisite for recognition as a hedge relationship.
The group employs forward exchange transactions for the hedging of fluctuations in the payment flow derived from
shifts in the exchange rates used for the taking of loans, receivables, sales and purchases. In addition, Europapier
Group holds an interest swap in order to hedge the interest rate change risk relating to longer-term, variable bank loans.
The group measures hedging transactions at fair value. The current value of forward exchange transactions is recognized directly through profit or loss and is not recorded as part of hedge accounting. In line with the hedge accounting rules, the result from the measurement of interest swaps is held in a reserve.
The group’s provisional assessment indicates that the types of hedge accounting that it employs at present should
meet the requirements of IFRS 9. In addition, a treasury policy is already in use throughout the entire Heinzel Group,
which means that a solid set of rules has been implemented with regard to risk management strategy and objectives.
Nonetheless, Heinzel Group will again subject these rules to thorough scrutiny with regard to the requirements of
IFRS 9 and if necessary undertake corresponding amendments.
E) REPORTING
IFRS 9 requires new and extensive reporting, particularly with respect to hedging transactions, credit risk and anticipated loan defaults. The group is currently in the process of both defining any missing information and data, and
adapting and enlarging the corresponding documentation for the required reporting.
F) TRANSITION
As a rule, the changes in accounting methods emanating from the application of IFRS 9 are to be applied with retroactive effect, except in the following cases:
»» The group intends to use the exception that permits it to refrain from adjusting comparative information for previous
periods regarding changes to classifications and measurement (including impairment). Basically, differences
between the carrying values of financial assets and financial debts arising from the application of IFRS 9 will be
recognized in the retained earnings and other reserves as at 1 January 2018.
»» In general, new accounting regulations for hedging transactions are to be applied prospectively.
»» The following judgements are to be made on the basis of the facts and circumstances existing at the time of initial
application:
– Determination of the business model within the framework of which a financial asset will be held
– Determination and the revocation of earlier rules governing certain financial assets and debts that will be
measured as FVTPL
– Determination of certain equity securities as FVOCI, which are retained as financial assets but not held for trading.
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IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” regulates revenue recognition and thus replaces IAS 11 “Construction Contracts”, IAS 18 “Revenue”, SIC 31 “Revenue – Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services”,
IFRIC 13 “Customer Loyalty Programmes”, IFRIC 15 “Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate” and IFRIC 18
“Transfers of Assets from Customers”. The objective of IFRS 15 is to create principles that companies must apply
when reporting useful information to users of financial statements about the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty
of revenue and cash flows arising from a contract with a customer. IFRS 15 stipulates that a company report revenues
when the customer has obtained the control and can make use of the agreed goods and services. The new standard
prescribes a five-stage model for the determination of the realized sales revenues and IFRS 15 also contains numerous reporting obligations with respect to the type, amount, accrual and uncertainty of sales revenues and the payment
flows resulting from customer orders.
The group intends to adopt the new standard applying the modified retrospective method. As a result, the cumulative effects at the time of initial application are recognized in retained earnings and the comparative figures are not
adjusted.
The management assessed the effects of the application of the new standard on the group and did not identify any
significant contracts leading to a change in the recognition of the contracts. Therefore, no material effects on the
consolidated financial statements are expected.
Clarifications to IFRS 15 „Revenue from Contracts with Customers”
In the clarification to IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”, the explanations and examples relating to
the following areas are revised and new examples are included:
»» Identifying performance obligations and clarifying separability within the context of the contract;
Under IFRS 15.29 the clarification has been added that the assessment of whether individual goods or services in a
contract at the time the contract is concluded are distinct performance obligations pursuant to IFRS 15.27(b) must
be based on the “nature of promise”.
»» Classification as principal or agent;
The clarification emphasizes that a company acts as a principal if it controls the specific goods or services before
they are transferred to the customer, while it must be classified as an agent if it only acts as an agent for the provision through a third party. This classification determines whether the revenue has to be reported on a gross basis
(principal) or in the form of a commission and therefore on a net basis (agent). To clarify how to assess whether a
company controls goods or services before a transfer to the customer, amendments are made to the application
guidance of IFRS 15.B34–B38 and further examples explaining the issue will be included in the standard.
»» Revenue from licenses;
IFRS 15.B59A clarifies that the activities of the licensors have a significant impact on the intellectual property
underlying the contract if either: these activities are expected to significantly change the form (e.g. design) or the
functionality of the intellectual property or the ability of the customer to obtain benefit from the intellectual property
is substantially derived from, or dependent upon, those activities (e.g. trademarks).
»» Pursuant to IFRS 15.B63, revenue from revenue-based or usage-based licensing fees for intellectual property is to
be recognized at the later of the two following points in time: actual sale or fulfillment of the performance obligation. IFRS 15.B63A and B63B clarify that this rule can also be applied when the revenue-based or usage-based
licensing fee is paid for several performance obligations (hybrid service bundle), but primarily for the licensing of the
intellectual property and the intellectual property therefore characterizes the service bundle.
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»» Relief for initial application.
It is clarified that in the retrospective application of IFRS 15 contracts for which the company has already fulfilled
all performance obligations at the beginning of the earliest period presented need not be restated. Furthermore,
it is sufficient for contracts that were modified before the beginning of the earliest period presented to reflect the
aggregate effect of all modifications that occur before the earliest period presented when identifying performance
obligations that have been fulfilled or are outstanding and determining the transaction price. Consequently, these
contracts need not be completely restated. If the modified retrospective application of IFRS 15 is used, entities may
also apply this relief to all contract modifications made before the beginning of the initial application period.
No material effects on the consolidated financial statements are expected.
IFRS 16 “Leases” sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases in
financial reports. For the lessee the standard prescribes a single accounting model. This requires the lessee to recognize all the assets and liabilities from lease agreements with a term of twelve months or more, unless the underlying
asset is of low value. This simplification creates a right of choice. For accounting purposes, the lessor must continue
to classify its leases as operating or finance agreements. In this regard, the accounting model contained in IFRS 16
does not differ materially from that of IAS 17.
Primarily, the standard will have an effect upon the accounting of the group’s operating-leasing relationships. On the
balance sheet date, Heinzel Group disposed over non-cancelable operating leasing obligations amounting to EUR
28,620k. However, as yet the group has not determined the extent to which these obligations will result in the capitalization of an asset and the recognition of liabilities, or the related effects upon consolidated net profits and cash flow
classification.
Some of the obligations can be intercepted by the exemption clauses for short-term leasing relationships and low-value assets as leasing items. Conversely, others can relate to agreements, which pursuant to IFRS 16 do not fall into the
category of leasing relationships.
With respect to multi-component contracts, individual lease and non-lease components must generally be separated
and accounted for separately pursuant to IFRS 16. While the obligation to separate components has so far hardly
been relevant in practice, especially for operating leases due to their off-balance sheet nature, significant effects on
balance sheet figures may result for the group as a lessee as part of the on-balance accounting pursuant to IFRS 16.
The separation of on-balance sheet leasing components and off-balance service component thus gains additional
significance for the group under IFRS 16. If several components meet the leasing definition, the accounting rules of
IFRS 16 must be applied to each separately identifiable component and must generally be presented separately from
non-leasing components. The effects of the changes still have to be analyzed.
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However, the lessee may elect not to account for lease and non-lease components separately. This option may be
exercised uniformly by class of underlying assets. If this option is elected, the lease and non-lease components can
be combined and accounted for as a lease component pursuant to IFRS 16. In contrast, the separation of the individual contract components is mandatory for the lessor, i.e. the lessor may not elect not to apply the separation since
detailed knowledge of the individual components is presumed for the lessor in order to execute appropriate (individual) pricing. The allocation of the consideration received to the contract components is to be made in accordance with
the provisions of revenue recognition in IFRS 15.73–15.90 (IFRS 16.17). Pursuant to IFRS 15 the allocation of the
transaction price to the separate leasing obligations is based on their relative stand-alone selling prices. To determine
the stand-alone selling price, the market price should be used. If a stand-alone price is not directly observable, an
estimate can be made.
However, the group has not yet assessed which further adjustments may be required, for example due to a change
of the definition of the term of the lease, different treatment of variable lease payments as well as extension and termination options. It is therefore not possible yet to estimate the extent of the rights of use and corresponding leasing
liabilities to be recognized at the time of the first-time application of the new standard and the effect on consolidated
net profits and cash flow classification.
At present, the group does not intend to apply the standard early. The group plans to apply the relief provisions and
not to state comparative values for the previous period.
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AIP 2014–2016 (IFRS 1, IAS 28)
The Annual Improvements of the IFRS (cycle 2014-2016) published on 8 December 2016 include amendments to
the following IFRS standards, which have been adopted by the EU, but were not applied early:
»» IFRS 1 “First-time Adoption International Financial Reporting Standards”: based on this amendment, short-term
exemptions related to the transitional provisions of IFRS 7, IAS 19 and IFRS 10 for first-time adopters were deleted.
These provisions were available to companies for past reporting periods and are therefore no longer applicable.
»» IAS 28 “Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures”
»» Pursuant to IAS 28, venture capital organizations, investment funds, unit trusts or similar companies may elect to
measure their investments in associates or joint ventures at fair value through profit or loss in accordance with IFRS
9. It is explicitly clarified that this election must be made separately for each associate or joint venture upon initial
recognition.
At present, no material effects on the group’s asset, financial and earnings position are expected.
Standards and interpretations not yet adopted by the EU
From a current perspective, the other new versions and amendments to the rules listed above will not result in any
material changes to the group’s asset, financial and earnings position.

B. CONSOLIDATION PRINCIPLES
SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the company and the financial statements
of the companies controlled by the parent company as at 31 December of each year. Control is deemed to exist if the
company is exposed to fluctuating returns from its involvement with the company, or is entitled to these and has the
ability to affect these returns through its power over the affiliated company.
Such control is presupposed with a stockholding in excess of 50%.
The consolidation of an affiliated company commences on the day upon which the investor gains control of the company and ends when this is lost.
The following changes to the scope of consolidation occurred during the 2017 financial year.

Incoming company
Green Recycling s.r.o., Cukrovarská

Initial consolidation date
August 2017
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Acquisition of Green Recycling s.r.o.
With effect from 20 July 2017 (closing), 100% of the stocks Green Recycling s.r.o, which is based in Cukrovarská,
Slovakia, were purchased.
Our Czech subsidiary Austrian Recycling provided valuable support in the establishment and development of Green
Recycling in Slovakia and was granted an option agreement in return which provides for a 100% takeover of Green
Recycling within a maximum of ten years at a fixed purchase price in the amount of the initial contribution.
In 2017, Austrian Recycling exercised this option and integrated Green Recycling into Heinzel Group as a subsidiary.
Since the company’s business activities developed positively, the company value increased substantially in comparison with the initial contribution and resulted in badwill when the purchase transaction was effected.
The following overview presents a picture of the identified assets and debts of the individual companies taken over on
the initial date of acquisition:
Green Recycling s.r.o.

In EUR k
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Current liabilities and provisions
Purchased net assets

IFRS carrying values

Adjustments

Acquired fair values

460

0

460

55

0

55

423

0

423

92

0

92

Acquired net assets

–

–

92

Purchase price paid

–

–

9

Badwill

–

–
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The IFRS carrying values correspond with the fair values prior to the purchase of stocks by Heinzel Group. The adjustments column contains those amounts that were necessary for the determination of the acquired fair values. The
purchase of the Green Recycling s.r.o. shares resulted in badwill of EUR 83k from capital consolidation, which was
recognized entirely through profit or loss in other operating income.
The badwill emanated from capital consolidation owing to the fact that at the time of the company merger, the purchase price of the acquisition was lower than the value of pro rata equity.
The total purchase price for the company acquired amounted to EUR 9k and was paid in full in August 2017. Cash
and cash equivalents of EUR 55k were also acquired through the company purchase.
The purchase of Green Recycling s.r.o. resulted in the acquisition of trade receivables with a fair value of EUR 375k
and other receivables with a fair value of EUR 81k. Probable bad debts are non-material.

82

HEINZEL GROUP

Business combinations in Europapier Group
During the 2017 financial year, the expansion of the hygiene business segment resulted in the following Europapier
Group purchases of business areas and companies:
In Croatia, a business was acquired through the payment of a purchase price of EUR 264k, of which EUR 234k were
allocated to the right of exclusive market development for the next five years and the remaining amount to inventories
and assets at fair value. No goodwill was identified in the purchase price allocation.
100% of shares of Tykvart s.r.o. in the Czech Republic were acquired as of 4 January 2017 through the payment of a
purchase price of EUR 305k (CZK 8,245k). In general, the purchase price paid resulted in the acquisition of inventories, assets, rights and the company customer base. No goodwill was identified during the purchase price allocation.
Subsequently, the main assets of the company were acquired by Europapier Bohemia, spol. s.r.o. in the course of the
financial year. In December 2017, 100% of the shares in Tykvart s.r.o. were sold.
Further disclosures regarding expansion in the hygiene business segment are not made owing to immateriality.
The scope of consolidation as at 31 December 2017, including Heinzel Holding GmbH as the parent company, consisted of 44 fully consolidated companies (2016: 43), and no companies consolidated at equity (2016: 0).
The scope of consolidation of Heinzel Holding GmbH is presented on the final pages of these Notes under the Item
“Scope of consolidation of Heinzel Holding GmbH”.
Certain companies remained unconsolidated owing to the fact that their business results were not considered to be
material to the consolidated financial statements. These companies are listed under the Item “Non-consolidated
subsidiaries and associated companies”.
Transactions with non-controlling interests without loss of control
Transactions with non-controlling interests without loss of control are recognized as transactions with the owners of
the group acting in their ownership capacity. A difference between the fair value of the paid amount and the acquired
share of the carrying value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired during the purchase of a non-controlling
interest is recognized as equity. Profits and losses resulting from a sale to non-controlling interests are also recognized
as equity. In the past financial year, there were two such transactions. On the one hand, 10% of the shares in Wilfried
Heinzel AG were repurchased; on the other hand, a 50% share purchase of EU-RO Handelsgesellschaft m.b.H was
carried out.
In April 2017, 10% of the shares in Wilfried Heinzel AG, Vienna, were repurchased from Mr. Andrew Paul at a purchase price of EUR 7,211k.
In July 2017, the remaining non-controlling interests in EU-RO Handelsgesellschaft m.b.H., Frastanz, in the amount
of 50% of the shares were acquired. A purchase price of EUR 1,245k was paid for the non-controlling interests.
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Interests in associated companies
An associated company is a company that is neither subject to full nor joint control, but upon which the group can
exert significant influence by means of participation in its financial and business decision-making processes. As a
rule, an affiliation exists when 20 to 50% of voting rights are held.
Associated companies are accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method (IAS 28).
Interests in associated companies are reported in the balance sheet at the cost of acquisition, which is adjusted for
changes in the group’s share of net assets after the acquisition date, as well as for losses resulting from impairment.
Losses that exceed the group’s interests in associated companies are included to the extent that legal or de facto
obligations exist.
Where the initial costs of the acquisition of the company exceed the full fair value of the group’s interest in the
identifiable fixed assets and debts of the associated company on the date of acquisition, the difference is shown as
goodwill. If the initial costs of the acquisition of the company are less than the full fair value of the group’s interest in
the identifiable fixed assets and debts on the date of acquisition, the difference is recognized in the income statement
in the period when the acquisition took place.
On every closing date, the group carries out an examination in order to ascertain if there are any indications that the
investment in an associated company is subject to impairment. Should this be the case, the impairment requirement
is determined as the difference between the investment carrying value of the associated company and the corresponding attainable amount, and recognized separately in the income statement.
Unrealized gains or losses from up- and downstream transactions between group companies and an associated company are only to be recognized in the consolidated financial statements in line with the interest of third parties in the
associated company. Unrealized losses are eliminated unless the transaction shows indications that an impairment
of the transferred assets exists. Where necessary, the accounting and measurement methods are adjusted in order to
guarantee uniform accounting and measurement throughout the group.
Dilution gains and losses resulting from the interests in associated companies are recognized through profit and loss.
Interests in associated companies that do not have a material influence on the consolidated financial statements are
not included in the scope of consolidation at equity, but instead, in line with IAS 39, as available-for-sale securities.
Fair value changes were recognized in equity without affecting profit or loss.
Subsidiary consolidation method
Subsidiaries are all companies over which the group exerts control. The group has control over an associate when
it has the power of disposition over the company, a risk burden or rights to financial returns exist as a result of its
involvement in the associate, and the ability to use its power of disposition over the subsidiary in such a manner
that this will influence the amount of the variable financial returns of the subsidiary. Consolidation of the associate
commences on the day that the group takes control of the company. It ends when the group loses control of the
associate. Purchased subsidiaries are recognized in line with the acquisition method. The costs of the purchase
correspond with the fair value of the transferred assets, the equity instruments issued and the debts resulting or
assumed upon the transaction date. Costs relating to the company acquisition are recognized as an expense in the
periods in which they occur.
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Capital consolidation occurs at the time of acquisition through the netting of the purchase price against the fair value
of the net assets of the acquired company. The identifiable assets, liabilities, and contingent liabilities of subsidiaries
are recognized at full fair value regardless of any non-controlling interest. Intangible assets are capitalized separately
from goodwill if they are separable from the enterprise, or result from a statutory, contractual, or other legal right. Remaining positive differences are recognized in the balance sheet as goodwill. If there are negative differences, these
are recognized as earnings only after a revaluation of the identifiable assets, liabilities, and contingent liabilities of the
acquired company and an assessment of the acquisition costs.
Intercompany receivables and liabilities, expenditure and income, as well as intercompany profits, are eliminated
unless they are of minor importance.

C. CURRENCY TRANSLATION WITHIN THE GROUP
The consolidated financial statements are prepared in euros, which is the reporting currency of Heinzel Group. Where
the functional currency used for international financial statements differs from the reporting currency of the group,
translation takes place in accordance with the concept of the modified closing date method. Balance sheet items are
translated using the respective mid-rate as at the closing date. The income statements of the consolidated foreign
subsidiaries are translated using the mean rates of exchange for the respective period. Any differences resulting from
currency translation related to the pro rata share of equity are reported under shareholders’ equity without affecting
net income. Should a foreign subsidiary be deconsolidated, the currency translation differences are recognized as
profit and loss.
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency at the exchanges rates on the transaction date.
Assets and debts in foreign currencies are translated into the group currency at the mean exchange rate on the
reporting closing date. In the case of exchange rate hedging, the hedged rate is employed. Gains and losses resulting
from foreign currency valuation are recognized as profit or loss.
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D. ACCOUNTING AND VALUATION PRINCIPLES
GENERAL
With the exception of derivative financial instruments and securities, which are valued at fair value, the consolidated
financial statements are prepared on the basis of historical acquisition and production costs.

INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS
Intangible fixed assets are valued at the acquisition cost and depreciated as scheduled using the straight-line method,
assuming a depreciation period of three to twenty years.

GOODWILL
Goodwill is created during the acquisition of subsidiaries and is constituted by the surplus difference between the
agreed purchase price and the acquired identifiable assets, the assumed debts and all non-controlling interests of the
purchased company, as well as the fair value of its existing equity. Should the purchase costs of the acquired subsidiary be lower than net assets measured at fair value, the resulting difference will be recognized directly as comprehensive income under other operating income.

CONCESSIONS AND RIGHTS
The acquisition costs for computer software, commercial rights and similar rights are capitalized and subject to
straight-line amortization over their standard useful life. On average, the expenses for electronic software programs
are amortized over a period of four to five years. In the group, licenses and patents demonstrate an amortization
period of around three years.

TANGIBLE ASSETS
Tangible assets are valued at acquisition or production cost, less scheduled amortization, which is calculated by
applying the straight-line method, and impairments. In the 2017 financial year, no tangible asset impairments were
recognized with the exception of non-scheduled depreciation amounting to EUR 2,560k in Estonia.
Subsequent additional acquisition and production costs are only recognized as part of the acquisition or production
costs of the asset, or where appropriate as a separate asset, when it is probable that the group will accrue a future
economic benefit as a result and the costs can be reliably determined. The carrying value of the part replaced is
written off.
Expenses for repairs and maintenance that do not represent material replacement investments are recognized in the
income statement during the financial year in which they are incurred.
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A difference between the gains from the sale of plant and the carrying value is reported as a gain or loss under the
result from operating activities.
For depreciable tangible assets, the following expected useful lives are assumed:

Buildings including buildings on third-party property
Plant and machinery
Other fixed assets, tools and equipment

15 to 50 years
5 to 20 years
5 to 8 years

BORROWING COSTS
In accordance with IAS 23, borrowing costs that can be attributed directly to the purchase, construction or production of a qualified asset are capitalized as part of the cost of acquisition or production of this asset until all the work
required for the use of the created asset for its intended purpose or sale has been largely completed. During the determination of the amount of the capitalized borrowing costs in a certain period, all the plant earnings obtained from
the financial investment that were temporarily invested for the qualified asset up to the point of use are deducted from
the borrowing costs incurred.
During the 2017 financial year, the criteria for a qualified asset were not fulfilled for any recognized asset in the group
and accordingly no capitalization of borrowing costs was undertaken.
Other borrowing costs are recognized as an expense in the period in which they occur.

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS
Goodwill and other intangible assets with an undetermined useful life are subjected to an impairment test at least
once a year, or when indications of value impairment exist. All other assets and cash-generating units are tested
should there be any indications of value impairment.
For impairment testing, assets are grouped on the lowest level generating independent cash flow (cash-generating
unit). Goodwill is allocated to those cash-generating units that are expected to provide benefits from synergies derived
from the related business purchase and that represent the lowest level within the group at which management monitors the related cash flows.
An impairment loss is recognized to the amount by which the carrying value of the individual asset or the cash-generating unit exceeds the recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s net selling price
and the value in use. Impairment losses recognized for cash-generating units, to which goodwill is allocated, primarily
reduce the carrying value of goodwill. Any additional impairment losses reduce the carrying value of the other assets
in the cash-generating unit on a pro rata basis.
With the exception of goodwill, a reversal of an impairment loss is recognized in the event of a reversal of previously
recognized impairment indicators.
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GOVERNMENT GRANTS
In accordance with IAS 20, government grants are only recognized at fair value when reasonable assurance exists
that the entity will comply with any conditions attached to the grant and that it will be received. Grants are basically
recognized as income over the period necessary to match them with the costs for which they are intended to compensate. Where grants are received for the purchase or production of assets, the amounts are deferred and recognized as
a reduction of the depreciation of the related asset for the useful service life of the asset.

INVENTORIES
Own products and goods are valued at the lower of the acquisition or production costs and the net realizable value.
The net realizable value is the estimated selling price less estimated costs of completion and necessary selling costs.
Raw materials, supplies, and operating materials are valued using sliding average prices. In addition to direct material
and labor costs, group products include an appropriate proportion of material and production overheads (based on
normal operational capacity). The costs of acquisition and production do not contain any borrowing costs.
The standard prices for own products is determined in accordance with the FIFO principle.

EMISSION ALLOWANCES
Allowances allocated for free are capitalized at the value at the date of the allocation and recognized under current
assets. Emission allowances acquired for a consideration are recorded at cost under current assets and measured
at fair value at the balance sheet date (however, limited to acquisition costs). Surplus and expected use of emission
allowances is presented under other liabilities.
Other liabilities include provision for CO2 emission allowances in case of underallocation. The measurement is based
on the closing date rate (or the carrying value) of the allowances.

FINANCIAL ASSETS
Upon initial recognition, financial assets are to be reported at fair value. Initial recognition takes place on the date of
the trading day.
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Financial assets reported at fair value through profit and loss are financial assets that are retained for trading purposes. A financial asset is allocated to this category when it was purchased with the principal intention of a short-term
sale. Assets in this category are reported as current assets if the realization of the asset value is anticipated within
twelve months. All other assets are classified as non-current.
Changes in the current value of financial assets, which are recognized at fair value, are recognized as profit and loss.
Unless they qualify as hedges, derivatives with a positive current value belong to the sub-category of the financial
assets held for trading purposes.
Loans and receivables represent non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
listed in an active market. Trade and other receivables belong to this category.
The valuation of this category takes place at amortized cost. Long-term financial assets in this category are valued
using the effective interest method. Recognizable risks are accounted for by means of valuation discounts. These
impairments are recognized as profit and loss.
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that have been defined as available-for- sale or
cannot be classified as belonging to any of the other categories. Valuation takes place at fair value, whereby current
value changes are reported as “Other comprehensive income”. In the case of objective indications of impairment,
losses recognized under equity are removed and recognized through profit or loss. Reversals of equity instrument
impairments are not recognized. Such changes to financial instruments are recognized through profit or loss as value
recovery.
Interests in companies, which for reasons of materiality are either not fully consolidated, or are consolidated at equity,
are allocated to this category.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents include cash, demand deposits, and other short-term, highly liquid financial assets that
are available at any time such as assets at banks with a maximum original maturity of three months.
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HEDGING RELATIONSHIPS
The reporting of changes in the fair value of derivatives is dependent upon if and how hedging instruments have been
designated. The group designates certain financing instruments as hedging against the risks derived from payment
flows (cash flow hedge), which are linked to a recognized asset or liability, or an anticipated future transaction that is
highly likely to occur.
Upon the conclusion of the transaction, the group documents the hedging relationship between the hedging instrument and the basic transaction, the objective of its risk management, and the strategy underlying the conclusion
of hedging transactions. In addition, an estimate as to whether the derivatives used in the hedging relationship can
compensate highly effectively for the changes in fair value or cash flow is documented at the beginning of the hedging
transaction and subsequently on an ongoing basis.
The effective part of changes to the fair value of derivatives, which are foreseen for cash flow hedging and can be
designated as a cash flow hedge, is reported as “Other comprehensive income”. Conversely, the ineffective part of
such value changes is recognized directly as profit and loss. Amounts recognized as equity are transferred to profit
and loss and recognized as income or expense during the period in which the basic hedged transaction is recognized
(e.g. on the date at which a hedged future sale takes place). However, should a hedged future transaction result in
the recognition of a non-financial asset (e.g. inventories or tangible assets) or a non-financial liability, the gains or
losses previously recognized as equity are included in the initial valuation of the acquisition or production costs of the
asset or the liability.

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Upon initial recognition, financial liabilities are reported at fair value and measured following the deduction of the
transaction costs. Subsequently, other financial liabilities are measured with the amortized and the incidental acquisition costs.
Financial liabilities reported at fair value through profit and loss are financial instruments that are retained for
trading purposes.
Changes in the current value of financial liabilities, which are classified at fair value through profit and loss are recognized in the income statement.
Unless they qualify as hedges, derivatives with a negative current value belong to the sub-category of the financial
assets held for trading purposes.
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NETTING OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Financial assets and liabilities are only netted and reported in the balance sheet as a net amount when a legal right to
netting exists and the intention is to achieve an offset on a net basis, or realize the affected asset and settle the related
liability simultaneously. A legal claim to netting may not depend upon a future event and must be implementable both
in the course of normal business, as well as in the case of a default, insolvency or bankruptcy.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Within the group, various plans exist for payments to employees due in the long term.

PENSIONS, OBLIGATIONS SIMILAR TO PENSIONS AND SEVERANCE PAYMENTS
A defined contribution plan is a plan under which the group pays fixed amounts to a non-group company or corporate
body. The group is under no legal or de facto obligation to make additional payments should the fund have insufficient assets in order to meet all the employee claims derived from the current and previous financial years. A defined
contribution plan is not a performance-related plan.
Typically, performance-oriented plans establish a pension sum that the employee will receive upon retirement, which
as a rule is dependent upon one or more factors (such as age, period of service and remuneration). Included among
the performance-oriented plans are the severance payments to be made in Austria to employees, whose employment
relationship commenced prior to 1 January 2003.
The provision made in the balance sheet for performance-oriented plans corresponds with the cash value of the
defined benefit obligation (DBO) on the closing date less the fair value of the plan assets.
An independent actuary calculates the DBO annually by means of the projected unit credit method. The cash value
is established through the discounting of the anticipated future cash outflows with the interest rate for top credit-rated
corporate bonds. The corporate bonds are in the currency of the payment amounts and have maturities in line with
the pension obligations.
Actuarial gains and losses, based on experience-related adjustments and changes to actuarial assumptions are recognized as equity in the period in which they occur in the “Other comprehensive income”.
Service costs and past service costs are recognized immediately as personnel expenses.
Increases in provisions derived purely from compounding are recognized under profit and loss as interest expenses.
In the case of defined contribution plans, the group makes payments to public or private insurance plans on a legal,
contractual or voluntary basis. The group has no payment obligations above and beyond the contribution payments.
When due, the amounts are recognized as personnel expenses.
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OTHER LONG-TERM EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Other long-term payments to employees include long-term, paid leave of absence such as special leave following long
service or leave for personal further training, long-service bonuses and other related payments. As opposed to the accounting prescribed for payments made following the termination of the working relationship, revaluations of the net
debt (or net assets) are not recognized as “Other income”, but as an expense or income, as is the case with service
costs and net interest on the net debt (or net assets).

PROVISIONS
Provisions are formed when the group (a) has a current legal or de facto obligation resulting from a prior event, (b)
it is more likely than not that the settlement of the obligation will result in an asset burden and (c) the amount of the
provision could be reliably determined.
Provisions are measured using the cash value of the anticipated expense, whereby a pre-tax interest rate is established that accounts for current market expectations regarding the interest effects and the specific risks relating to the
obligation. Increases in provisions derived purely from compounding are recognized under profit and loss as interest
expenses.

CURRENT AND DEFERRED TAXES
The tax expense for the period consists of both current and deferred taxes. Taxes are reported as profit and loss
unless they relate to items reported under “Equity” or “Other comprehensive income”. In this case, the taxes are also
reported under “Equity” or “Other comprehensive income”.
The current tax expense is calculated using the tax regulations valid on the closing date of the countries in which the
company and its subsidiaries are active and generate taxable income. The management examines tax declarations
regularly, in particular with regard to issues subject to interpretation, and where appropriate, forms provisions based
on the amounts expected to be paid to the fiscal authorities.
Tax deferrals are formed for all the temporary differences between the assets/liabilities tax base and their carrying values in the IFRS financial statements (so-called liabilities method). However, if in the course of a transaction that does
not constitute a company merger, deferred taxation emanates from the initial recognition of an asset or a liability that
at the time of the transaction had neither an effect upon the balance sheet or taxable profit or loss, the deferred tax
asset or liability is neither recognized at the date of initial recognition nor subsequently. Deferred taxes are measured
using those tax rates (and regulations) that apply on the closing date, or have been substantially adopted into law
and which are anticipated to be valid on the date of the realization of the deferred tax accrual or the settlement of the
deferred tax liability.
Deferred taxes are only recognized to the extent that a sufficient fiscal surplus is expected in the future against which
the temporary difference can be employed.
Deferred tax liabilities resulting from temporary differences in connection with interests in subsidiaries, associated
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companies and joint arrangements are recognized unless the date of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
determined by the group and it is probable that owing to this influence, it is unlikely that the temporary differences
will not be reversed in the foreseeable future. As a rule, the group has no influence on the date of reversal in the case
of associated companies. Therefore, temporary differences are only not recognized in those cases that are contractually regulated and upon which the group can exert an influence.
Deferred tax accruals and liabilities are netted when a corresponding legally enforceable right to offsetting exists and
the deferred tax accruals and liabilities relate to income taxes imposed by the same fiscal authority for either identical
or differing tax objects, which intend to complete offsetting on a net basis.

REALIZATION OF INCOME AND EXPENSES
Sales revenues are measured at the fair value of the payment received or to be received. Sales revenues include the
consideration derived from the sale of goods and are reported free of sales tax, returns, rebates and price reductions.
The group realizes sales revenues once the income amount can be determined reliably, when it is sufficiently certain
that an economic benefit will flow to the company, and when the specific criteria for every type of activity described
below are fulfilled.
The group is active in the fields of pulp, paper and board production and sales. Recognition of sales revenues from
the sale of goods occurs when a group company has supplied a recipient in accordance with the contractual conditions and there are no unfulfilled obligations that could have a negative influence on the acceptance of the goods by
the recipient.
Operating expenses are recognized on the date the service is utilized, or on the date of occurrence.

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The fair value of financial instruments is the amount either received for a sale or paid for a transfer in the course of
an orderly transaction between market participants on the reporting date. If no current value is available, the determination of the fair value of derivative financial instruments and securities employs the market-based method using
the market information available on the closing date (reporting date rates, interest rates). In view of the variability of
influential factors, the figures reported here may differ from those subsequently realized. Heinzel Group classifies individual financial instruments as Level 1, 2 or 3 using the input factors of the valuation method and every year at the
end of the reporting period establishes whether or not reallocations between the individual levels are required.
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USE OF ESTIMATES
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires estimates and assumptions that may affect the
reported amounts of assets, liabilities and financial obligations as at the date of the financial statements, as well as the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results can differ from these estimates. The principle of true and fair view is fully applied in the use of estimates.
The consolidated financial statements include the following material items, the valuation of which is influenced significantly by the underlying assumptions and estimates:
»» The assessment of the recoverability of intangible assets, goodwill and property is based on forward-looking statements. The calculation of recoverable amounts as part of the impairment test is based on various assumptions, for
example regarding future surplus funds and discount rates. The surplus funds correspond to the values contained
in the latest business plan at the time of preparation of the financial statements.
»» Assumptions relating to interest rates, retirement age, life expectancy, employee turnover and future increases in
remuneration are used for the valuation of existing pension and severance payment obligations.
»» The recognition of deferred tax assets is based on the assumption that sufficient tax income will be realized in the
future to utilize tax loss carryforwards.
»» The fair value of financial instruments not traded on an active market (e.g. OTC derivatives) is determined through
the use of suitable measurement techniques that can be selected from numerous methods. The assumptions employed in this regard are based to the greatest possible extent on the market conditions on the closing date.
If the estimates and assumptions change, significant adjustments to the carrying values in the subsequent year may
be required in particular for the items listed above.

ROUNDING
Owing to rounding, it is possible that individual figures in these financial statements do not add up precisely to the
sum reported and that the percentages given do not mirror exactly the absolute values that they reflect.
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E. NOTES TO THE BALANCE SHEET
ASSETS
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
1. Intangible assets

In EUR k
GROSS VALUES AS AT 31.12.2015
Investments
Foreign currency differences
Disposals
Transfers/reclassifications

Concessions and
other rights
14,932
124

Software

Goodwill

Total intangible
assets

7,520

13,828

36,280

0

1,774

1,650

60

59

0

118

–95

–193

0

–288

–162

162

0

0

0

133

1,633

1,766

14,859

9,331

15,461

39,651

12,489

597

9

13,094

–55

–4

–252

–310

Disposals

0

–98

–296

–394

Transfers/reclassifications

0

37

0

37

Changes in the scope of consolidation
GROSS VALUES AS AT 31.12.2016
Investments
Foreign currency differences

Changes in the scope of consolidation
GROSS VALUES AS AT 31.12.2017
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
AS AT 31.12.2015
Depreciation 2016
Foreign currency differences
Disposals

0

0

0

0

27,293

9,863

14,922

52,078

6,659

2,959

2,770

12,387

3,411

1,149

0

4,559

0

36

0

36

–79

–190

0

–269

Transfers/reclassifications

0

0

0

0

Changes in the scope of consolidation

0

0

0

0

9,991

3,954

2,770

16,714

3,748

1,441

0

5,190

Foreign currency differences

1

–14

0

–13

Disposals

0

–94

0

–94

Transfers/reclassifications

0

0

0

0

Changes in the scope of consolidation

0

0

0

0

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
AS AT 31.12.2016
Depreciation 2017

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
AS AT 31.12.2017

13,740

5,287

2,770

21,797

NET VALUES AS AT 31.12.2016

4,868

5,377

12,691

22,936

NET VALUES AS AT 31.12.2017

13,553

4,575

12,153

30,281
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The additions to concessions and other rights are primarily related to a right of use of Laakirchen Papier AG. As a
result of the changes made to the paper machine, additional investments in a purification plant of the water treatment
association had to be made. As of 2017, they are presented as a right of use under non-current assets in the amount
of EUR 11.7 million, with EUR 8.4 million being invested in the past financial year.
Goodwill arises when subsidiaries are acquired and represents the surplus of the transferred consideration for the
acquisition over the fair value of the group’s shares in the acquired identifiable assets, acquired liabilities, contingent
liabilities and all non-controlling interests of the acquired company at the acquisition date.
Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units (CGU) for the purpose of impairment tests. It is allocated to those CGU
or groups of CGU in accordance with the business segments identified that are expected to benefit from the combination from which the goodwill resulted. Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill was allocated represents the
lowest level within the company at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes. As the group
is managed based on production sites and business segments, the sub-groups Europapier and Wilfried Heinzel AG as
well as the other production companies of the group are considered cash generating units.
The test to determine whether goodwill has been impaired is conducted annually. The carrying value of goodwill is
compared with the recoverable amount, i.e. the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and the value in use. Impairments are expensed as incurred and not reversed in the subsequent periods.
The annual impairment test for goodwill and intangible assets with an indefinite useful life is carried out at the end of
the fourth quarter of the financial year.
The calculations were based on the following assumptions:
»» The annual impairment test was conducted based on business plan for the coming five years (2018–2022) prepared and approved by the management. The plan assumes a different growth rates of sales revenues depending
on the business segment, with average annual sales revenue growth ranging between 0% (Europapier) and 38.7%
(Chiemgau Recycling)
»» Values between 6.11% (2016: 5.32%) and 6.12% (2016: 7.57%) were used. To determine the plan values beyond
2022, annual growth ranging from 0.5% to 2.2% (2016: 0.0% and 2.0%) was assumed.
Goodwill was measured using the discounted cash flow method. The measurement is based on the plan figures of
the subsequent years (detail planning for the years 2018–2022, terminal value for years after 2022). Therefore the
impairment of goodwill depends to a significant extent on whether the planned assumptions occur.

95

HEINZEL GROUP

96

The effects of changes in the most important assumptions on the recoverable amount of the cash-generating units
are shown in the following table:

2017

Reduction
growth rate
terminal value
for break-even

Carrying
value

Surplus
c overage
of carrying
amount

Discount rate

Growth rate for
terminal value

Break-even
discount rate1

EUR k

EUR k

%

%

%

Percentage
points

Europapier TK

2,991

14,448

6.12

0.5

6.83

–0.96

Zellstoff Pöls

2,042

261,923

6.12

1.0

9.58

–5.25

Chiemgau
Recycling

1,626

2,480

6.11

2.2

7.85

–2.2

Wilfried Heinzel TK

5,433

171,420

6.12

1.0

16.68

–21.8

61

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

Other
1

Discount rate starting from which an impairment would occur if cash flow plan remains unchanged.

The impairment tests confirmed that all goodwill is unimpaired. A sensitivity analysis of the goodwill-carrying units
showed that if the discount rate increases by one half of a percentage point, all carrying values are still covered and
no impairment is necessary. In addition, a cash flow sensitivity analysis shows that all carrying values are also still
covered if the terminal value growth rate decreases by one half of a percentage point.
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2. Tangible assets
The net values represent residual carrying values after depreciation, i.e. purchase costs less accumulated
depreciation.

In EUR k
GROSS VALUES AS AT 31.12.2015
Investments
Foreign currency differences
Disposals
Transfers/reclassifications
Changes in the scope of
consolidation
GROSS VALUES AS AT 31.12.2016
Investments
Foreign currency differences
Disposals
Transfers/reclassifications
Changes in the scope of
consolidation
GROSS VALUES AS AT 31.12.2017
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AS AT
31.12.2015
Depreciation 2016
Foreign currency differences
Disposals
Transfers/reclassifications
Changes in the scope of consolidation
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AS
AT 31.12.2016
Depreciation 2017
Foreign currency differences

Property and
buildings

Machinery

Tools and
equipment

Assets under
construction

Total tangible
assets

196,995

695,630

58,011

33.297

983.933

5,659

19,250

7,372

21,189

53,470

1

91

34

0

126

–163

–5,597

–3,524

–15

–9,299

826

30,322

608

–31,747

9

13,590

7,425

1,167

506

22,688

216,908

747,121

63,667

23,230

1,050,926

12,637

82,341

13,313

13,139

121,431

–10

47

39

6

81

–251

–51,467

–5,173

37

–56.854

2,961

16,228

439

–19,665

–37

0

0

9

0

9

232,245

794,270

72,294

16,747

1,115,556

83,689

440,949

35,771

–20

560,390

7,005

38,203

6,904

–36

52,075

1

71

33

0

105

–85

–5,569

–3,039

0

–8,693

0

7

2

0

9

0

0

0

0

0

90,609

473,661

39,671

–56

603,886

8,304

34,066

6,344

54

48,767

0

8

–10

0

–2

–135

–51,062

–4,561

0

–55,759

Transfers/reclassifications

0

0

0

0

0

Changes in the scope of
consolidation

0

0

0

0

0

98,778

456,673

41,444

–2

596,892

NET VALUES AS AT 31.12.2016

126,298

273,460

23,996

23,286

447,040

NET VALUES AS AT 31.12.2017

133,467

337,598

30,849

16,750

518,664

Disposals

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AS AT
31.12.2017
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Material additions to the tangible assets at Zellstoff Pöls AG included payments for the preliminary project PM3 (EUR
6,911k), the purchase of a new washing press (EUR 6,119k), the enlargement of the evaporation system (EUR
2,875k), and investments in enhancing the diffuser (EUR 3,098k).
At Laakirchen Papier AG, investments amounting to EUR 82.0 million were made in the PM10 conversion project in
2017 (incl. 2016 so far: EUR 85.2 million). This project includes investments in outgoing logistics (automatic crane
warehouse), in pulp production and of course the paper machine itself (dryer section, forming section, wire section,
etc.). In another project, a calender no longer needed at paper machine 10 was transferred to paper machine 11. In
this context investments of EUR 4.8 million were made in 2017.
The bulk of investments in the company Estonian Cell in Estonia were employed for the conversion of the chipping
plant (EUR 212k).
In accordance with IAS 17, land and buildings used subject to leasing contracts, which owing to the design of the
lease are attributable to the lessee (finance leasing), are reported under “Land and buildings”. The carrying value of
these assets amounted to EUR 2,467k as at 31 December 2017 (31.12.2016: EUR 2,519k). Obligations existing from
these contracts are reported as financial liabilities.
The presentation of depreciation in the statement of changes in non-current assets shows gross values; depreciation
according to the consolidated income statement also takes into account the reversal of grants received from third
parties amounting to EUR 1.6 million in 2017.
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3. Shares in associated and other companies
In line with IAS 39, shares in non-consolidated affiliated and other companies, as well as other interests are allocated
to the category of available-for-sale financial assets and show the following movement:

In EUR k
GROSS VALUES AS AT 31.12.2015

Shares in associated
companies

Shares in other
companies

1,728

22,089

Investments

0

670

Foreign currency differences

0

0

Disposals

0

21,938

Transfers/reclassifications

0

0

Changes in the scope of consolidation

0

0

1,728

821

Investments

0

0

Foreign currency differences

0

0

Disposals

0

0

GROSS VALUES AS AT 31.12.2016

Transfers/reclassifications
Measurement of available-for-sale securities
Changes in the scope of consolidation
GROSS VALUES AS AT 31.12.2017
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AS AT 31.12.2015

0

0

1,391

394

0

0

3,119

1,215

457

93

Depreciation 2016

0

0

Foreign currency differences

0

0

Disposals

0

17

Reversals

0

0

Changes in the scope of consolidation

0

0

457

110

Depreciation 2017

0

0

Foreign currency differences

0

0

Disposals

0

0

Reversals

–9

0

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AS AT 31.12.2016

Changes in the scope of consolidation
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AS AT 31.12.2017

0

0

448

110

NET VALUES AS AT 31.12.2016

1,271

711

NET VALUES AS AT 31.12.2017

2,671

1,105

Regarding a breakdown of the shares please refer to the chapter “Non-consolidated subsidiaries and non-significant
associated companies”.
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4. Other financial assets
Securities held as non-current assets consist of shares in listed investment funds and serve primarily to cover the
provisions for pension payments as required under Austrian tax law.

In EUR k
GROSS VALUES AS AT 31.12.2015
Investments
Foreign currency differences
Disposals
Changes in the scope of consolidation
GROSS VALUES AS AT 31.12.2016
Investments
Foreign currency differences
Disposals
Changes in the scope of consolidation
GROSS VALUES AS AT 31.12.2017
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
AS AT 31.12.2015
Depreciation 2016
Reversals 2016
Foreign currency differences
Disposals
Changes in the scope of consolidation
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
AS AT 31.12.2016
Depreciation 2017

Loans to third parties

Total of other
financial assets

7,895

2

7,897

1,135

6,662

7,797

Securities

0

0

0

–1,090

0

–1,090

0

0

0

7,940

6,664

14,604

6

3,089

3,095

0

0

0

–45

0

–45

0

0

0

7,901

9,753

17,654

339

–2

337

–346

0

–346

0

0

0

0

0

0

40

0

40

0

0

0

–32

2

–30

54

0

54

Reversals 2017

0

0

0

Foreign currency differences

0

0

0

–7

0

–7

15

2

17

NET VALUES AS AT 31.12.2016

7,972

6,663

14,635

NET VALUES AS AT 31.12.2017

7,886

9,751

17,637

Disposals
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
AS AT 31.12.2017
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CURRENT ASSETS
5. Inventories
For obsolete inventories, impairments were established to an amount of EUR 11,117k (2016: 13,570k). In
2017, a comparison of the purchase price or production cost with the net realizable value resulted in a depreciation requirement of minus EUR 174k (2016: minus EUR 98k), which was reported in the expenses for materials. In
addition, the parameters for the amount of the impairment of goods with a very long sale cycle were reviewed in the
reporting period. This led to an additional impairment of EUR 402k in the Europapier sub-group. The carrying value of
inventories depreciated to the lower net realizable value amounted to EUR 9,007k (2016: EUR 9,498k).

In EUR k
Raw materials
Work in progress
Finished goods and goods for sale
Payments on account
Supplies and operating materials

2017

2016

18,237

20,679

2,598

2,664

104,807

109,547

3,971

6,841

19,190

18,950

148,803

158,681

2017

2016

287,833

297,826

535

905

47,375

45,993

4,104

3,332

36

29

6. Trade and other receivables
The trade receivables are due from various national and international customers.

In EUR k
Trade receivables
Trade receivables from associated companies
Other receivables
Other receivables from other companies
Other receivables from associated companies
Deferred expenses

833

1,008

340,716

349,093

The receivables from associated and affiliated companies result primarily from the ongoing offsetting of trade receivables within the group and from group financing.
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The insolvency risk emanating from customers is accounted for by a provision of EUR 16,772k (2016: EUR 18,356k).
Provisions development is as follows:

In EUR k
Year beginning balance as at 1.1.
Foreign currency differences

2017

2016

18,356

18,169

–211

425

Use of provisions

–1,650

–1,093

Reversals

–3,080

–3,095

Additions

3,357

3,950

16,772

18,356

31.12.2017

31.12.2016

231,076

241,992

55,012

52,788

1,210

1,105

YEAR ENDING BALANCE AS AT 31.12.

The age structure of trade receivables not yet due and overdue is as follows:

In EUR k
Not yet due
Up to 90 overdue
91–180 days overdue
More than 180 days overdue

535

1,941

287,833

297,826

No impairments are required for receivables not yet due or overdue and not impaired. No significant change in the
creditworthiness of the debtors was determined and it is assumed that the receivables outstanding and not impaired
will be paid in due time.
The item “Other receivables” consists of the following components:

In EUR k

31.12.2017

31.12.2016

Receivables from tax authorities

28,622

30,054

Supplier bonuses

10,554

9,830

Emission allowances

2,982

0

Other

5,217

6,109

47,375

45,993
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7. Other current financial assets
The item “Other current financial assets” is comprised of the following:
In EUR k
Pledged securities

2017

2016

0

5,106

Not pledged securities

43,020

27,786

OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

43,020

32,891

2017

2016

101,374

101,842

Securities are primarily shares in investment funds.
8. Other financial assets, cash and cash equivalents

In EUR k
Cash in hand and balances with banks

The adjustment of the cash in hand and balances in banks from the previous year relating to currency translation
amounted to minus EUR 414k (2016: EUR 559k).
Cash and cash equivalents include cash, demand deposits, and other short-term, highly liquid financial assets that are
available at any time with a maximum original maturity of three months.

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
9. Equity
As at 31 December 2017, share capital amounted to EUR 3,635k and was unchanged throughout the 2017 financial year.
The capital reserves as at the closing date for the 2017 financial year amounted to EUR 8,600k (31.12.2016:
EUR 8,600k).
Distributions amounting to EUR 10,000k (31.12.2016: EUR 20,000k) were made to shareholders of Heinzel Holding
GmbH and to holders of non-controlling interests in subsidiaries amounting to EUR 2,881k (31.12.2016: EUR 1,686k)
during the financial year.
The item foreign currency translation contains exchange rate differences from currency translation within the course
of consolidation and as at 31 December 2017 amounted to minus EUR 11,411k (2016: minus EUR 10,217k). This
represents a fall of EUR 1,194k.
Non-controlling interests
This item includes the equity attributable to minority stockholders in the subsidiaries of Wilfried Heinzel AG,
Europapier Group, Bunzl & Biach Group and Laakirchen Papier AG.
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10. Non-current liabilities
This item contains the following:

In TEUR k
Non-current financial liabilities Zellstoff Pöls AG

2017

2016

13,846

22,841

Non-current financial liabilities Heinzel Holding GmbH

11,363

16,700

Non-current financial liabilities AS Estonian Cell

10,560

15,840

Non-current financial liabilities Europapier International AG

5,000

0

Non-current financial liabilities Europapier CEE GmbH

2,500

3,750

Non-current financial liabilities Laakirchen Papier AG

26,000

22,000

5,000

0

Non-current financial liabilities Wilfried Heinzel AG
Other non-current liabilities Austria Recycling GmbH
Other non-current liabilities Europapier Slovensko s.r.o.

6

0

3,557

0

77,832

81,131

The fair value (Level 1) of the non-current financial liabilities corresponds to the carrying value.
The maturities and interest rates are as follows:

Zellstoff Pöls AG

31.12.2017 In EUR k

Interest rate in %

Maturity

13,846

2.17

2020

Heinzel Holding GmbH

11,363

1.65

2019–2021

AS Estonian Cell

10,560

1.40

2019–2020

Europapier CEE GmbH

2,500

4.70

2019–2020

Europapier International AG

5,000

0.49

2020

Wilfried Heinzel AG

5,000

0.56

2020

26,000

0.64

2019–2023

6

9.53

2020

3,557

1.70

2019–2022

Laakirchen Papier AG
Austria Recycling GmbH
Europapier Slovensko s.r.o.

77,832

The effective interest rate represents the average interest expense in the 2017 financial year, following consideration
of any interest and currency hedging, in terms of a percentage relative to the average carrying value and amounts
to 2.30%.
Non-current liabilities amounting to EUR 77,832k are due in one to six years.
The carrying values of financial liabilities are reported entirely in euros.
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On the closing date, the interest rate change risks relating to the financial liabilities and contractual interest adjustment
dates were as follows:

6 months or shorter

2017

2016

77,832

81,131

77,832

81,131

As at 31 December 2017, the liabilities to banks in connection with the aforementioned securities amounted to
EUR 54,384k. They are related to:
Liabilities to banks that are secured by means of the granting of liens on company real estate or machine mortgaging.
Furthermore, loan liabilities are secured through bills of surety and federal guarantees from Oesterreichische Kontrollbank Aktiengesellschaft (OeKB).
In addition, Heinzel Group receives export loans from the OeKB export credit agency.
11. Pensions and other employee benefits

In EUR k

2017

2016

Provisions for severance payments

27,791

29,760

Provisions for pensions

23,106

27,252

6,180

6,586

57,077

63,598

Provisions for long-service bonus obligations

EUR 53,933k (2016: EUR 60,177k) of the provisions for pensions, severance payments and long-service bonus obligations are related to the Austrian companies, while the companies in other countries account for EUR 3,144k (2016:
EUR 3,421k). Since the values of the provisions for companies not based in Austria are immaterial, the information
regarding the parameters for the valuation of social capital refer to the underlying parameters for the companies in
Austria.
Personnel of Austrian companies, whose employment commenced prior to 1 January 2003, are entitled to a one-off
payment in the event of their employment being terminated by the employer, or upon their retirement. The amount of
this payment is dependent upon the number of years of service and wages or salary at the time of termination. For
personnel, whose employment commenced after 31 December 2002, this obligation is transferred to a defined contribution plan. Payments to these external employee pension funds are recognized as an expense.
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The pension obligations are defined as supplementary pensions on an individual contractual basis, or as part of com
pany agreements. They exist for Zellstoff Pöls AG, Europapier CE GmbH, EU-RO Handelsgesellschaft m.b.H, Laakirchen
Papier AG, Bunzl & Biach Gesellschaft m.b.H and Raubling Papier GmbH, and contain retirement, occupational
invalidity pension, widows’ and widowers’, and orphans’ pensions. The pensionable age corresponds with that of the
individual agreements. For employees, who are still active, the level of payments has been defined in accordance with
the individual contracts. The company or the pension fund pays the annual pension amount to employees who have
already left the company. The widows’ and widowers’, and orphans’ pensions are established in accordance with the
agreements.
In addition, various pension commitments exist that primarily affect employees in Austria.
The valuation of social capital for the Austrian companies is based on the following parameters:

2017

2016

Interest rate

%

1.25

1.25

Wage/salary increases

%

1.25

1.25

Pension increases (Wilfried Heinzel,
Zellstoff Pöls, Raubling and other companies)

%

1.25/0.00

1.25/0.00

Pension increases (Europapier Group)

%

1.25/0.00

1.25/0.00

Pension increases (Bunzl & Biach)

%

1.25

1.25

Pension increases (Laakirchen)
Retirement age men/women
Mortality tables

%

0.00/1.25

0.00/1.25

Years

max. 65/60

max. 65/60

AVÖ 2008-P/KH 2005 G

AVÖ 2008-P

The fluctuation probabilities applied in determining the amount of provisions allocated for severance payments and
long-service bonuses are calculated on the basis of a fluctuation analysis.
In line with a statement from the Austrian Financial Reporting and Auditing Committee regarding the handling of “old
severance payments” pursuant to IAS 19 from March 2013, terminations of employment and “solutions by mutual
consent on the part of the employer” are not accounted for in the fluctuation.
Therefore, differing fluctuation probabilities are employed for the provisions for severance payments and long-service
bonuses on the basis of employment termination and payout probabilities. The fluctuation probabilities for Austrian
companies range between 0% and 15% for long-service bonuses and between 0% and 6% for severance payments.
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Provisions for severance payments
In EUR k
As at 1.1.
Initial application of IAS
From changes to the scope of consolidation

31.12.2017

31.12.2016

29,760

30,404

0

0

0

0

Currency translation

–44

10

Service costs for the period

678

693

Interest expense for the period

346

708

Amortization and other changes

103

–612

Actuarial gains and losses from changes
in demographic assumptions

0

0

Actuarial gains and losses from changes
in financial assumptions

0

576

–103

36

Actuarial gains and losses from experience
adjustments
Total actuarial gains and losses

–103

612

Severance payments

–2,848

–2,668

Provisions for severance payments as at 31.12.

27,790

29,760

Defined benefit obligation as at 31.12.

27,790

29,760

31.12.2017

31.12.2016

27,252

21,894

0

1,397

Provisions for pensions
In EUR k
As at 1.1.
From changes to the scope of consolidation
Currency translation
Service costs for the period
Past service costs

0

0

671

530

–7,328

0

328

555

Actuarial gains and losses from changes
in demographic assumptions

1,248

102

Actuarial gains and losses from changes
in financial assumptions

1,923

4,311

Interest expense for the period

Actuarial gains and losses from experience
adjustments
Pensions including severance payments

321

–1

–1,309

–1,536

Provisions for pensions as at 31.12.

23,106

27,252

Defined benefit obligation as at 31.12.

30,803

36,467

Plan assets
= DBO – plan assets

7,697

9,215

23,106

27,252
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Plan assets development

In EUR k

31.12.2017

31.12.2016

9,215

9,232

From changes to the scope of consolidation

0

0

Currency translation

0

0

115

231

–1,242

–99

– Employer

46

272

– Employee

0

0

As at 1.1.

Interest gains for the period
Income from plan assets excluding contributions reported as
interest
Contributions

Payments made from plan assets

–437

–420

As at 31.12.

7,696

9,215

The plan assets for the coverage of the pension obligations were reinsured by means of insurance policies concluded
with Wiener Städtische Versicherung AG Vienna Insurance Group and Allianz Pensionskasse AG.
The plan asset portfolio structure is shown below.
According to information received, the Allianz Pensionskasse AG share of plan assets is invested as follows:

Structure of the capital investments in classic cover stock
Stocks

In %
36

Financial market

1

Alternative investments

3

Bonds

48

Real estate

8

Direct shareholdings

4

Total

This breakdown is based on the latest values available.

100
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According to information received, the Wiener Städtische Versicherung AG share of plan assets is invested as follows:

Structure of the capital investments in classic cover stock

In %

Fixed interest securities

43

Stocks, supplementary capital, usufruct rights, part.cap.

4

Investment funds

33

Affiliated companies and participations

6

Loans

9

Real estate

4

Bank credits

1

Total

100

This breakdown is based on the latest values available.
Other plan assets pursuant to IAS 19 do not exist.
Provisions for long-service bonuses

In EUR k

31.12.2017

31.12.2016

6,585

6,266

From changes to the scope of consolidation

0

581

Currency translation

0

0

366

366

78

160

As at 1.1.

Service costs for the period
Interest expense for the period
Other changes

0

0

Actuarial gains and losses from changes
in demographic assumptions

0

0

Actuarial gains and losses from changes
in financial assumptions

0

–46

–171

–138

Actuarial gains and losses from experience
adjustments
Long-service bonus payments

–678

–604

Long-service bonus provision as at 31.12.

6,180

6,586

Defined benefit obligation as at 31.12.

6,180

6,586
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The following components were recognized and disclosed in the result for the period:
Pensions
In EUR k
Current service costs
Past service costs
Interest expense
Expected income from plan assets

2017

2016

671

530

–7,328

0

328

555

1,242

99

–5,087

1,184

2017

2016

Current service costs

678

693

Interest expense

346

708

Annual expense

1,025

1,402

2017

2016

366

366

78

160

–171

–184

273

342

Annual expense/income

Severance payments
In EUR k

Long-service bonuses
In EUR k
Current service costs
Interest expense
Actuarial gains/losses
Annual expense

The average maturities of the respective obligations of the individual companies in years are as follows:

Duration – DBO in years
Zellstoff Pöls AG, Wilfried Heinzel AG, Heinzel Holding GmbH
and other companies
Companies of the Europapier sub-group

Pensions

Severance payments

12

7

9

7

Bunzl & Biach GmbH

10

8

Laakirchen Papier AG

13

7

Sensitivities to changes in the discount rate and salary and pension increases for pensions and severance
payments
The subsequent actuarial assumptions were considered to be significant and stressed with the following margins:
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Hedging interest rate +/–0.25%, wages and salary trend +/–0.25%, pensions trend +/–0.25%.
The impact upon the DBO should the interest rate or wages, salaries and pensions increase/decrease by 0.25% is shown.
The differences to the reported values are shown in the table below as relative deviations.
Owing to the differing stock structures of the companies, sensitivities are shown separately.

WILFRIED HEINZEL, ZELLSTOFF PÖLS, RAUBLING AND OTHER COMPANIES
Pensions
Assumed
change

Parameter decrease/
DBO change

Parameter increase/
DBO change

Interest rate

0.25

2.90

–2.80

Pension increases

0.25

–2.80

2.90

Assumed
change

Parameter decrease/
DBO change

Parameter increase/
DBO change

Interest rate

0.25

1.80

–1.80

Wage/salary increases

0.25

–1.70

1.80

Assumed
change

Parameter decrease/
DBO change

Parameter increase/
DBO change

In %

Severance payments

In %

EUROPAPIER GROUP
Pensions

In %
Interest rate

0.25

2.00

–2.00

Pension increases

0.25

–1.90

2.00

Assumed
change

Parameter decrease/
DBO change

Parameter increase/
DBO change

Interest rate

0.25

1.70

–1.60

Wage/salary increases

0.25

–1.60

1.60

Severance payments

In %
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BUNZL & BIACH GMBH
Pensions
Assumed
change

Parameter decrease/
DBO change

Parameter increase/
DBO change

Interest rate

0.25

2.50

–2.40

Pension increases

0.25

–2.40

2.50

Assumed
change

Parameter decrease/
DBO change

Parameter increase/
DBO change

Interest rate

0.25

2.10

–2.00

Wage/salary increases

0.25

–2.00

2.10

Assumed
change

Parameter decrease/
DBO change

Parameter increase/
DBO change

Interest rate

0.25

3.10

–3.00

Pension increases

0.25

–0.70

0.70

Assumed
change

Parameter decrease/
DBO change

Parameter increase/
DBO change

Interest rate

0.25

1.80

–1.80

Wage/salary increases

0.25

–1.70

1.80

In %

Severance payments

In %

LAAKIRCHEN PAPIER AG
Pensions

In %

Severance payments

In %

12. Other liabilities
In EUR k
Obligations from grants received
Other

2017

2016

9,309

10,403

657

938

9,966

11,342
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The grants received are divided as follows in line with their maturities:

2017

< Year

> Year

Grants received

9,309

1,123

8,186

2016

< Year

> Year

Grants received

10,403

1,175

9,228

The reported grants include grants for the paper machine 2 project, the installation of the new steam turbine 4
and the construction of a district heating bleed system at Zellstoff Pöls AG. A further tranche relates to funding of
the L aakirchen Papier AG shoe press and the cooling system PM11 project. As all conditions and requirements
are currently being complied with, there is no risk that repayment of the subsidies will be required.
Subsidies are reversed over the expected useful life of the asset for which they were granted. The reversal is recorded
in the income statement netted against depreciation of the current financial year.
13. Liabilities from financial leasing
The office and warehouse building in Bratislava is rented under the terms of a financial leasing agreement. The
contract was extended for another five years in December 2017, whereby the lessee is obliged to purchase the object
following the end of the lease for a sum of EUR 2,790k.
The interest rates underlying the liabilities from financial leasing are adjusted to the 6-month EURIBOR on a half-yearly basis. The interest rate at the closing date amounted to 1.70%. The cash value of the minimum leasing payments
has the following maturities:

In EUR k
Maturity < 1 year
Maturity 1–5 years

Total of
future minimum
leasing payments

Discount

Cash value
of minimum
leasing payments

187

3

184

3,840

283

3,557

Maturity > 5 years

0

0

0

As at 31.12.2017

4,027

286

3,741
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In EUR k
Maturity < 1 year
Maturity 1–5 years

Total of future
minimum leasing
payments

Discount

Cash value of
minimum leasing
payments

3,919

51

3,868

0

0

0

Maturity > 5 years

0

0

0

As at 31.12.2016

3,919

51

3,868

14. Current financial liabilities

In EUR k
Short-term export financing

2017

2016

57,500

47,500

Bond and bank financing with maturity < 1 year

59,091

21,426

Other short-term financing

32,387

43,641

148,978

112,567

Interest rates range between 0.4% and 10.98%, whereby all the liabilities reported under this item have a term of less
than one year.
The carrying values of the financial liabilities are denominated in the following currencies:

In EUR k

2017

2016

EUR

117,994

85,802

USD

624

756

CAD

0

278

CZK

7,614

6,757

BGN

76

0

HRK

123

124

HUF

85

91

PLN

17,421

15,049

RUB

5,041

3,711

148,978

112,567
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On the closing date, the interest rate change risks in connection with the financial liabilities and contractual interest
rate adjustment dates were as follows:

In EUR k
6 months or shorter

2017

2016

148,978

112,567

148,978

112,567

2017

2016

195,786

199,437

16,243

22,648

15. Trade accounts payable

In EUR k
Trade accounts payable to third parties
Trade accounts payable to associated companies
Liabilities from investments

28,064

5,948

240,093

228,033

2017

2016

16. Other current provisions and liabilities

In EUR k
Other provisions

12,560

17,917

Other liabilities to third parties

39,951

36,763

Other liabilities to associated companies
Deferred income
Other liabilities to affiliated companies
Other liabilities to employees

148

135

1,377

721

26,187

22,723

68

71

80,291

78,329

As in the previous year, the other liabilities to affiliated companies amounting to EUR 26,187k are in their entirety
related to the tax allocation vis-à-vis EMACS AG.
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OTHER PROVISIONS

In EUR k

Additions

Disposals
through
reversals

Disposals
through
utilization

Balance as at
31.12.2017

65

44

104

118

3,275

1,010

661

392

3,233

14,440

18,123

2,052

21,302

9,209

17,917

19,198

2,757

21,798

12,560

Balance as at
1.1.2017
201

Legal and consulting costs
Other personnel-related
provisions
Other

The other provisions from 2017 contain the following items:

EUR k
Sales revenue deductions

1,951

Deferral for outstanding gas and electricity payments

1,291

Deferral Energy Efficiency Act LPA

1,018

Deferral for other outstanding invoices

902

Deferrals for building and maintenance measures

847

Social plan RENIL

700

Provisions from hedging

447

IFRS swap
Other

217
1,836
9,209

For other provisions, maturity is expected within a year.
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F. NOTES TO THE INCOME STATEMENT
17. Sales revenues
During the year under report, Heinzel Group raised its net income by 3.0% to EUR 1,816.5 million. The trading area
demonstrated a particularly strong increase in sales revenues as a result of geographical business expansion and
the enlargement of the product range. Trading continues to account for roughly two thirds of the sales volume of
3,779,215 tonnes.
All the sales revenues attained in 2017 derived from the goods area. Therefore, Heinzel Group had no earnings from
services.
18. Changes in inventories and own work capitalized

In EUR k
Changes in inventories
Own work capitalized

2017

2016

–1,594

4,724

2,934

1,432

1,340

6,156

The changes in inventories consist of the changes in finished products and work in progress as compared to the
previous year.
In addition to direct material and production costs, own work capitalized contains an appropriate share of material
and production overhead costs.
19. Other operating income

In EUR k
Income derived from the badwill from the initial consolidation of
Green Recycling GmbH, adjustment Raubling Papier GmbH
Other operating income

2017

2016

164

884

12,611

27,206

12,775

28,090

The other operating income contains income from insurances amounting to EUR 5,680k (2016: EUR 12,249).
This resulted from the damage to the liquor recovery boiler 2 and the boiler damage at Zellstoff Pöls AG in the
reporting year.
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20. Cost of materials and services

In EUR k

2017

2016

Raw materials

290,212

281,949

Supplies and operating materials

191,648

197,298

Goods for resale

1,024,534

982,616

1,506,394

1,461,863

21. Personnel expenses

In EUR k

2017

2016

Wages

40,893

39,686

Salaries

61,216

61,092

1,370

1,719

Expenses for severance payments
Expenses for pensions
Statutory social expenses
Voluntary social expenses

974

1,811

26,207

27,172

2,863

3,654

133,524

135,134

The expenses for defined contribution plans reported under the personnel expenses amounted to EUR 1,107k
(2016: EUR 1,797k).
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22. Other operating expenses

In EUR k

2017

Taxes other than taxes on income and earnings

1,558

1,197

Consultants and fees

7,649

8,441

Insurance
Rents and leasing
IT and communications costs

2016

6,033

5,945

10,317

9,919

3,897

3,586

Travel expenses

4,217

4,247

Advertising costs

1,056

1,588

Trade receivable defaults

820

2,106

Training costs

967

979

1,025

1,173

942

860

Donations and representational costs
Contributions
Office material
Miscellaneous other operating income

554

633

25,630

25,819

64,665

66,493

The amount of EUR 25,630k recognized under the item “Miscellaneous other operating expenses” includes, among
others, the following items:
Selling costs of approx. EUR 12,000k (mainly Europapier sub-group); external personnel approx. EUR 1,700k (mainly
cleaning staff and IT); service fee for the buying syndicate Papierholz Austria approx. EUR 1,600 (Zellstoff Pöls AG);
cleaning costs approx. EUR 1,500k and recognized exchange rate differences of approx. EUR 330k.
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23. Financial results
The interest and other financial results consist of the following components:

In EUR k
Interest income

2017

2016

1,257

2,430

Interest expenses

–5,549

–7,167

Dividend income

1

424

Income/expenses from fair value recognition of derivatives
Other financial income/expenses

568

–972

–273

294

–3,996

–4,991

The item “Other financial income/expenses” is composed of payments derived from the disposal of non-current financial assets amounting to EUR 3,343k, the carrying value of other current financial assets totaling minus EUR 3,750k,
the carrying value of derecognized financial assets amounting to minus EUR 597K as well as the write-up and writedown of other fixed interest financial assets amounting to EUR 731k.
24. Income taxes
The corporate tax rate applicable to the parent company, Heinzel Holding GmbH, Vorchdorf, as at the closing date
was 25%.
With the 2005 Tax Reform Act, the Austrian legislature created the possibility for group taxation. Under this system,
following the clearing of prior losses, the tax results of the companies belonging to the tax group are attributed to the
tax group parent. To compensate for the tax results being passed on to the tax group parent, an apportionment of
taxes is agreed in the tax group contracts.
For the calculation of deferred taxes, an income tax rate of 25% is applied to companies located in Austria, whereas
for companies located abroad the effective tax rate of the relevant country is used. Losses occurring within the Heinzel
tax group (Heinzel EMACS Beteiligungs AG acts as the tax parent of Heinzel Holding GmbH and all Austrian group
companies are members of the Heinzel taxation group) are immediately utilizable within the companies included
in the tax group in the same year in which the losses are incurred. A five-year period was used as reference for the
calculation of the share of tax loss carryforwards that the group will be able to employ in the future. The capitalization
of deferred taxes was effected to an extent that will make it possible to employ them through future positive operating
results. No tax deferrals were formed for additional loss carryforwards in Austria in excess of EUR 5,506k. On the
basis of current planning in certain foreign markets, in the paper trading segment no large future results or risks exist
with regard to fiscal enforceability and therefore these were only reported in the amount of EUR 3,482k. The trading
segment shows foreign loss carryforwards totaling EUR 7,639k.
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In EUR k

2017

2016

Earnings before taxes

69,633

73,647

Income tax expenses

–14,648

–16,015

EFFECTIVE TAX RATE (%)

21.0

21.7

In EUR k

2017

2016

14,085

16,316

564

–301

14,648

16,015

Current income tax
Deferred taxes

2017

2016

In EUR k

In %

In EUR k

In %

Earnings before taxes

69,633

100.0

73,647

100.0

Expected income tax expenditure

17,409

25.0

18,412

25.0

Effects of foreign tax rates

–1,639

–2.4

–631

–0.9

949

1.4

62

0.1

–1,533

–2.2

–1,559

–2.1

–39

–0.1

–3

0.0

–983

–1.4

–491

–0.7

Taxes from previous periods
Use of tax shields
Capitalization of loss carryforwards from previous periods
Change in the provision for tax deferrals
Effects of initial and subsequent consolidation
Other permanent differences
ACTUAL INCOME TAX EXPENDITURE

41

0.1

221

0.3

445

0.6

2

0.0

14,648

21.0

16,015

21.7

In accordance with IAS 12.39, deferred taxes derived from the differences of the pro rata net assets and the fiscal
carrying value of interests in subsidiaries totaling EUR 93,304k (2016: EUR 84,198k) are not recognized, as a sale of
the interests is not to be expected in the foreseeable future.
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The time differences between the values of the tax statement and the consolidated financial statements are as follows:

Assets
In EUR k
Non-current assets
Current assets

Liabilities

31.12.2017 31.12.2016 31.12.2017 31.12.2016
4,556

8,841

44,044

44,106

2,832

3,029

4,148

3,437

Non-current provisions and liabilities

38,781

39,564

0

0

Current provisions and liabilities

11,113

12,892

10,384

15,005

Loss carryforwards

3,482

3,148

0

0

60,764

67,475

58,576

62,548

Deferred taxes

13,844

16,558

14,474

15,696

Offsetting of deferred taxes to the same fiscal authority

–9,661

–11,155

–9,661

–11,155

NET DEFERRED TAXES

4,183

5,403

4,813

4,541

THEREOF CURRENT

3,486

3,980

3,633

4,611

53

0

408

226

thereof tangible assets

625

1,408

43,652

43,880

thereof financial assets

3,878

7,433

0

0

4,556

8,841

44,060

44,106

COMPOSITION IN DETAIL
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
thereof intangible assets

25. Miscellaneous information
OBLIGATIONS RELATING OF THE USE OF ASSETS NOT REPORTED IN THE BALANCE SHEET
The amounts of obligations relating to the use of assets not reported in the balance sheet (operating leasing contracts)
for the uncallable period are as follows:

In EUR k

2017

2016

Maturity < 1 year

7,314

7,209

Maturity 1–5 years

14,394

10,758

Maturity > 5 years

6,912

5,411

28,620

23,378

TOTAL

The total rental and leasing expense (operating leasing) amounted to EUR 11,636k in the 2017 financial year
(2016: EUR 10,559k).
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT
The indirect method was employed for the cash flow statement. The fund of cash and cash equivalents corresponds
to cash in hand and bank balances.
Non-cash expenses and income items
The main non-cash expense and income items comprise the following:

In EUR k

2017

2016

Depreciation

52,387

55,449

Changes in pensions and other employee obligations,
as well as long–term provisions

–6,521

5,033

2,110

–9,535

47,976

50,947

In EUR k

2017

2016

Inventories

9,878

–103

4,621

–32,461

–10,142

14,311

Other non–cash expenses and income
TOTAL

Changes in working capital

Trade and other receivables
Trade payables
Other liabilities and provisions
TOTAL

–1,523

4,717

2,834

–13,536

Changes in financial liabilities

2016

Cash changes

Changes related
to currency
translation

81,130

–3,298

0

Current financial liabilities

112,567

35,339

1,072

148,978

TOTAL

193,697

32,041

1,072

226,810

In EUR k
Non–current financial liabilities

2017
77,832
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SEGMENT REPORTING
Heinzel Holding GmbH and its subsidiaries operate in three business segments comprised by industry, trading and
others. The definition of operating segments is based on internal control and internal financial reporting to the Heinzel
Holding GmbH (CODM) Board. The management reviews the business success of the segments regularly in order to
allocate segment resources to the segments. The segments include the following companies:

Segment

Beschreibung

Gesellschaft

Industry

Production of pulp
and paper

Zellstoff Pöls AG, Pöls
AS Estonian Cell, Kunda
Laakirchen Papier AG, Laakirchen
Raubling Papier GmbH, Raubling
Heizkraftwerk Bauernfeind Betreibergesellschaft mbH, Raubling

Trading

Trading with pulp
and paper products

Bunzl & Biach GmbH, Wien
Austrian Recycling s.r.o., Temelin
Chiemgau Recycling GmbH, Raubling
Omega Trading Laakirchen GmbH, Laakirchen
Green Recycling s.r.o., Cukrovarská
Wilfried Heinzel AG, Wien, Vienna, and subsidiaries
Europapier International AG, Hinterbrühl, and subsidiaries

Others

Group management

Heinzel Holding GmbH, Vienna
Heinzel, Bunzl Service GmbH, Vienna
Heinzel Paper GmbH, Hinterbrühl

Segment information is generally subject to the same disclosure, accounting and valuation methods as the
consolidated financial statements.
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BUSINESS SEGMENTS
IIn the course of segment reporting, Laakirchen Papier AG, the pulp plant in Estonia, Zellstoff Pöls AG and the
Raubling sub-group, consisting of Raubling Papier GmbH and Heizkraftwerk Bauernfeind Betreibergesellschaft mbH
are allocated to the “Industry” segment.
The “Trading” segment shows the results of the Wilfried Heinzel AG sub-group, the consolidated Europapier Group
and the recycled paper sub-group (Bunzl & Biach and its subsidiaries). Green Recycling s.r.o. has been part of the
recycled paper sub-group since August 2017.

2017
In EUR k
Sales revenues
thereof inter-segment
sales revenues
thereof sales revenues
with external customers

Industry

Trading

Other

Consolidation

Total

634,668

1,338,607

6

–156,796

1,816,484

59,986

96,790

0

–156,777

0

574,682

1,241,816

6

–20

1,816,484

450,708

1,212,479

4

–156,796

1,506,394

Personnel expenditure

80,316

51,748

1,460

0

133,524

Amortization

45,442

6,834

112

0

52,387

Material expenditure

EBIT

46,015

28,685

–1,769

697

73,629

Segment assets

791,148

397,542

276,286

–256,522

1,208,454

Segment debts

384,489

259,496

45,645

–69,287

620,343

Payments for
investments

–95,387

–3,942

–77

0

–99,405

Industry

Trading

Other

Consolidation

Total

633,902

1,284,272

4

–154,848

1,763,330

67,921

86,899

0

–154,821

0

565,980

1,197,373

4

–27

1,763,330

2016
In EUR k
Sales revenues
thereof inter-segment
sales revenues
thereof sales revenues
with external customers

481,566

1,162,310

3

–154,848

1,489,031

Personnel expenditure

Material expenditure

81,213

52,527

1,394

0

135,134

Amortization

48,665

6,775

106

–97

55,449

EBIT

53,682

25,728

–1,755

982

78,638

Segment assets

715,360

399,089

271,794

–251,740

1,134,504

Segment debts

337,863

266,734

49,280

–72,425

581,452

Payments for
investments

–45,828

–6,748

–173

0

–52,749
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GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION
In the following table, selected financial information is summarized according to the main geographical regions. Revenues from external customers are given with regard to their registered domicile. Assets and capital expenditure are
allocated based upon corporate location. Non-current assets include items of tangible and intangible assets (including goodwill).

2017
In EUR k
Austria

Revenues from
external customers

Non-current
assets

185,489

455,369

Western Europe

426,610

25,690

Central and Eastern Europe

266,705

60,396

Middle East

174,811

4,943

North Africa

187,594

0

South-Eastern Europe

146,081

0

Far East/Oceania

187,755

0

Russia

159,872

334

South America

49,595

0

Central and Southern Africa

26,750

0

5,222

2,213

1,816,484

548,945

North America

Pulp deliveries within the group are accounted for at market prices. Other services within the group are accounted for
on the basis of the actual services performed.
The group has no revenues from transactions with a single external customer that amounted to at least 10% of the
group sales revenues.
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
a. Non-derivative financial instruments
The receivables, shares and liabilities classified as primary financial instruments were recognized in accordance with
IAS 39. Accounting and measurement principles are described in the respective balance sheet items. Purchases and
sales of financial instruments are recorded as at the settlement date.
Long-term investments are intended to develop the covering holdings necessary for social capital.
b. Derivative financial instruments
Heinzel Group employs derivative financial instruments to hedge risks from operating and financing activities (changes in interest rates, exchange rates and commodity prices). The company’s operative objectives are a smoothing of
the result from foreign currency positions, the fixing of the interest result and raw material price hedging.
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Foreign exchange forward contracts and interest rate swaps are used to limit and control existing foreign currency
and interest rate risks.
Forward exchange contracts were concluded, inter alia, with respect to the US dollar, Czech koruna, Hungarian forint,
Polish zloty, Russian ruble, Croatian kuna and Romanian leu and relate to planned purchases or the financing of
working capital in foreign currencies for the year 2018.
The following contracts were completed as at 31 December 2017:

In EUR k
Purchase USD
Sale USD
Sale JPY

Nominal value
assets

Nominal value
liabilities

Current value
assets

Current value
liabilities

0

1,699

0

–20

59,697

0

809

0

851

0

111

0

Sale BGN

2,044

0

0

–1

Sale BRL

325

0

4

0

Sale CZK

0

2,572

0

–6

Sale PLN

1,652

4,300

0

–91

Sale HRK

3,176

1,220

0

–62

Sale HUF

5,790

3,185

0

–44

Sale RON
CURRENCY DERIVATIVES
INTEREST DERIVATIVES

4,093

2,280

24

0

77,628

15,256

948

–224

78,785

0

0

–1,015

156,414

15,256

948

–1.239

The portfolio of outstanding derivative financial instruments according to valuation category as at 31 December 2017
is as follows (amounts in EUR k):

Cash flow hedging
not recognized as profit/loss
Currency derivatives
Interest derivatives

Derivatives recognized
as profit/loss

Nominal value
assets

Nominal value
liabilities

Current value
assets

Current value
liabilities

0

0

0

0

72.324

0

0

–1.001

72.324

0

0

–1.001

Current value
assets

Current value
liabilities

948

–224

Nominal value
assets

Nominal value
liabilities

Currency derivatives

77.628

15.256

Interest derivatives

10.500

0

0

–421

88.128

15.256

948

–645
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The portfolio of outstanding derivative financial instruments according to valuation category as at 31 December 2016
is as follows (amounts in EUR k):

Cash Flow Hedge Ergebnisneutral

Nominal value
assets

Currency derivatives

Nominal value
liabilities

0

Interest derivatives

Derivatives
recognized as profit/loss
Interest derivatives

Current value
liabilities

0

0

0

39,591

0

0

–1,039

39,591

0

0

–1,039

Current value
assets

Current value
liabilities

Nominal value
assets

Currency derivatives

Current value
assets

Nominal value
liabilities

109,824

14,438

121

–1,930

10.500

0

0

–589

120,325

14,438

121

–2,519

As at 31 December 2017, forward exchange transactions had a term of up to six months. The horizon for the interest
swaps of EUR 10,865k is short-term and these are due within a year. The remaining swaps totaling EUR 67,919k are
long-term and are due for repayment in one to five years.
The rules for cash flow hedging as stipulated by IAS 39 are applied to interest derivatives concluded for an existing
loan. Conversely, for derivatives with no active financial liability, interest derivatives are recognized in the income statement at their current value. In the case of other derivatives, the hedge accounting regulations contained in IAS 39 are
not applied and instead are reported as stand-alone derivatives.
The fair values of the derivative financial instruments are determined using measurement methods based on the input
parameters observable on the market.
Gains and losses from hedging instruments that are attributable to the effective portion of the changes in the current
value of derivatives in cash flow hedges are recognized in the statement of all income and expenses recognized as
other income. The ineffective part of the gains or losses is immediately recognized in the income statement.
Financial instruments are recognized centrally and immediately after the completion of transactions. This allows
continuous assessment (mark-to-market valuation) and a judgment of the current risk situation. The following
closing date exchange rates (all against the euro) and interest rates are employed for the valuation of foreign
exchange derivatives:

Exchange rates:
AUD

BGN

CAD

CZK

1.5346

1.9558

1.5039

25.535

JPY

PLN

RON

USD

7.4400 310.3300 135.0100

HRK

HUF

4.1770

4.6585

1.1993
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Interest rates:
EUR

AUD

BGN

CAD

CZK

HRK

HUF

JPY

PLN

RON

USD

ON

–0.405

0.675

–0.375

1.005

0.350

0.155

–0.170

0.000

1.100

0.855

1.350

1 month

–0.430

1.620 –0.395

1.070

0.055

0.265

–0.070

0.000

1.680

1.725

1.650

3 months –0.385

1.880 –0.350

1.260

0.245

0.300

–0.045

–0.115

1.755

1.925

1.760

6 months

–0.315

2.020

–0.100

1.640

0.345

0.350

0.135 –0.085

1.865

1.850

1.910

9 months –0.265

1.975

–0.125

1.650

0.480

0.420

0.150

1.935

2.050

2.060

0.000

SUPPLEMENTARY DISCLOSURES ON FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The following table presents the financial instruments of Heinzel Group by category in accordance with IAS 39
(amounts in EUR k):

Financial
assets

Measurement category
pur. to IAS 39

31.12.2017

Less than
3 months

3–6 months

More than
6 months

Interests in associated
companies

Held at fair value and not
recognized as profit or loss

2,671

0

0

2,671

Interests in other
companies

Held at fair value and not
recognized as profit or loss

1,105

0

0

1,105

Other non-current
financial assets

Held at fair value and
recognized as profit or loss

7,886

0

0

7,886

Non-current receivables
from loans

Held at (amortized)
cost

9,751

0

0

9,751

Cash and
cash equivalents

Held at (amortized)
cost

101,374

101,374

0

0

Other current financial
assets

Financial assets at fair
value recognized as profit
or loss (held for trading
purposes)

43,020

43,020

0

0

Trade and other
receivables

Held at (amortized)
cost

340,716

338,917

1,210

589

Derivative financial
assets

Derivatives at fair value
recognized as profit or loss

948

948

0

0

507,471

484,259

1,210

22,002
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Financial
liabilities

Measurement category
pur. to IAS 39

31.12.2017

Less than
3 months

3–6 months

More than
6 months

Financial liabilities

Held at (amortized)
cost

226,811

67,313

70,739

88,759

Trade and other payables
and provisions

Held at (amortized)
cost

240,093

234,282

3,720

2,091

Derivative financial
liabilities

Held at fair value and not
recognized as profit or loss

594

594

0

0

Derivative financial
liabilities

Held at fair value and
recognized as profit or loss

645

645

0

0

468,143

302,834

74,459

90,850

3–6 months

More than
6 months

Financial
assets

Measurement category
pur. to IAS 39

31.12.2016

Less than
3 months

Interests in associated
companies

Held at fair value and not
recognized as profit or loss

1,271

0

0

1,271

Interests in other
companies

Held at fair value and not
recognized as profit or loss

711

0

0

711

Other non-current
financial assets

Held at fair value and
recognized as profit or loss

7,972

0

0

7,972

Cash and cash
equivalents

Held at (amortized) cost
101,842

101,842

0

0

Other current
financial assets

Financial assets at fair
value recognized as profit
or loss (held for trading
purposes)

32,891

32,891

0

0

Trade and other
receivables

Held at (amortized) cost
343,819

340,697

1,105

2,017

Derivative financial
assets

Derivatives at fair value
recognized as profit or loss

121

121

0

0

488,627

475,551

1,105

11,971
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liabilities

Measurement category
pur. to IAS 39
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31.12.2016

Less than
3 months

3–6 months

More than
6 months

Held at (amortized)
cost

193,697

45,196

57,185

91,316

Trade and other payables
and provisions

Held at (amortized)
cost

236,200

230,060

5,704

436

Derivative financial
liabilities

Held at fair value and not
recognized as profit or loss

1,039

1,039

0

0

Derivative financial
liabilities

Held at fair value and
recognized as profit or loss

2,519

2,519

0

0

433,455

278,814

62,889

91,752

The following table analyzes the financial instruments reported as fair value according to the type of input factors for
the valuation method. IFRS 13 defines three input factor levels (fair value hierarchy):

Level 1

Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2

Inputs that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly
(i.e. extrapolated from prices) and are not included in Level 1.

Level 3

Unobservable inputs for assets or liabilities.

Financial assets
In EUR k
Other non-current financial assets
Other current financial assets
Derivative financial assets

31.12.2017

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

0

0

7,886

7,886

43,020

43,020

0

0

948

0

948

0

645

0

645

0

Financial liabilities
In EUR k
Derivative financial liabilities
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Financial assets
In EUR k

31.12.2016

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

7,972

7,972

0

0

32,891

32,891

0

0

121

0

121

0

3,558

0

3,558

0

Other non-current financial assets
Other current financial assets
Derivative financial assets
Financial liabilities
In EUR k
Derivative financial liabilities

Level 2 contains derivative financial instruments (forex). The current value reported (both in the current reporting
period and the previous year) is understood as being prior to accounting for counterparty default risk and own creditworthiness, whereby the deviations from the given current values are minimal.
As at 31 December 2017, no reallocations between the various levels were required.
Net gains or net losses from financial instruments are as follows:

In EUR k
Loans and receivables
Securities

2017

2016

10,607

–7,225

–827

136

Financial liabilities valued at (amortized) cost

–7,496

784

Derivatives (recognized as profit or loss)

–3,049

1,107

362

616

Derivatives (other comprehensive income)

Interest income or interest expenses from financial instruments are as follows:

In EUR k
Loans and receivables
Securities
Financial liabilities
Derivatives

2017

2016

671

1,239

513

1,388

–2,030

–2,509

–293

–1,050
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CAPITAL MANAGEMENT DISCLOSURES
The primary objective of Heinzel Group’s capital management is to secure going concern in the long term by maintaining a solid capital base to finance future growth in existing plants or through acquisition, and to generate adequate returns to enable attractive dividend payments to the shareholders. In any case, the goal is to meet the ratios
described below and to increase the company value on a sustained basis.
Heinzel Group manages its capital through the gearing ratio, the ratio of net debt to equity, the equity ratio and the
return on average capital employed (ROACE). This indicator describes the interest on the capital employed in operating business or for an investment. Subsequently, the comparison of this profitability key figure with the capital costs of
Heinzel Group enables statements with regard to changes in company value. The internal target of Heinzel Group is a
ROACE which exceeds the WACC (Weighted Average Cost of Capital) in the medium term by 500 basis points.
During growth steps the target for the gearing ratio is 40% and should only be exceeded to a maximum of 80% for a
limited time. The equity ratio should not fall below 30%.
In the reporting period these key figures developed as follows:

2017
Net Debt/EBITDA
Gearing Ratio
ROACE

2016

0.7

0.4

14.0 %

10.7 %

9.1%

10.1%

NETTING OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
The assets and liabilities emanating from currency future transactions were netted in both the 2017 and 2016 financial years. The net values of the netted assets and liabilities presented the following picture (amounts in EUR k):

31.12.2017

Nominal value Nominal value
assets
liabilities

Net value
nominal value

Current value
assets

Current value
liabilities

Net value
current value

Derivative financial
instruments

156,414

–15,256

141,158

948

–1,239

–291

TOTAL

156,414

–15,256

141,158

948

–1,239

–291
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31.12.2016

Nominal value Nominal value
assets
liabilities

Net value
nominal value

Current value
assets

Current value
liabilities

Net value
current value

Derivative financial
instruments

159,916

–14,438

145,478

121

–3,558

–3,437

TOTAL

159,916

–14,438

145,478

121

–3,558

–3,437

RISK REPORTING
Market risks
Heinzel Group is exposed to market risks, which relate primarily to foreign exchange rates, interest rates and the current values of investments of liquid assets. The group constantly monitors these exposures. To manage the emerging
volatility affiliated with these risks, the group uses a variety of derivative financial instruments in accordance with
group policy. Where apposite, the group’s objective is to reduce the fluctuations in earnings and cash flows emanating
from changes in interest rates, exchange rates, and the value of investments. Heinzel Group undertakes no financial
transactions that include a non-assessable risk at the time of their conclusion.
Foreign exchange risk
Group reporting takes place in euros. The exchange rate risks of Heinzel Group derive mainly from the purchase and
sale of goods in foreign currency, as well as from financing in foreign currencies. These risks primarily relate to the
parity of the US dollar, Czech koruna, Hungarian forint, Polish zloty, Russian ruble, Croatian kuna, and the Romanian leu against the euro. Heinzel Group uses forward exchange transactions to hedge anticipated foreign currency
revenues.
Foreign currency positions and hedging transactions are continuously monitored. Accordingly, if on the closing date
of 31 December 2017, the exchange rate of the currencies listed below with regard to foreign currency positions had
moved by the stated percentages (“volatility”) against the euro and assuming that all other variables had remained
constant, the profit for the year would have been higher or lower by the subsequent amounts. Volatility was determined on the basis of the daily exchange rate movements during 2017 (values in EUR k).

Currency

Volatility

Result effect

Volatility

Result effect

USD

+7.3%

339

–7.3%

–408

CZK

+3.1%

– 96

–3.1%

88

HUF

+3.7%

–179

–3.7%

128

HRK

+2.0%

–24

–2.0%

10

JPY

+7.9%

7

–7.9%

–8

PLN

+4.1%

–95

–4.1%

73

RON

+2.7%

–65

–2.7%

95

BRL

+12.2%

–22

–12.2%

25
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INTEREST RATE RISK
Heinzel Group manages its net interest rate risk through the ratio of fixed rate to variable rate debt. As at 31 December
2017 the share of fixed-interest financial liabilities amounted to 30.13% (2016: 34.18%). For long-term floating rates,
interest rate swaps are also used and these are exchanged within the scope of recurrent payments, based on nominal
values and agreed fixed and variable interest rates.
As part of the implementation of IFRS 7, a sensitivity analysis was performed with respect to interest rate changes for
variable interest rate borrowings.
An increase in variable interest rates on borrowings by 100 bps would change the interest expense by EUR 1,552k
(2016: EUR 214k).
An interest increase (reduction) of 100 bps was also assumed for interest swaps and this would impact the current
value of interest rate derivatives as follows:
Change in equity (interest swap with hedge accounting):
Interest increase +100 bps: EUR 1,590k
Interest reduction –100 bps: minus EUR 1,595k
Recognized change (for an interest rate swap without hedge accounting):
Interest increase +100 bps: EUR 209k
Interest reduction –100 bps: minus EUR 226k
Interest is fixed in advance for the next three and six months at the respective calendar quarter.
Counterparty risk
Counterparty risks include the default risk related to derivative financial instruments and money market funds, as well as
the credit risk on current account balances and money market transactions. The default risk and credit risk are reduced
by exclusively selecting banks and financial institutions as counterparties that have at least a BBB rating at the time of
the transaction. Moreover, the Group Treasury establishes and monitors specific limits for each counterparty. Heinzel
Group does not expect any losses resulting from counterparties defaulting on their contractual obligations and is not
subject to any significant cluster risks.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk refers to the risk of not having sufficient liquidity available at all times to meet financial obligations
when due and at a reasonable price. Group-wide cash reporting helps to limit this risk and guarantees the transparency required for targeted financial resource management. In addition, Heinzel Group also regularly takes
advantage of the financing opportunities offered by the financial markets. A primary goal of liquidity management is
to safeguard the financial flexibility and independence of the group and limit any undue refinancing risks.
Liquidity risk is dealt with through the creation of a medium-term financing framework, which is underpinned by
individually agreed financial covenants. These agreements are intended to accommodate the conflicting interests
of both parties. The aim is to obtain information at the earliest possible date of negative developments regarding
the debtor and the provision of Heinzel Group with the entrepreneurial freedom to secure corporate financing and
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liquidity rather than be subject to any unexpected loan cancellations. This allows the contractual parties to initiate pro
active countermeasures.
In the case of a demand for repayment non-adherence to the financial covenants may have debt item consequences.
The following financial covenants are to be found in the credit agreements of Heinzel Group: equity ratio, net financial
liabilities/EBITDA and EBIT margin.
The covenants are examined quarterly or half-yearly and reported to the lender bank. In addition, adherence to the
covenants is also examined during the preparation of the annual budget and forecasting. No infringement of the financial
covenants is anticipated for the 2018 budget or the forecast period from 2019 to 2022.
Heinzel Group fulfilled the financial covenants on the 31 December 2017 closing date.
The following table shows the contractual non-discounted cash flows from financial liabilities subject to interest, trade
payables and derivative financial instruments.

In TEUR

31.12.2017

Financial liabilities to banks

227,161

Liabilities from interest
payments on derivative
interest rate instruments
Trade payables

Less than
More than
1 year 1–2 years 2–3 years 3–4 years 4–5 years
5 years
151,530

24,574

35,238

5,768

5,051

5,000

569

280

187

95

7

0

0

212,029

212,029

0

0

0

0

0

1,239

1,239

0

0

0

0

0

Derivative financial
instruments

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT
The focus was on the ongoing development of processes in the pulp sector and in particular, systematic advances
with respect to energy use and its optimization. In the 2017 financial year, expenses amounting to EUR 428k for
research and development were recognized in the income statement.
MAJOR EVENTS AFTER THE CLOSING DATE
In February 2018 a contract was concluded regarding the acquisition of a 38.33% stake in Carl Bernh. Hoffmann
GmbH, Jeging, Austria. At the same time, a 49.00% stake in Rinner GmbH, Salzburg, Austria, was taken over, which
is the majority shareholder of Carl Bernh. Hoffmann GmbH holding 53.33% of the shares. The contract provides
for continued operation of the company in its current form. The current organization and the management headed
by Max Rinner will remain unchanged. Due to contractual agreements, Europapier Group exercises control over the
above-mentioned companies, which will lead to full consolidation of these companies. The agreement is still subject
to approval by the anti-trust authorities.
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Carl Bernh. Hoffmann GmbH is one of Austria’s leading packaging merchants and offers customized packaging solutions for industrial and commercial purposes. This acquisition represents another major step for Europapier Group
in the ongoing diversification of its customer and product portfolio. Accordingly, Carl Bernh. Hoffmann GmbH will be
expanded as a competence center for packaging trade within Europapier Group.
No other significant events occurred after the closing date.
INFORMATION REGARDING BUSINESS TRANSACTIONS WITH ASSOCIATED COMPANIES AND PERSONS
Business relations between the group and related party entities are concluded under customary conditions at arm’s
length and are included in the following items:

Parent company
(or external
sub-groups)

Non-consolidated
subsidiaries

Sales revenues

0

0

0

Material expense/services received

0

0

0

Other operating income

436

0

0

Other operating expenses

551

0

0

Interest earnings

0

0

0

Interest expenses

0

0

0

14,085

0

0

Trade receivables

0

151

383

Other receivables

4,104

0

36

Trade payables

0

1,047

15,196

Other liabilities

26,188

0

148

2017 financial year
In EUR k

Income tax (levied)

Associated
companies
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Parent company
(or external
sub-groups)

Non-consolidated
subsidiaries

Sales revenues

0

0

0

Material expense/services received

0

0

0

2016 financial year
In EUR k

Other operating income

Associated
companies

337

0

0

Other operating expenses

0

0

0

Interest earnings

0

0

0

Interest expenses

0

0

0

16,316

0

0

Trade receivables

377

0

529

Other receivables

3,332

0

29

Income tax (levied)

Trade payables

1,405

0

21,243

Other liabilities

22,723

0

135

The parent company of Heinzel Holding GmbH is Heinzel EMACS Beteiligungs AG. A tax allocation agreement exists
with Heinzel EMACS Beteiligungs AG in connection with the membership of the Austrian companies in the group. Tax
allocations are recognized in the item “Taxes on income and earnings”.
A business relationship exists with the Supervisory Board member Johannes Klezl-Norberg, which is of no material
significance to the financial result of the company. The billing of services rendered is subject to the general hourly
rates of the Dr. Klezl-Norberg law firm.
CONTINGENCIES AND OTHER OBLIGATIONS

In EUR k

2017

2016

Bank guarantees

1,224

1,582

Import letters of credit
Other contingencies

96

464

15,866

22,127

17,186

24,173

As at the closing date, the purchase commitment for property, plant and equipment amounted to EUR 5k (2016:
EUR 38k). The bulk of this amount derives from orders for the boiler flue gas heat recovery project at Zellstoff Pöls AG.
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INFORMATION REGARDING BOARD MEMBERS AND EMPLOYEES
During the 2017 financial year, Heinzel Group had an average of 1,010 blue-collar employees (2016: 1,040) and
1,380 white-collar employees (2016: 1,344). A breakdown of employee earnings in the income statement into
expenses for wages and expenses for salaries is in accordance with the requirements of the respective country of employment, while a breakdown of the average personnel figures into blue-collar and white-collar employees was carried
out according to functional criteria.
In the 2017 financial year, the following persons were appointed as members of the Management Board:
Riia Sillave (until 31 August 2017)
Kurt Maier
Barbara Potisk-Eibensteiner (from 1 September 2017)
The remuneration paid to the members of the Management Board of Heinzel Holding GmbH was as follows:

In EUR k

2017

2016

Fixed amounts

749

511

Variable amounts

317

289

0

0

Post-employment benefits
Other long-term benefits

0

0

1,066

800

The following persons served as members of the Supervisory Board:
Alfred Heinzel, Chairman
Alexander Riklin, Deputy Chairman
Johannes Klezl-Norberg
Gerald Prinzhorn (until 30 March 2017)
Riia Sillave (from 21 September 2017)
Barbara Schmidt
In the current year, the remuneration of the members of the Supervisory Board totaled EUR 50,000
(2016: EUR 50,000).
Additional information pursuant to §245a of the austrian commercial code (UGB)
Of the expenses for the auditors, EUR 26,000 relate to the annual and consolidated financial statements for 2017 and
EUR 194,040 to other auditing services.
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SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION OF HEINZEL HOLDING GMBH

Name of company and registered office

Currency

Nominal
capital

Shares in %

Type of consolidation

Zellstoff Pöls Aktiengesellschaft, Pöls

EUR

24,636,093

99.99

fully consolidated

AS Estonian Cell, Kunda

EUR

55,895,965

100

fully consolidated

Wilfried Heinzel Aktiengesellschaft, Vienna

EUR

1,825,000

100

fully consolidated

Heinzel, Bunzl Service GmbH, Vienna

EUR

17,500

100

fully consolidated

Heinzel Paper GmbH, Hinterbrühl

EUR

35,000

100

fully consolidated

Europapier International AG, Hinterbrühl

EUR

70,000

90

fully consolidated

Laakirchen Papier AG, Laakirchen

EUR

72,673

99

fully consolidated

Bunzl & Biach Gesellschaft m.b.H., Vienna

EUR

36,336

51

fully consolidated

Omega Trading Laakirchen GmbH, Laakirchen

EUR

109,009

100

fully consolidated

Austrian Recycling s.r.o., Temelin

CZK

200,000

51

fully consolidated

Green Recycling s.r.o., Cukrovarská

EUR

5,000

100

Fully consolidated

Heinzel Pulpsales GmbH, Hinterbrühl

EUR

35,000

100

fully consolidated

Heinzel Import-Export Inc., New York

USD

100,000

90

fully consolidated

Heinzel Sales Italy S.r.l., Milan

EUR

50,000

100

fully consolidated

Heinzelsales USA Trading Inc., New York

USD

2,500

90

fully consolidated

Heinzel Sales France S.A.S., Paris

EUR

40,000

100

fully consolidated

Interfibre AG, Zug

EUR

64,700

100

fully consolidated

Heinzel Deutschland GmbH, Wiesbaden

EUR

25,000

100

fully consolidated

Heinzel Sales Pacific Holding Ltd., Vancouver

CAD

3,055,000

100

fully consolidated

North Rim Pulp & Paper Inc., Vancouver

CAD

2,488,574

65

fully consolidated

Europapier Adria d.o.o., Zagreb

HRK

6,349,300

100

fully consolidated

Europapier Alpe d.o.o., Ljubljana

EUR

341,721

100

fully consolidated

Europapier – Slovensko s.r.o., Bratislava

EUR

136,096

100

fully consolidated

Europapier Dunav d.o.o., Belgrade

RSD

385,234,653

100

fully consolidated

Europapier CE GmbH, Vienna

EUR

2,623,000

99.9972

fully consolidated

Europapier Austria GmbH, Vienna

EUR

35,000

100

fully consolidated

Europapier – Hercegtisak d.o.o., Siroki Brijeg

BAM

1,760,247

100

fully consolidated

Europapier Bulgaria EOOD, Sofia

BLN

3,330,000

100

fully consolidated

Europapier Bohemia, spol. s.r.o., Prague

CZK

37,100,000

100

fully consolidated

Europapier CEE GmbH, Hinterbrühl

EUR

35,000

100

fully consolidated

Europapier Budapest Kft., Budapest

HUF

370,300,000

100

fully consolidated

LLC Europapier, Moscow

RUB

168,997,283

99

fully consolidated

Europapier Polska Sp.z.o.o., Błonie

PLN

21,020,000

100

fully consolidated

EU-RO Handelsgesellschaft m.b.H., Frastanz

EUR

508,710

100

fully consolidated

Europapier Romania SRL, Bucharest

RON

5,000,000

100

fully consolidated

Europapier Poland GmbH, Hinterbrühl

EUR

35,000

100

fully consolidated

Heinzel Sales Poland Sp.z.o.o., Warsaw

PLN

171,700

100

fully consolidated
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Lexica – SFE JSC., Moscow

RUB

10,000

99

fully consolidated

Europapier CIS GmbH, Hinterbrühl

EUR

35,000

100

fully consolidated

Europapier East Europe GmbH, Hinterbrühl

EUR

35,000

50

fully consolidated1

Raubling Papier GmbH, Raubling

94.9

fully consolidated

EUR

1,533,876

HBB Heizkraftwerk Bauernfeind Betreiber
gesellschaft mbH, Raubling

EUR

150,000

100

fully consolidated

Chiemgau Recycling GmbH, Raubling

EUR

204,517

53.5

fully consolidated

Europapier East Europe GmbH is fully consolidated owing to the fact that due to internal directives,
Europapier has a controlling influence over decisions affecting the business activities of the company.

1

NON-CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES AND NON-SIGNIFICANT ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

Name of company and registered office

Currency

Nominal capital

Shares in %

Papierholz Austria GmbH, St. Gertraud

EUR

72,673

25

ZPA Fernwärmetransportleitungs GmbH,
Köflach

EUR

35,000

20

Bioenergie Aichfeld GmbH, Pöls

EUR

35,000

20

EEVG Entsorgungs- und Energieverwertungsgesellschaft m.b.H., Steyrermühl

EUR

36,336

20

“Papyrus” Altpapierservice Handelsgesellschaft
m.b.H., Salzburg

EUR

229,494

31.67

Austria Papier Recycling Gesellschaft m.b.H.,
Wien

EUR

181,682

33.36

Europapier Dienstleistungs-Gesellschaft m.b.H.,
Eggenburg

EUR

35,000

25

AS Nor-Est Wood, Paide

EUR

40,000

26.5

IRR

100,000,000

64

Mayr-Melnhof & Wilfried Heinzel Teheran Co.,
Teheran

Vorchdorf, 27 February 2018
Kurt Maier m.p., Barbara Potisk-Eibensteiner m.p.
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HEINZEL GROUP

AUDITOR’S REPORT
REPORT ON THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AUDIT OPINION
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Heinzel Holding GmbH, Vorchdorf, and its subsidiaries (the
Group), which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 2017, the consolidated income statement,
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated cash flow statement and the consolidated
statement of changes in equity for the fiscal year then ended, and the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements comply with legal requirements and give a true
and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2017, and of its financial performance and cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted
by the EU and the additional requirements under Section 245a Austrian Commercial Code.
BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with Austrian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require
the application of the International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those provisions and
standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with Austrian Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles and professional requirements, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
RESPONSIBILITIES OF MANAGEMENT AND THE SUPERVISORY BOARD FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU, and the additional requirements under Section 245a UGB, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
The supervisory board is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
Austrian generally accepted auditing standards, which require the application of ISAs, will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with Austrian generally accepted auditing standards, which require the application of
ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:
»» Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risks of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.
»» Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
»» Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by management.
»» Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
»» Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner
that achieves fair presentation.
»» Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
We communicate with the supervisory board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.
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COMMENTS ON THE MANAGEMENT REPORT FOR THE GROUP
Pursuant to the Austrian Commercial Code, the management report for the Group is to be audited as to whether it is
consistent with the consolidated financial statements and as to whether the management report for the Group was
prepared in accordance with the applicable legal requirements.
Management is responsible for the preparation of the management report for the Group in accordance with the Austrian Commercial Code.
We conducted our audit in accordance with Austrian Standards on Auditing for the audit of the management report for
the Group.
Opinion
In our opinion, the management report for the Group was prepared in accordance with the applicable legal requirements and is consistent with the consolidated financial statements.
Statement
Based on the findings during the audit of the consolidated financial statements and due to the obtained understanding
concerning the Group and its circumstances no material misstatements in the management report for the Group came
to our attention.
Vienna, February 27, 2018
PwC Wirtschaftsprüfung GmbH
Frédéric Vilain m.p.
Austrian Certified Public Accountant

This report is a translation of the original report in German, which is solely valid. Publication and sharing with third parties of the consolidated financial
statements together with our auditor’s opinion is only allowed if the consolidated financial statements and the management report for the Group are
identical with the German audited version. This audit opinion is only applicable to the German and complete consolidated financial statements with
the management report for the Group. For deviating versions, the provisions of Section 281 (2) UGB apply.
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SUPERVISORY BOARD
REPORT
At its meetings on 30 March, 28 June, 26 September and 19 December 2017, the management informed the
Supervisory Board of the course of business and the company’s current position both verbally and in writing.
PwC Wirtschaftsprüfung GmbH, Vienna audited the annual financial statements of Heinzel Holding GmbH for the year
ending 31 December 2017 and the management report including the accounting. This also applied to the consolidated annual financial statements, which were prepared in accordance with the IFRS and supplemented by the management report for the group and further notes under the terms of §245a of the Austrian Commercial Code (UGB). The
audit confirmed that the accounting, the annual financial statements and management report, the consolidated annual
financial statements according to the IFRS, and the management report for the group conform to legal requirements
and the articles of association. The audit provided no reason for objection, and the auditors duly issued an unqualified opinion for the consolidated annual financial statements and the annual financial statements of Heinzel Holding
GmbH. The Supervisory Board concurs with the consolidated financial statements and the financial statements of
Heinzel Holding GmbH for the year ending 31 December 2017. The Supervisory Board has considered and approves
the Management Board’s proposal regarding the appropriation of the profit.
The members of the Supervisory Board extend their thanks to the members of the Management Board and the entire
Heinzel Group workforce for their commitment and outstanding achievements during 2017.
Vienna, 11 April 2018
Alfred Heinzel m.p.
Alexander Riklin m.p.
Johannes Klezl-Norberg m.p.
Barbara Schmidt m.p.
Riia Sillave m.p.
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BOARD MEMBERS

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2017

LAURI RAID

ANDREAS VOGEL

MAXIMILIAN LUGER

FRANZ BALDAUF

BARBARA POTISK-EIBENSTEINER

CTO AS Estonian Cell

CEO Zellstoff Pöls AG

CFO Raubling Papier GmbH

CFO Laakirchen Papier AG

CFO Heinzel Holding GmbH

SIIRI LAHE

INGRID GRUBER

THOMAS SCHNEIDER

THOMAS WELT

CFO AS Estonian Cell

CFO Zellstoff Pöls AG

CTO Raubling Papier GmbH

CEO Laakirchen Papier AG
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SUPERVISORY BOARD HEINZEL HOLDING GMBH
Alfred Heinzel · Chairman
Alexander Riklin · Deputy Chairman
Johannes Klezl-Norberg
Riia Sillave
Barbara Schmidt

KURT MAIER

DIETMAR GEIGL

HELMUT LIMBECK

KLAUS VLACH

CEO Heinzel Holding GmbH

CFO Wilfried Heinzel AG

CEO Europapier International AG

CFO Bunzl & Biach GmbH

MONCEF REISNER

SEBASTIAN HEINZEL

MARTIN BICHL

ANDREAS MANG

COO Wilfried Heinzel AG

CEO Wilfried Heinzel AG

CFO Europapier International AG

CEO Bunzl & Biach GmbH
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EMACS Privatstiftung
Hinterbrühl, Austria

Heinzel EMACS Beteiligungs AG
Vienna, Austria

49 %

51 %
Heinzel Holding GmbH
Vorchdorf and Vienna, Austria

26,5 %
AS Nor-Est Wood
Paide, Estonia

100 %
AS Estonian Cell
Kunda, Estonia

0.1 %

99.9 %

Zellstoff Pöls AG
Pöls, Austria
25 %
Papierholz Austria GmbH
St. Gertraud, Austria

5.1 %

94.9 %

Raubling Papier GmbH
Raubling, Germany

1%

99 %

51 %

Laakirchen Papier AG
Laakirchen, Austria

Bunzl & Biach GmbH
Vienna, Austria

100 %
Heizkraftwerk Bauernfeind
Betreibergesellschaft mbH
Raubling, Germany

94.9 %

51 %

Chiemgau Recycling GmbH
Raubling, Germany

Austrian Recycling s.r.o.
Temelin, Czech Republic

Green Recycling s.r.o.
Sládkovičovo, Slovakia
31.67 %

100 %

GROUP STRUCTURE

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2017

5.1 %

100 %

Papyrus
Altpapierservice Handelsges.mbH
Salzburg, Austria
Omega Trading Laakirchen GmbH
Laakirchen, Austria

Shareholder

Holding and Service

Trading and Merchant

Industry

Associated companies in the raw materials sector, not consolidated
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100 %

100 %

Heinzel, Bunzl Service GmbH
Vienna, Austria

Heinzel Paper GmbH
Hinterbrühl, Austria

Limbeck Beteiligungs GmbH
Gols, Austria

90 %

10 %
Europapier International AG
Hinterbrühl, Austria

90 %

Subsidiaries

0.1 %

10 %
Wilfried Heinzel AG
Vienna, Austria

99.9 %
Europapier CE GmbH
Vienna, Austria

Liaison Offices
100 %

Heinzel Pulpsales GmbH
Hinterbrühl, Austria

100 %

100 %

100 %

Heinzel Deutschland GmbH
Wiesbaden, Germany

Aisakos S.A.
Heinzel Sales Liaison Office Greece
Athens, Greece

Allied Paper Agencies
Heinzel Sales Liaison Office Australasia
Dandenong South, Australia

Interfibre AG
Zug, Switzerland

Alliance Cellulose Pvt. Ltd.
Heinzel Sales Liaison Office India
Chennai, India

Kenya Stationer Limited
Heinzel Sales Liaison Office East Africa
Nairobi, Kenya

Mayr-Melnhof &
Wilfried Heinzel Tehran Co.
Teheran, Iran

Paperboard Iberia S.L.
Heinzel Sales Liaison Office Spain
Barcelona, Spain

Heinzel Sales Representative Office
China and South East Asia
Shenzhen, China

Heinzel Sales Pacific Holding Ltd.
Vancouver, Canada

Papimpex
Heinzel Sales Liaison Office Egypt
Cairo, Egypt

Heinzel Sales Liaison Office
Mexico & Central America
Atizapán, Mexico

Europapier East Europe GmbH
Hinterbrühl, Austria

Polygrafsnab – Authorised Heinzel
Sales Distributor Bulgaria
Soﬁa, Bulgaria

Heinzel Sales Liaison Office
South Africa Region
Sandton, South Africa

Europapier Austria GmbH
Vienna, Austria

Premier Paper Ltd.
Heinzel Sales Liaison Office Ukraine
Kiev, Ukraine

S.A. Wahren
Heinzel Sales Liaison Office Argentina
San Isidro, Argentina

Simpeks Kagit Ürünleri Ltd.
Heinzel Sales Liaison Office Turkey
Istanbul, Turkey

GFP
Heinzel Sales Liaison Office Brazil
Sao Paulo, Brazil

Europapier CIS GmbH
Hinterbrühl, Austria

Europapier CEE GmbH
Hinterbrühl, Austria

99 %
Heinzel Import-Export Inc.
New York, USA

90 %

Heinzelsales USA Trading Inc.
New York, USA

90 %

Heinzel Sales Italy S.r.l.
Milan, Italy

100 %

Heinzel Sales France S.A.S.
Paris, France

100 %

100 %

64 %

100 %

65 %
North Rim Pulp & Paper Inc.
Vancouver, Canada

1%

99 %

Tabarak Import & Export Co.
Heinzel Sales Liaison Office Sudan
Khartoum, Sudan
New PlanET
Heinzel Sales Liaison Office Seoul
Seoul, Korea

100 %

North Rim Pulp & Paper Inc.
Beijing Office
Beijing, China

100 %

LLC Europapier
Moscow, Russia

100 %

Europapier Budapest Kft.
Budapest, Hungary

Lexica – SFE JSC
Moscow, Russia

100 %

Europapier Alpe d.o.o.
Ljubljana, Slovenia

50 %

Europapier Dunav Papir d.o.o.
Belgrade, Serbia

100 %

100 %

EU-RO Handelsges.m.b.H.
Frastanz, Austria

100 %

99.99 %

Europapier Romania Srl.
Bucharest, Romania

Europapier Bohemia spol. s.r.o.
Prague, Czech Republic

100 %

100 %

Europapier Hercegtisak d.o.o.
Široki Brijeg, Bosnia

Europapier Poland GmbH
Hinterbrühl, Austria

100 %

100 %

Europapier Slovensko s.r.o.
Bratislava, Slovakia

100 %

Europapier Adria d.o.o.
Sesvete-Zagreb, Croatia

Europapier Polska Sp.z.o.o.
Błonie, Poland

Heinzel Sales Poland Sp.z.o.o.
Warsaw, Poland

100 %

Europapier Bulgaria EOOD
Sofia, Bulgaria
0.01 %
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MILESTONES OF A
GROWTH STORY
With the help of banks and
the management, Alfred
Heinzel purchased
Wilfried Heinzel AG, today’s
heinzelsales, from his
uncle Wilfried.

Acquisition of
Biocel Paskov

Start-up of
Estonian Cell

1991

2001

2006

100% takeover
of Estonian Cell

Acquisition of the
Laakirchen paper mill
as well as 51% of
Bunzl & Biach

End of year
acquisition of the
containerboard mill
in Raubling and
Chiemgau Recycling

Activation of the
converted PM10 for
the production of
containerboard
in Laakirchen

2011

2013

2015

2017

2000

2004

2010

2012

2014

2016

Acquisition of
Zellstoff Pöls

33% participation
in the Estonian Cell
greenfield BCTMP
pulp mill investment

Sale of 75% of the
shareholding in
Biocel Paskov;
acquisition of
Europapier

Europapier purchased
the paper merchant
business of PaperlinX
in Hungary, Slovakia,
Slovenia, Croatia and
Serbia; disposal of the
remaining shares
in Biocel Paskov

First full business
year with the new PM2,
the Starkraft kraft paper
machine in Pöls;
investment in a
biogas plant for
Estonian Cell

Decision to
convert the PM10
in Laakirchen for the
production of
packaging paper
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